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CORRIGENDA

[The following emendation and corrections were written by the author.
Father Gill accepted an erroneous dating of a document. Consequently,
when he referred to it in the text, he discussed it out of its correct chron-
ological place in his narrative. At Father Gill's request, AMS Press prints
herewith the emendation which will correct the error. The following
should be substituted for page 384, “But his action . . .” through page
386 “. . . the rest of the monks.”]

But his action did not stop the progress of events. The people
(demos) had accepted union,* presumably by some public deci-
sion. Scholarius writing to the Despot Demetrius gives his version of
how. The legate Isidore “found them already for a long time agi-
tated by fear and the extravagant utterances of the Latin-minded.
He increased their agitation by harangues promising great hopes,
which the populace believed without questioning and repeated like
echoing jars, while threats and clamour were raised against us.”
The archontes would have preferred a compromise — to commem-
orate the Pope in the Liturgy and not to promulgate the decree of
union,® but as events showed, they yielded to Isidore’s insistence.
Even the anti-unionist clerics “had lost heart, foreseeing that they
would not be able to do anything to save the situation.”” It was a
promising occasion to gain their adherence, particularly of their
leaders who formed the Synaxis. They were summoned to a meet-
ing with the Emperor in the Xylalas palace on 15 November.

But Gennadius was beforehand with a letter of admonition.® He
did not know the real purpose of the meeting, but if the cardinal
was to be present or if arrangements were to be made for a state-
ment from him or a discussion, they should come with a horse and
fetch him, and meanwhile neither hear nor answer anything with-
out him. If, however, the purpose was merely to get an approval
from the ecclesiastics for the union the people had already ac-
cepted, they should leave him in peace, for they all — Emperor, im-
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perial consellors and ecclesiastics— had long known his decision.
He judged the Council of Florence as God, the truth and all genu-
ine eastern Christians judged it, as like the pseudo-synod of the
days of Constantius: “who should commemorate the pope or be in
communion with one who commemorates him or should counsel
such action or approve it” was in his opinion on a par with Beccus
and those condemned in the numerous synods held in Constantino-
ple, for commemoration of pope or bishop is no small thing, noth-
ing less than spiritual communion with co-religionists and com-
plete submission to lawful pastors. Communion must be shunned
with those whose opinions are abhorrent. Let it not be that their
Church should become heretical by accepting the commemoration
of the Pope, which would mean the branding of their forefathers as
heretics. There was talk of conditions attached to the union and of
it being only provisional; but there was no place for that kind of
thing in the faith. If both Churches should recite the same Creed,
the Latins omitting the Fzlzoque and the Greeks omitting “from the
Father only” and the Filioque, that condition might be acceptable,
but not a provisional deferring of discussion and meantime a provi-
sional acceptance of the union of Florence. The only help for the
city was from on high. What the Great Duke (Notaras) and the
Emperor intended was only evil and would not lead to union.
What should be done, but what they (the Synaxis) had rejected, was
that he (Gennadius) before the Senate, the Church and the people,
with as many Venetians and Genoese present as liked, should prove
the inexpediency of what the Cardinal proposed. The best thing
would be for the ecclesiastical situation on the one side and the oth-
cr to remain unchanged in the then disturbed state of things. But
as they promised help, when peace had returned with or without
their aid, let authorized delegates from the Latins come to a coun-
cil in Constantinople or let at least six of the outstanding ecclesias-
tics from Constantinople go there, to consider the question of
union in regular fashion. Then, decisions arrived at freely and spir-
itually would be acceptable to God and man. But if they (the eccle-
siastics), setting their hopes on western aid and Latinism, deceived
the people with conditions and expectations of words and discus-
sions, the results would be as he had often foretold. “If all the East
should go to the West, I shall not go.” If they became Latins, he
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would remain silent. He had already expressed all that at length in
his letter to Notaras, who had replied: ‘You are labouring in vain,
Father etc.” He had done what he could: for the future he would
keep silent.®

> O

@0 0\

.NOTES

. Schol. III, p. 167.
. Schol. III, p. 177.

Leonardus Chiensis, ‘Historia Constantinopolitanae urbis a Mahumete
IT captae,” P.G. 159, 929D-930B. Leonardo, Latin archbishop of
Mitylene, had accompanied Isidore to Constantinople and was there
throughout the siege. He also asserts that the reason for the hesitations
of the archontes was not theological, but national pride; that Scholari-
us and Notaras from personal ambition wanted to present themselves
later to the Pope as artificers of the union, and that, at his suggestion, -
Constantine made the gesture of appointing judges against Scholarius,
Isidore the monk, Neophytus and their accomplices.

. Sehol, 111, ps. 177,
. Schol. III, pp. 166-70.
. Gennadius ends most of his polemics of this time with ‘for the future I

will be silent.” What his silence meant he disclosed to Demetrius: ‘And
the excuse for the letter, for it was a defence of the supposed silence,
yet when was I ever silent in the preceding period?’ (Schol. III, p. 178)
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ADDITIONAL CORRECTIONS

Note 2, for ‘10’ read ‘Y’

1.14: for ‘who certainly was no more than an antipope’, read
‘who, however, reigned for barely a year’

1.13: Omit ‘and was buried’: read ‘," (i.e., a comma)

note 4, last line: for 21’, read 29’

note 2, line 6: For ‘35%’, read ‘333’

1. 6 from bottom of text: for ‘full session’, read ‘congregation’

5 from bottom of text: For ‘Cesarini and Cervantes, the

two papal presidents’, read ‘Cesarini, the papal presi-
dent and the legate Cervantes’

para. 2, 1.4: Omit ‘other’

last line to p. 78 1.2: For ‘accompanied by John Dishypatus
and Manuel Boullotes . . . March)’, read ‘(John Dis-
hypatus and Manuel Boullotes, who had gone to
Basel sometime probably in March, had left on 30
April)’

1.15: For ‘Religious’, read ‘other Regulars’

1.6 from end: Add, after ‘Bessarion of Nicaea’, ‘Methodius
of Lacedaemon,’

note 2: For ‘p. 330’, read ‘p. 33

1.7: For ‘Lusignon’, read ‘Lusignan’

note 1, last line: Add ‘)" after ‘12%’

para. 3, 1.3: After ‘prohibition’, add *,’ (i.e., a comma)

112: alignment of the first letter of the line 12

note 1, para. 2, 1.2: For ‘dependents’ read ‘dependants’

1.4: For 25, read ‘27

1.2: For ‘and kept the populani’, read ‘and the populani
being kept’

1.7: After ‘meetings’ add ‘a week’

1.10 from end of page: Omit ‘which’ (last word of line)

note 2 continued from previous page, 1.4: For ‘(viii, 1’ read
‘(viii, 5’
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341
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Additional Corrections

At the end of the first para. of the column headed TEXT
UPHELD BY THE GREEKS add, after ‘that he is
second’, ‘to the Son’

note 1, last full line: For ‘palaeological’, read ‘palaeographi-
cal’

1.2 of the narrative: After ‘10 June' add ‘1439’

1.21: Omit ‘the’ between ‘about’ and ‘preposition’

note 2: Add at the end (after ‘expected’) ‘But in that case,
how did Eugenicus manage not to deliver his written
votum?’

para. 2, 11.8/7 from the end: For ‘too was perhaps present’,
read ‘on some occasion did the like’

note 1: Add, immediately after ‘Syr.", ‘x, 4, p. 283}’

last para. of note 1.3: Before ‘Vatican Council’, add ‘first’

note 2: middle line: For ‘As’, read ‘“Thus’

1.7: For ‘nineteen’, read ‘eighteen’

1.17: Omit ‘probably’

1.17: For ‘seven’, read ‘thirteen’

1.18: For ‘thirty-seven’, read ‘twenty-six’

note 2: After ‘326,” add ‘346, 528, 1132."

note 2: For ‘I 6', read ‘136’

1.15: For ‘Emperor’, read ‘King’

1.12: For ‘through’, read ‘from’ (the Son)

1.7 from end of narrative: Before ‘proposed’, add ‘no longer’
Same line: Omit ‘now not’

para. 2, 1.1: After ‘union’, add ‘in the capital’

4th line from end of long (previous) note: For ‘But the son
. . . June 1444’, read ‘But the son could not have
been born in 1444 because Sphrantzes’s wife lived in
Constantinople and he left Sparta only in June 1444
and did not arrive in Constantinople till November
1444

note 3 1.1: For ‘122", read ‘124, 129.

note 1: the last number is ‘54’

note 2: read ‘pp. 125,

1.6 from end of narrative: Omit superior 5’ (i.e. note num-
ber)



Additional Corrections

389

400

430
450

note 4: at end: omit ‘191-3" and put full stop for previous
comma.

Omit note 5 altogether.

immediately before the quotation: For ‘later he continues’,
read ‘earlier he had written’

11.7/8: For *, and the cardinalate and a pension to Bessar-
ion and Isidore’, read ‘and Bessarion, and the cardi-
nalate to Bessarion and Isidore.’

1.9 from end: For ‘septembre 1434’, read ‘septembre 1934

After ‘John of Segovia’ omit ‘O.P.,’



INTRODUCTION

A dictum like that is a challenge to discussion rather than a

statement of fact, because no one can say what would have
happened in the three.quarters of a century that separated these two
events, if the first of them had never taken place. It is, however,
certain that the Council of Florence changed the course of history.
Before it, the cry heard on all sides was ‘Reform in head and mem.
bers’, to be achieved by a General Council that as regards faith,
heresy and reform was superior to a pope. After it, though the need
for reform was no less great, the demand for it was less vocal, and the
definition of Florence about the primacy of the papacy had dealt a
death-blow to Conciliarism. Yet Basel had passed many a decree of
reform, whereas Florence had enacted not even one. The best part of
a hundred years passed before the next Council met. By that time
the reformation that Basel or Florence might have accomplished was
on the point of turning into a revolt against Rome in the Reformation
initiated by Luther.

The Council of Florence is memorable for other reasons too. It
was the last and the greatest endeavour to unite the separated
Churches of East and West, an attempt conceived on a grandiose
scale. Itenvisaged union of the Latin Church with all the Christians
of the East, Greeks, Russians, Armenians, Copts, Ethiopians,
Chaldeans, Maronites, Nestorians. And the attempt succeeded, even
if its results were short-lived. The decree of union of July 1439 bore
the signatures of both Greeks and Latins. The delegations of
Armenians and the rest accepted that same decree augmented and
applied to their separate cases. Had subsequent historical events been
slightly different—had, for example, the battle of Varna been a
victory for the Christian arms instead of a defeat—the union might
have survived, Constantinople might never have been taken, the
development of ecclesiastical relations on both sides of the world
would have been vastly different. Varna was, however, a defeat.

THE Council of Florence made the Reformation inevitable.

Vil



INTRODUCTION

Constantinople was captured by the Turk. The union that had
been accomplished and that was already very insecure was thereby
doomed. But that does not mean to say that the Council has
remained completely ineffective. It is one of the General Councils
recognised by the Western Church. TIts decree of union with the
Greeks abides as the definition of ccrtain theological truths and as
a norm of doctrine to guide the minds of those who hope, as all
good Christians wherever they may be do hope, to heal the schism
yet. It has, indeed, already served as such in the union with Rome
of Churches of oriental rite, such, for example, as the Ruthenian
(1596) and the Rumanian (1700), arranged on the basis of the
principles enunciated at Florence.

An event of the importance of the Council of Florence deserves
a more detailed study than it has hitherto received. This book is an
attempt to remedy that deficiency. There have been in the past a few
scholarly examinations of certain aspects of the Council and some
more general, and rather superficial, accounts. But even where the
writers attempted to utilise all the sources at their disposal (and that
was by no means always the case), they laboured under the disabulity
that the texts of the main sources were not certainly accurate for lack
of critical editions and that the minor sources had in great measure
not yet been pubhshed at all.; That defect has now been largely
eliminated owing to the initiative of the late Fr Georg Hofmann,
S.J., who some_twenty years ago conceived the idea of editing in a
series entitled Concilium Florentinum: Documenta et Scriptores new and
critical editions of the documents already published and of adding
to them what relevant matter could be found in archives, sermons,
theological dissertations, diaries—in a word, whatever would help to
a better knowledge and understanding of the history and the theo-
logy of the Council. Tt is because that series is now largely complete
that I felt emboldened to embark on this book, relying on the
knowledge T had acquired from my part in that work and on the
resources that the labours of my colleagues had put at my easy
disposal.

The main documents for the history, as for the theology, of the
Council of Florence are three. They are the Greek Acts, the so-called
Latin Acts and the Memoirs written by Silvester Syropoulus. The

Vil
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Greek Acts, written of course in Greek and often therefore referred
to by their Greek name of Practica, are well known, for they are to be
found in all the great Collections of Councils that have been pub.
lished since the beginning of the seventeenth century—the Vatican
Edition, Labbé, Hardouin, Mansi. They narrate the events from the
arrival of the Greeks in Ventce till their departure from that same
city. They have usually been considered the product of a single
author, an active participant in the Council, who utilised official
documents, though to what extent and with what accuracy could
not be ascertained. As a historical document, thercfore, they were
assessed as no more than a personal, and by many critics as a biased,
narrativc of the events. That idea must now be abandoned. The close
study of all the known manuscripts of the Practica that I undertook
for my recent cdition’ of them has madc it quite certain that the
Practica are not a composition in which an author borrowed material
and adapted 1t to his purpose by changing it, but a compilaton,
that 1s, an inter~weaving without change, of elements taken from
different sources, and that there are threc such clements. In other
words, in the Practica are to be found three historical documents, each
of which must be evaluated indcpendently, without prejudice from
its association with the others. The largest of these elements consists
of the discourses delivered in the public sessions in Ferrara and
Florence. This part is the authentic protocol of the sessions, the
product of threc Greek notaries who compiled it by collating their
separate versions of the speeches written down as they were delivered
during the sessions, and by checking their common account with the
cortesponding Latin narrative. It is, then, the most authoritative
document of the discourses made in the sessions that there is, and
this part alonc of the Practica rcally merits the title of * Greek Acts’.
However, to make the history of the Council more complete, for
this protocol-part gives very little beyond the texts of the speeches,
an eatly copyist, John Plousiadenus, added to it in the appropriate
places an introduction describing the course of events from the arrival
of the Grecks in Venice up to the first doctrinal session, an account
of the negotiations about the transfer of the Council from Ferrara to
Florence, and a diary-like record of what went on in the interval
' . Gill, A.G.

1X
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from 24 March 1439 tll the promulgation of the union and the
departure of the Greeks. This second element I have called the
Description. The copyist was not himself the author of these additions.
He took them from a larger work, which he refers to as the “second
book’, written by a participant in the Council, a Greek metro-
politan, perhaps Dorotheus of Mitylene. The rest of the “second
book’ is unfortunately lost. The third, and very small, element of the
Practica consists of a very brief introduction, the work doubtless of
some scribe, and a few almost certainly authentic documents added
to the protocol. In my edition of the Practica these three elements are
clearly distinguished in the text as they occur.

What goes by the name of the Latin Acts is an account written by
Andrew da Santa Croce.* The official Latin Acts have beenlostand
long search, beginning at least in the early years of the sixteenth
century, has failed to bring them to light. Andrea da Santa Croce
was a papal protonotary who, as he tells us, ‘wrote down faithfully
the words of the Greeks as communicated by means of the inters
preter and those of the Latins as they came directly from the mouths
of the speakers’.? Whether he was one of the three Latin notaries
appointed to compile the Latin protocol that corresponded to the
Greek protocol now embodied in the Practica is not certain. What
he has recorded would seem rather to be only what he himself took
down during the sessions, unchecked by comparison with any other
version, but it agrees so closely with the text of the Greek Acts that its
accuracy is guaranteed. These two, the Greek Acts and the Latin
Acts, supplement each other, for each has omitted sessions which
the other gives at length. Unfortunately the Latin Acts contain litde
more than the speeches delivered in the sessions from October 1438
to March 1439, i.c. the same material as that of the Greek protocol.
A short introducton in the beginning describing the arrival of the
Greeks in Ferrara and the inauguration of the Council, and one or
two bits of information with the texts of a few documents at the end,
dealing with the negotiations between Latins and Greeks that led
up to the decree of union, are a valuable addition to our very limited
knowledge of these events, especially from the Latin side, and make us
regret that S. Croce did not record all the details that he certainly knew.

! C. Hofmann, A.L. * Ibid. p. 39.
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The third main source i1s the Memoirs written 1n Greek not earlier
than the year 1444 by Silvester Syropoulus,” a deacon and official
of the Great Church of Constantinople, who came to Italy in the
entourage of the Patriarch Joseph II. He was, therefore, an eye-
witness of events and in many of them an active participant. His
book is not a full and all-round account of the Council. He
apparently made no systematic recording of what took place during
his stay in Italy. He nowhere indicates that he was writing from
notes: indeed, he implies the opposite.? He had, however, access
to some archives in Constantinople, but he used them very little.
Instead he refers readers eager for information on the more public
events to read the Practica for themselves. The public sessions in
Ferrara and Florence, which form more than three-quarters of the
Practica, he dismisses 1n less than a dozen pages. The rest of his long
account, which begins with the earliest negotiations under Martin V
and ends, apart from a kind of appendix, a few months after the
Greeks’ return to Constantinople, is almost entirely concerned with
the interplay of relations among the Greeks themselves. It 1s a picture
of what went on behind the scenes on the Greek side of the stage.

Opinion on the historical value of these sources, particularly of
the two Greek documents, is widely divided. The reason is that they
differ so greatly in tone. The Practica breathe a spirit of conciliation
at the beginning, and at the end clearly approve of the union that
was effected. The general impression conveyed by the Memoirs 15 well
summed up in the title that their first editor, the English Bishop
Robert Creyghton, invented for them, Vera bistoria unionis non verae.
The gist of them is that the Greeks signed the decree of union under
duress. The Latins wore them out with interminable debates and
forced one concession out of them after another by withholding the
means of sustenance and reducing them to want and misery, keeping
them in Italy and making union the price of their return home.
The Emperor, aided and abetted by a few treacherous Latinisers
among the Greeks, and intent solely on obtaining aid for Constan-

! Edited by R. Creyghton under the title: Vera historia unionis non verae (Hagae
Comitis, 1660). Creyghton’s Latin translation, or rather paraphrase, is so inaccurate
that it is altogether unreliable. Recourse musr always be had to the original Greek
text.

* Ibid. vi, 10, p. 231; XI1, 9, P- 345.

x1
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tinople for which union was a necessary condition, himself managed
the whole Greek side of the affair, overriding the Church, allowing
no freedom of speech, gaining the consent of the prelates by threats
or by cajolery as occasion served. All this is conveyed in a series of
incidents (there is very little theological discussion at all to be found
in the Memoirs), described with such a wealth of circumstantial
detail as to convey a prima facie impression of truth. What, then, is
to be said about them?'

Comparison should no longer be instituted between the Practica
as a whole and the Memoirs. That was justified, albeit mistakenly,
only so long as the Practica could be considered the work of a single
author, even though it was agreed that here and there he had in-
corporated into his personal account bits of authentic protocol.
Now that the various clements that were combined to form the
Practica have been clearly and decisively distinguished, the only
legitimate question still open to discussion is the relative values of the
Description and the Memoirs, for the protocol-part, the Greek Acts
proper, is the official Greek transcript of the speeches, and so not
open to suspicion of Latinising tendencies. And, in point of fact,
the passages of the Practica that have led some critics to accuse them
of a pro-Latin bias have been taken from the Description.

The Memoirs, however, are not so sclf-evidently truthful in every
detail, still less in their overall picture, as to justify the condemnation
of the Description out of hand. If one of the two sources is to be
distrusted (and both cannot be wholeheartedly accepted, they differ
too much), it should be the Memoirs. They are, in fact, an apologia
for those Greeks who signed the Florentine decree in Italy and re-
pudiated their signatures in Constanunople. And Syropoulus was

! For a detailed study of this question cf. J. Gill, “The “Acta” and the Memoirs
of Syropoulus as History’, in O.C.P. x1v (1948), pp. 303-55: also T. Frommann,
Kritische Beitrdge zur Geschichte der Florentiner Kircheneinigang (Halle afS. 1872),
pp- 45-62; L. Mohler, Kardinal Bessarion als Theologe, Humanist und Staatsmann, 1
(Paderborn, 1923), pp. 65-7, 69-74.

It can be said in general that Catholics prefer the Practica, non-Catholics the
Memoirs. The auitude of the oriental Churches is well reflected in these words of
A. N. Diamantopoulos: ‘The trustworthiness of the exposition of the events by
Syropoulus is beyond all doubt, his impartality so manifest that his work is one of
the best historical works of that unfortunate time, the most reliable of the sources known
till now of the history of the union in Florence.” (Mdpxos & Evyevicds xal # v
DAwpevTiq oUvodos (Athens, 1899), p. 27.)

X1
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one of them. The Metropolitan of Ephesus, Mark Eugenicus, was
opposed to union throughout, did not sign the decree and would,
if necessary, have taken the consequences of refusal. Syropoulus,
according to his own account, was as hostile to union as Eugenicus.
But he signed when Mark did not. He was not made of the stuff of
martyrs. He was, doubtless, ashamed of his own weakness. He was,
too, suspect to others when he returned to Constantinople. He had
to rehabilitate himself in the minds of men like John Eugenicus,
Mark’s brother, who wrote to him chiding him about his “sad fall
in Italy’." The Memoirs are his defence. That does not necessarily
mean that all, indeed that any, of the incidents he narrates are
fictitious. Most probably every single one of them is based on fact.
But it does mean that he viewed the events from a definitely personal
angle; that unconsciously at least he selected his material and so was
led to confine his narrative largely to the less happy incidents, the
squabbles, the intrigues, the weaknesses of his colleagues; that he
gratuitously attributed motives, sometimes demonstrably false, at
other times open to grave suspicion but for lack of other sources of
information suspicion that cannot be settled one way or the other.
It means that his dissatisfaction with himself caused him to forget
the light and remember only the shadow in the picture, the weariness,
the want, the homesickness. It means that he tended to emphasise
anything that would exonerate himself and to exaggerate his anu-
unionism. It means, in other words, that even though all the events
he narrates may be factual, his readers must allow for his perspective
and his apologetic purpose.

The Description, on the other hand—or at least that part of it that
has been preserved in the Practica—Is in an altogether different style.
With the exception of the early part that recounts the reception of
the Greeks in Venice, where the anonymous author tries to record
his admiration of the pageantry of the scene, it consists of synopses
of speeches and short entries on events, for all the world like the notes
of a diary. Dates are very frequent, less commonly of the month,
more often the day of the week and of a particular weck specified by
its name in the liturgical calendar. There is little of that background
of personal relations in which the Memoirs abound, but it is not

! Lambros, 1, p. 191.
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altogether lacking. In shor, there is little room in the Description,
taken by and large, for prejudice one way or the other. What is
regarded as an indication of tendentiousness is that the author does
not go into detail on some points of friction that certainly arose
between Greeks and Latins, that he records only in passing the
divisions within the Greek community, and that, being at least
towards the end of the Council an ardent supporter of union, he
recounts with approval the activities-of the unionists. His account
is limited to the narration of the more important public events, and
what he states in it positively would seem, generally speaking, to be
true. That he does not dilate on the intricacies of personal relation-
ships is owing to the character of the work he was composing,.

The historian has to evaluate his sources and then to utilize them
in accordance with his judgement. My opinion about the main
sources of the history of the Council of Florence is recorded above.
The Greek Acts combined with the Latin Acts furnish safe material
for the record of the public sessions. The Description ofters a chrono-
logy of the other events so consecutive and so closely integrated with
the events themselves, which are outlined rather than described, as
to dispel suspicion of conscious distortion. So, in what follows in
this book, I accept the positive statements of the Description unless
error can be proved, filling them out and supplementing them from
the Memoirs, references to which will be found in great numbers in
almost every chapter. I have tried to omit nothing of importance
from Syropoulus” work, but it is so long that much abbreviation
and no little omission were necessary. Where it was possible, I have
checked the more seemingly-exaggerated of the Greek Deacon’s
assertions: where that could not be done—and unfortunately it could
not be done often—I have recorded what he says for what it is
worth, leaving the reader to assess it for himself. Such, at least, has
been my intention and such, I hope, my execution.

The first few pages of Syropoulus’ Memoirs have been lost, but to
judge from the beginning of the part preserved they would seem to
have dealt with a question of authority in the Eastern Church be
tween the Emperor and the hierarchy, included probably by the
author because he considered that it had some connection with the
conduct on the Greek side of the Council. All the rest refers directly
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to the Council. It starts with the negotiations about union under
Martin V, continues with those between Constanunople and Eugen-
ius I'V and Constantinople and Basel, and then recounts the story
of the arrival of the Greeks in ltaly, the events during the Council,
the departure for home and the reception in Constantinople of the
union. ’

Syropoulus is right, historically, in beginning his account of the
Council of Florence as far back as the Council of Constance,
becausc the negotiations that culminated 1n the Council of union
being held in Ferrara and Florence and not in Constantinople or
Basel or Avignon began then, and went on in an uninterrupted
series till they issued in the actual Council. I have followed the same
plan. After a brief introductory chapter of broad background, I trace
in some detai! the relations between East and West under Martin V,
then the much more complicated pattern of negotiations under
Eugenius IV, before introducing the Greeks, in chapter four, into
Italy. Then comes the Council proper. My treatment of it all is more
historical than theological. But it was, of course, an Oecumenical
Council that judged and decided points of doctrine, so theology and
indeed very abstruse theology enters into the narrative. If the reader
does not understand it all, he can console himself with the thought
that no one does understand the Mystery of the Blessed Trinity.
But he will, T hope, learn something about it and come to appreciate
a little better the grounds of difference in its regard between East and
West, and their diverse lines of approach. Very many long speeches
occur 1n the main sources, which I have synopsised, leaving them,
however, in direct speech form, because lengthy periods of indirect
speech would have made heavy reading. All—and only—exact
quotations in translation are indicated by inverted commas or by
small type.

I have reason to be grateful to many people for help and encourage-
ment generously given to me while [ was engaged on this book.
To the late Fr Georg Hofmann, S.J., I am most deeply indebted.
Besides being the initiator of the series Concilium Florentinum, etc.,
he was, too, its most prolific contributor, giving to it the fruits of
long years of painstaking work in many archives. References to his
volumes and to his numerous articles will be found abundantly in

XV



INTRODUCTION

the pages that follow. Besides that, I had the advantage of his ready
advice and T could draw on his secure memory and wide knowledge,
even in the long months of his last illness, a privilege that I availed
myself of frecly. May he rest in peace. Two others also I would like
to thank by name, who have read my book in manuscript and
offered me many fruitful suggestions, Fr Emil Herman, S.J., and
Dr J. A. Watt. To them, and to all the others who have helped me,
I return my sincere thanks.

J. G.
ROME

January 1958
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CHAPTER I

THE BACKGROUND

Constantine was a turningspoint in the history of the early

B Church. Henceforward, instcad of being liable to periodic
persecution, 1t would enjoy the protection of the highest power in the
State. Such protection, however, could become a double.edged
sword and, for the promotion of unity and concord within the
empire, could develop into a direction of the Church even ia purcly
religious and doctrinal matters. That is, in fact, what happened.
Sects, dissatisfied with the decisions of the ecclesiastical authorities,
began to appeal to the Emperor. Already in Constantine’s reign
and before he was even baptised, the Emperor had taken upon him.
sclf to summon the Council of Arles (314) to rejudge the affairs of
the Donatists; then he summoned the Council of Nicaea whose
decisions he later rejected and whose adherents he persecuted.

The removal of the capital from Rome to the Bosphorus introduced
another inAuence that was to play a large part in subsequent develop-
ments. Byzantium till this time had been no more than a small town
with a bishop dependent on the Metropolitan of Heraclea in Thrace.
When it became the capital of Constantine’s empire, its bishop took
the title of archbishop. Under the Christian emperors, the territorial
organisation of the Church tended to follow that of the civil ad-
ministration and the political pre.eminence of a city often led to a
parallel ccclesiastcal importance. At that rate New Rome should
be the equal of Old Rome. In 381 the third canon of the Council of
Constantinople enunciated: ‘ The Bishop of Constantinople to have
the primacy of honour after the Bishop of Rome, because Constan-
tinople is New Rome.” In 41 the soscalled twenty-eighth canon of
Chalcedon amplified the canon of Constantinople:

THE adoption of the Christian religion by the Emperor

With justice indeed the Fathers recognised the first place for the See of Ancient
Rome, because this city was the residence of the emperor. Moved by the same
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consideration, the 150 Fathers, . . .granted equal prerogatives and esteem to the
most holy See of New Rome, justly considering that the city honoured by the
presence of the emperor and the senate and enjoying prerogatives equal to those
of ancient, imperial Rome ought also to rank higher in ecclesiastical maters,
holding rank next after her.

This canon suited the aspirations of the emperors and the arch-
bishops of the imperial city. But for the moment at least, they were
held in check by the Pope. At the Council itself the papal legates
protested vigorously against it and subsequently Pope Leo refused to
acknowledge it despite the letters from both the Emperor Marcian
and the Patriarch of Constantinople, A natolius.

The next few centuries were marked by different developments in
the East and the West. Their liturgies were established along different
lines; ecclesiastical customs and discipline varied considerably, as the
Council in Trullo (691) demonstrated; there was a steadily growing
ignorance of each other’s language. Nevertheless ecclesiastical rela-
tions, though often broken for short periods, remained as they were
before in spite of political tensions, and each century from the fifth to
the ninth saw many an appeal from the East to Rome for the support of
true doctrine and the re-establishment of discipline. The peak of papal
prestige in the Byzantine Church was reached during the Iconoclastic
controversies of the first half of the ninth century, when the Pope was
regarded as the bastion of orthodoxy against the impious emperors.

A serious schism, however, occurred shortly after. A dispute as
to whether Ignatus or Photius was the rightful Patriarch of Con-
stantinople was referred to Rome. Papal legates sent to inquire into
the case decided in favour of the latter and declared Ignatius deposed.
Nicholas I, the Pope, quashed the proceedings and in a local council
pronounced in favour of Ignatius. This decision was dead against
the wishes of the imperial court, and Photius, taking advantage also
of the prevailing dispute over the evangelisation of Bulgaria and the
differences in discipline advocated by the Latin and the Greek
muissionaries there, decided to carry the war into the enemy’s country.
He issued an Encyclical Letter to the Eastern Patriarchs inviting
them to a council in Constantinople to judge the faith and practice
of the Pope and the Latin Church. The council met in 867 and
declared Nicholas deposed and excommunicated.
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Almost immediately, on political grounds, Photius was removed
from the patriarchal See and Ignatius reinstated; but the council
(869-70) summoned to restore order barely achieved its purpose.
The Emperor wanted no more than that the old question between
Ignatius and Photius should be discussed: the Pope could not ignore
the Photian council and its affront to the Holy See. Photius, though
he refused to answer his accusers, was condemned, but very few
bishops took any part in the proceedings and the severe sentences
against those ordained by Photius did not conduce to pacification.

On Ignatius’s death in 878 the Emperor restored Photius to the
patriarchal throne in spite of his previous condemnation. Once more
a council was proposed to regularise the situation and the Pope,
John VTII, who needed help against the Saracens and still hoped to
establish Roman jurisdiction over Bulgaria, agreed. The Council
met in 879-80. The Pope’s legates were empowered to recognise the
legitimacy of Photius’s election as Patriarch and of his previous
ordinations, ignoring at the same time his past actions against the
Holy See, if he would make some gesture savouring of an amende
honorable. This Photius refused to do and the Acts of the council
contain almost more of insult against Rome than respect: yet
John VTII approved them, though whether he was ever acquainted
with them in their entirety or only in an abbreviated—and much
mitigated—L atin translation is not certain. Till recently it has been
usually believed that after the Council of 879-80 Photius was again
solemnly excommunicated, but that view has in latter years been
seriously called in question and is not now generally held. At any
rate, by 899 the schism was over, but it had given a dangerous
precedent, and Photius’s writings, accusing the Latins of heresy 1n
regard to the Procession of the Holy Spirit, condemning Latin
customs and discipline, and attacking the primacy of the See of Peter
and exaltung against it the * See of the Protoclitus Andrew’, furnished
an arsenal of weapons ready to hand for future use.

Two centuries were to elapse yet before the next serious clash
between Rome and Constantinople, centuries marked by many a
change in the European political situation. Up to the time of the
Iconoclastic controversy Byzanuum still claimed empire over most
of Europe, the kings of the various tribes who overran it and settled
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there being theoretically at least governors in the name of the basileus.
In lItaly the emperor’s power, though at different times seriously
challenged by invading barbarians, was on the whole effective, and
the popes, though gradually by force of circumstances becoming
also in practice political heads of the Duchy of Rome, were his
subjects whose elections needed imperial ratification. When, how-
ever, the papacy found itself threatened by Leo the Isaurian to force
compliance with his Iconoclastic policy and at the same time lived
in constant danger from the restless Lombards, it turned to the rising
power of France and in return for its recognition of the dynasty of
Pepin received military aid against the Lombards. This was a
turning-point in history. Henceforward, though Byzantium did not
cease to regard Italy as part of its empire and in fact continued to
possess Sicily and the southern parts of the Italian peninsula with its
centre at Bari, Rome had left the East and thrown in its lot with the
West and with the Holy Roman Empire which developed after
the crowning of Charlemagne as Emperor of the West in 800. A tie
between the Western and the Eastern Churches was broken.

But the change did not in the long run help the popes much.
Rivalries between the developing nations of Europe for power and
for dominance in the Holy Roman Empire, ambitions of different
Roman families for political eminence in the Papal States established
after the overthrow of the Byzantine power in the north of ltaly,
and the decline of the Lombards, made the papacy a prize to be won
for a partisan. So in the tenth and the first half of the eleventh
centunies the popes were often no more than the nominees of the
dominant power, and popes and antipopes with their supporters
vied-with cach other for supremacy, while the anarchy that at times
prevailed at Rome was reflected only too faithfully in the dioceses of
Europe. It was not a situation to recommend the Western Church
to the East.

Meanwhile, in this same period, Byzantium was reaching its
highest peak of power and prestige since the sixth century under
Jusunian, and whatever may have been the theoretical relation be-
tween the Western and the Eastern Churches, there is no doubt that
in practice the Byzantine Church was independent of Rome. From
963 onwards Constantinople rejoiced in 2 series of emperots who
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were both good organisers and good soldiers with the result that they
retook from various conquerors parts of the empire that had earlier
been lost. In 968 Antioch was regained from the Arabs and the
Patriarch of Constantinople consecrated the new Anuochene Pat.
riarch, thereby settling any doubt about pre-eminence. Mesopotamia,
Edessa, Syna, Crete, all fell into Byzantine hands and by 1019 the
Bulgars, who had once been a serious threat, were utterly reduced by
Basil II, Bulgaroctonos. At about this time Russia, too, accepted
Christianity and, though for some time it was as friendly to West as
to East, it had received its Liturgy from the East and was more open
to influences from there than from Rome. Naturally the Church
shared in the glory of the State. Its patriarchs, if not all on the same
high level as the emperors, were on the whole earnest and wise,
though they often had to have recourse to ‘economy’ to meet the
wishes of their all-powerful sovereigns. The theory of the Pentarchy,
i.e. of the division of the Church into five Patriarchates all equal in
essentials, had by now gained ground so as to have become accepted
doctrine: and three of these were weak and in practice utterly depens
dent upon Constantinople. The Pope was regarded as no more than
the Patriarch of the West, one of the five patriarchs of the Church,
even if the first among them, while Constantinople, 1n fact if not yet
in theory, dominated the eastern ecclesiastical world independently
of Rome.

It was this status quo that Caerulanius, who became Patriarch 1n
1043, was determined to maintain when it seemed to be threatened
by the political alliance of the Byzantine Emperor and the Roman
Pope against Norman expansion 1n southern Italy. He had a letter

_condemning four Latin practices conveyed to the Pope and himself
closed the Latin churches in Constantinople as an indication of his
rejection of the Laun use of unleavened bread in the Liturgy.
A military reverse, however, for his Emperor forced him to a more
conciliatory attitude, but Cardinal Humbert, the Latin Legate sent
to Constantinople, would be content with nothing less than com-
plete submission. Caerularius remained obstinate. The Cardinal
publicly and solemnly excommunicated him and his adherents in
a violently offensive document (1054), but this excommunication
was of doubtful validity as Pope Leo who had authonsed the mission
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was already dead. Yet it was so violent in tone and delivered in so
insulting a manner that by itself it was sufficient to rally the people
of Constantinople to the side of the Patriarch, and the Emperor had
perforce to follow suit. Caerularius in his turn excommunicated
the legates. He never believed, or feigned not to believe, that they
represented Leo, but only the Emperor’s Latn general, Argyrus, his
personal enemy. He then wrote to the patriarchs of the East to prepare
the way for a condemnation of the Western Church. His accusations
against Rome rested on the Filiogue-clause (which Cardinal Humbert
had brought into prominence again from the oblivion into which
it had fallen and that, too, wrongly, in so far as he attributed an
omission to the Greek Church instead of an addition to the Latin),
the use of unleavened bread in the Liturgy and an interminable list
of ecclesiastical trifles. These last, in themselves of no real importance
whatsoever, were nevertheless the points that appealed most to ordin-
ary eastern Christians and most alienated their minds from Latin
Churistendom.

The incident of Caerularius, however, was not necessarily final,
though it was a heavy blow to peaceful relations between East and
West. Other events were shortly to succeed it which would have
far more serious results. One of these was the formation of the
Norman kingdom in South Italy. It had been the alliance of Pope
and Emperor to face this common threat that had given the occasion
for Caerularius’ anti-Roman action. From then on the Normans
increased their power, taking Bari (1071), the centre of local Byzan/
tine government, and Palermo in the following year, and they aimed
at nothing less than the conquest of Constantinople. In 1082 and
again in 1185 they made the attempt, but each time they failed.
Meantime other enemies were massing round the empire, the Turks
in the east, and to the north the Patzinaks and later the Bulgars.
Byzantium had long known the Arab, who, beginning in the seventh
century, had rapidly overrun Syria, Palestine, Mesopotamia, the
eastern regions of Asia Minor, Egypt and the northern areas of
Africa. He had twice attacked Constantinople itself (673~7; 717
718). In the ninth century he conquered Crete and towards the
beginning of the tenth century Sicily and much of Southern Italy.
But by the end of the tenth century the vast Arab empire was in a
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state of disintegration and would presumably have dissolved had it
not been for the rise to power of the Seljuq Turks. These, originating
in Turkestan, gradually became the paramount power in the Arab
world and when the Byzantine Emperor, Romanus Diogenes, met
them in battle, he was crushingly defeated and taken prisoner at
Manzikert (1071) and regained his freedom only by paying a heavy
ransom and promising annual tribute to his conquerors. The vic
torious Alp Arslan set up the Sultanate of Rum in Asia Minor
which was the first stage of the conquest of the whole Byzantine
empire.

The Seljuq victories had another effect.  As long as the Arab held
Palestine and its holy city Jerusalem, pilgrims could come and go
unmolested. With the conquest, however, of the Holy Places by the
Seljugs began a period of persecution which roused the anger of the
Christian West and occasioned the Crusades. These were due to a
variety of causes—appeals of the Eastern emperors for help; the
desire of the popes for the reunion of Christendom; a spirit of ad-
venture among the chivalry of the western nations; but chiefly a
determination to deliver the Holy Land from the power of the infidel.

For its main purpose the First Crusade (1097-9) was the most
successful, for Jerusalem was taken and the Kingdom of Jerusalem
established. But principalities were established too at Edessa, Tripoli
and Antioch, on territory that Byzandum claimed for its own, and
so over a period of a century and more there was sporadic warfare
between the empire and Antioch. The emperors seem to have res
garded the Crusaders with as much fear as they did the Turk and
they had some solid grounds for that. The Crusaders came in bands,
often with little discipline, living on the countries they passed
through and their presence in the neighbourhood of the capital city
inevitably led to friction. As a result, the ruling motive of the
emperors was to get their unwelcome allies away from Constans
tinople as quickly as possible without letting them wait till all their
forces had arrived, even though thereby they might be the more
easily encountered and destroyed by the common foc. Such was
the fate of the first contingent of the First Crusade; such that of the
German force of the Second Crusade (1147). In 1187 Saladin took
Jerusalem. In 1189 the Third Crusade set out. The German forces
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of Frederick Barbarossa were transported over the Hellespont by the
Emperor [saac only when their presence near his capital seemed to
him a greater menace to his safety than breaking the agreement he
had made with Saladin to oppose them: but they effected nothing.
The French and English forces which went by sea managed to win
only a few places on the Palestinian coast—far enough away from
Byzantium—and to occupy Cyprus, at that ume held in indepen-
dence from Byzantium by Isaac Comnenus. The first three Crusades,
therefore, did nothing to heal the breach between East and West,
but rather fomented an atmosphere of mutual suspicion and distrust.
The papal desire of ecclesiastical union was sull far from being
satisfied. It received, however, an unexpected fulfilment, and one
that at any rate at first Pope Innocent III did not welcome, in the
Fourth Crusade.

The Fourth Crusade, like the others, aimed at capturing Jeru-
salem but in the end it captured Constantinople and advanced no
further. It had assembled at Venice (1202) since the Venetians for
the payment of a large sum had contracted to transport it onwards
by sea. The money, however, was not available and so, in spite of
Innocent’s fulminations, payment was made “in kind” by the taking
and sacking of Zara, a town of Dalmata in the hands of the King
of Hungary who had himself taken the Cross. To the Crusaders at
Zara there came Alexius Angelus, whose father Isaac had shortly
before been deposed from the imperial throne and imprisoned by his
brother Alexius, to plead for his father’s restoration, in return for
which he promised large gifts of money and troops for the campaign
in the Holy Land in which he too would take part. The prospects of
ecclesiastical union, of Byzantium as a genuine ally in their under.
taking, of personal reward, and for Enrico Dandolo, the Doge of
Venice, of the confirmation of all Venetian commercial privileges
won the day: the Crusaders turned towards Constantinople. The
city did not welcome the protectors of its deposed sovereign and so
the Crusaders stormed and took it, but then they encamped outside
its walls (1203). The restored Isaac and his son Alexius were
crowned, but being regarded by the Greeks as traitors, soon fell
victms to popular discontent and Alexius Ducas, the leader of the
national party hostle to the Westerners, became Emperor. In 1204
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the city was once again captured and for three days given over to
pillage and rapine, not even the churches and their sacred objects
being spared.

With the Latns in Constantinople there was an opportunity,
however unpropitious its beginnings, of uniting the Eastern and the
Western Churches, but the temper of the time made it impossible for
that opportunity to be seized and used to the best advantage. In the
division of the spoils after the taking of the city the Church of
St Sophia had fallen to the Venetians, who without consulting the
Pope had Thomas Morosini consecrated Latin Patriarch. To him
the Greek bishops should take an oath of fidelity, but many, like
the Greek Patriarch who had fed to Bulgaria, preferred exile. For
a short time there was hesitation as to what was to be done in practice,
but the principle soon prevailed that the Latin rite was superior to
the Greek, which however was not to be suppressed but, if the Greeks
could not be persuaded to change, tolerated. Latin bishops were to
rule in dioceses where Latins were more numerous. New Greek
bishops could be consecrated, but by Latin bishops. In 1206 the
Patriarch John Camaterus died in Bulgaria and a successor was
elected and consecrated in Nicaea where Theodore I Lascaris had
set up a Greek kingdom. In Constantinople the papal Legate
Cardinal Pelagius d’Albano tried forcible mcasures but achieved
nothing, and later negotiations with the new Greek Patriarch also
failed. In 1215 the Council of the Lateran declared the Pope head
of all the Eastern Latin Patriarchs and decreed that there could be
only one bishop in any one See, though diversity of rites was per-
mitted “as far as this was possible in the Lord’. The Greeks would
have been willing to have had a Latin bishop as well as a Greek:
this was forbidden by the Lateran. In the territories conquered by
the Crusaders—the Kingdom of Constantinople, the Kingdom of
Thessalonica, the Principality of Achaia in the Peloponnesus and
the Duchy of Athens and Thebes, as well as in the many places
gained by the Venetians— Latin bishops took possession of cathedral
churches. But these conquests did not last long. Thessalonica fell
to the Greeks of Epirus in r224. Constantinople was taken by
Michael VIII, the Greek Emperor of Nicaea, in 1261.

But it was a diminished and weakened empire that Michael
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regained. Most of Greece was still in the hands of the Franks, and the
Despotate of Epirus and the Empire of Trebizond, though in Greek
hands, were independent States. Nor were his enemies less numerous
than before. A new threat, reminiscent of the days of the Normans
of Italy, was forming in the Kingdom of the Two Sicilies occupied
in 1266 by Charles of Anjou. Preparations were well advanced for
an expedition against Constantinople on the plea of restoring to his
throne the exiled Latin Emperor, when Pope Gregory X sought
delay to see if the negotiations opened with him by Michael would
bear fruit (1273). In 1274 at the Council of Lyons a very small
Greek delegation accepted in Michael’s name (rather than in thart of
the Greek Church) papal supremacy, the truth of the Filiogue and
the validity of the Liturgy in unleavened bread. Danger to Con-
stantinople was averted: Michael did his best to carry out his engage-
ments and himself was faithful to them, but he could avail nothing
against the religious opposition of his subjects. In 1281 he was
excommunicated by the French Pope, Martin I'V, a friend of Charles
of Anjou, and, though the danger from Sicily finally ceased on the
rebellion there 1n 1282, he died 1n the same year repudiated by both
East and West, for he was refused Christian burial by his own people.
His successor A ndronicus II was bitterly anti-Latin and deposed and
imprisoned the unionist Patriarch John Beccus with his few sincere
supporters.

Meanwhile the Mongol invasion from the East had completed the
break-up of the empire of the Seljuq Turks who, as the domination
of the invaders relaxed, formed into separate smaller States. Among
these the dynasty of Osman (1299) began to predominate, and the
history of the East in the fourteenth century is the story of the con-
quests of the Ottoman Turks. Checked for a time by the Catalan
Grand Company, a kind of Foreign Legion in which Catalans were
the chief element, mercenaries brought in by Andronicus II (1302-
11), they later progressed steadily in their conquest of the Greek
Empire which at the same time had to defend itself against the
Serbs. Brusa fell to them in 1326; Nicaea in 1329; Nicomedia in
1337. At the accession to the Byzantine throne of John V Palaco.
logus in 1341 they were already masters of virtually all Asia Minor.
They had established a foothold for themselves in Europe by 1354
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when they gained possession of Gallipoli and from there they began
to move north. In 1365 Adrianople became their capital and Con-
stantinople was hemmed in on all sides. At this stage John V
Palaeologus journeyed to Rome where he solemnly made profession
of faith to the Pope and submitted himself to the Latin Church.
John’s action does not seem to have aroused as much opposition in
Constantinople as did Michacl’s nearly a century before, partly at
least because the religious element of his capital was engrossed in the
hesychastic controversy, in which Gregory Palamas for the monks
of Mount Athos triumphed over Barlaam who hailed from South
Italy and who for that reason was suspect. His gesture, however,
was totally ineffective. To the Pope’s appeals there was no response
in the West to send aid to_stem the encroachments of the Turks: in
the East the Church made no move to support the initiative of the
Emperor.

So the advance of the Turks went on unabated. In 1373 John V
had to become a vassal of Murad I and to give his son Manuel as a
hostage. In 1389 Serbia, and in 1393 Bulgaria, were overcome. In
1396 Hungary suffered defeat at Nicopolis and, had it not been for
the small French force under Boucicaut, Constantinople might have
fallen at that time. The situation was desperate. On Boucicaut’s
advice Manuel (1399) toured the courts of Europe to see if his personal
appeal would get him the help he needed. But, though courteously
received in France, England, Germany and Italy and in spite of the
crusade launched by Boniface IX independently of 2ny negotiations
about union between the Churches, he got no help in men, for
Europe was too distracted by its own quarrels. Three times in twenty
years was Constantinople besieged and each time it was saved, not
by the forces of the defenders, but only because the Turks had to
raise the siege to fight elsewhere—in 1402 when Bajezid went to
meet the Mongol advance under Timur and was defeated: in 1411
when Musa was overthrown by his brother Mahomet: and in 1422
when Murad I repressed the rebellion of a pretender.

"It was this Emperor, Manuel II Palaeologus, who, according to
the chronicler Sphrantzes, gave the following advice to his son John,
who later as Emperor shared with Pope Eugenius IV responsibility
for the Council of Florence: ‘Propose a council: open negotiations,
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but protract them interminably. . .. The pride of the Latins and the
obstinacy of the Greeks will never agree. By wishing to achieve the
union you will only strengthen the schism.” It wasa profound observa-
tion founded on history and borne out by events. Negotiations there
had to be to suggest to the Turk the possibility of doubling the
number of his foes if he persisted in his conquests and by the elusive
prospect of ecclesiastical union to entice military aid from the Launs.
With the exception of the overtures of Manuel I Comnenus (1143~
80), who dreamt of being crowned by the Pope as emperor of a re-
united empire, all the rest—and there were very many—who entered
into negotiations about union of the Churches were in reality seeking
matcrial aid. The Church queston was, in the circumstances, the
necessary means to that end.

For Byzantium, the Crusades could be a mortal danger or a providential help.
To ensure that they should be the one and not the other, the emperors were
forced to turn to him who directed the formidable machine. Sometimes it
would be to gain from the pope that the machine should not be turned against
them: sometimes that it come to the aid of the empire writhing under the blows
of the Turks. Such is the secret of the offers of union from the Byzantine side.
There was no element of 1dealism in them. If the pope had been only a spiritual
power and had not controlled a political force of great magnitude, there would
not have been on the part of the Byzantine emperors any unionistic negotiations
at all

Yet, however true that might have been for the Emperors,. there
could still be Greeks who valued the ideal of union for its own sake.

The popes for their part genuinely desired union of the Churches,
as was acknowledged even by Byzantine writers, and they were not
unwilling to usc political considerations to further their ends. But
the kind of union they aimed at was not a union that recommended
tself to the Greeks. No pope could or would accept a union founded
on the theory of the Pentarchy, even though its supporters might
agree with Nilus Cabasilas: *As long as the pope retains the order
and remains in the truth, he preserves the first place which belongs
to him by right; he 1s the head of the Church and supreme pontiff,
the successor of Peter and of all the Apostles; all owe him honour
and complete respect: if he departs from the truth, with no desire to

¥ M. Jugie, Le schisme byzantin (Patis, 1941), pp. 248-9.
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return thereunto, he deserves condemnation.” Inall the negotiations
the popes claimed an absolute supremacy and that the Greeks would
not grant. Their opposition to the introduction of the Filiogue-clause
into the Creed and to other Latin practices and doctrines stemmed
from that—even a pope may not legislate on questons common to all
Christians independently of the rest of the Church.

Yet undon was what Byzantium most needed and Rome most
desired. It was useless for the emperors and the popes to make agree. -
ments as long as the clergy and people of the empire were utterly
opposed to them and inspired by a profound hatred of the Latins. The
behaviour of the Crusaders, especially the sack of Constantinople,
the numerous attempts of Normans and French at conquest, the
depredations of the Catalan Grand Company, had led them to
consider the Latins as greater enemies of their city than even the Turk.
The privileges accorded successively to the Venetians and the Genoese,
who owned a great part of their quays and a scction of their capital
and, without paying the taxes that weighed them down, sapped
their commercial prosperity, roused a deep rancour against the
foreign Latins which burst into flame in 1182 when in a public riot
the Venctians were massacred. The introduction of Latin patriarchs
and bishops in Antioch, Jerusalem, Constantinople and elsewhere,
Latin contempt and ignorance of the Greek liturgical rite and
the differences of ecclesiastical tradition—married and unmarried
clergy, bearded and unbearded, varicties of discipline about fasts and
dozens of other unimportant points—only convinced them of the
barbarity and inferiority of the Latins, and their sense of moral
superiority combined with a certain political dependence deepened
and confirmed their hostility.

The backbone of opposition in Byzantium was not the State but
the Church, and of the Church not so much the bishops as the
monks and the common people who looked on the monks as
enlightened ascetics and spiritual guides. Patriarchs and bishops
were too near the crown to be able easily to resist an emperor’s will,
and it was not often that they tried. But the monks, a very numerous
bOdy and often vagrant, and the common people were lost in the
anonymity of the mass except when some outstanding personality like

T P.G. 149, 728.
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Theodore the Studite or Gregory Palamas or Gennadius voiced the
popular feeling and organised and led the opposition. By the time
of the Iconoclastic controversy (726) there were two parties in Con-
stantinople—the Moderates, mainly among the politicians, the court
circle and the higher clerics; and the Rigorists or Extremists whose
core was composed of the monks. The former, more highly educated,
more immersed in politics and affairs .of the world, more bound up
in a career and the imperial court, to attain their aim of preserving
the peace between Church and State were ready to meet each
difficult situation as it arose, if necessary by compromise, to be
accommodating in the application of ecclesiastical censures, to look
for salvation from the West in face of mortal danger from the East.
The latter, less pliant and more obstinate, often with the obstinacy
of ignorance, were opposed to emperors interfering in Church
affairs and would not tolerate compromuise either as regards doctrine
or the execution of ecclesiastical punishments, no matter what the
consequences. They professed to keep aloof from politics but were
for ever trying to obtain patriarchs and bishops of their own colour
and not infrequently were involved in plots to get rid of an emperor
thought to be a traitor to orthodoxy. As a political force they were
so powerful that claimants to the throne had to take them into
account and at times cultivated their favour to win their support.
They were the champions of orthodoxy as they conceived 1t, rigid,
undeviating and indeed narrow. . In the eighth century they upheld
Rome and triumphed with her in the Iconoclastic controversy. Inthe
thirteenth, fourteenth and fifteenth centuries they were bitterly and
fanatically anti/Latjni'l They, it was, who rendered the result of the
Second Council of Lyons nugatory. They were the force behind
Palamism, who made the gesture of John V Palacologus no more
than the act of an individual."They, as we shall see, would make the
Council of Florence avail nothing to heal the schism between East
and West. To give any project of union a chance of success, the
monks and the people with them had first to be won over 1o it.
But how?2:

One solution of that almost insoluble problem was a General
Council. It had been proposed many times before and was urged
again in most persuasive terms by Barlaam in 1339 to Benedict XII
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—to discuss the chief points of disagreement in a General Council
to be held on Greek territory, for, if agreement could be reached in
free debate in such a council, the Greeks, and in particular the
Extremists, would, it was said, respect an oecumenical decision,
which for them was paramount, as they would nothing else. But
that was not a proposal that the popes.could lightly accept. For them
the main question at issue had been already settled in what the Latin
Church holds to have been an Oecumenical Council, the Council
of Lyons, even though the Greeks had repudiated the adherence
given by the modest Greek delegation. It was neither fitting nor
expedient, they said, to reopen questions oecumenically sewled. In
truth they were, too, not a little afraid that in a council convened on
Greek soil the Greeks might be numerically superior and might
make decisions utterly unacceptable to the Laun Church, which
instead of producing peace would lead only to greater discord. But
the idea gained ground as offering the only feasible solution. John VI
Cantacuzene urged it in 1350 and Pope Clement VI was inclined
to concur, but prudence prevailed. Again in 1370 Pope Urtban V
disappointed the Greeks, who thought a council imminent. And
each refusal from Rome gave the Greeks further grounds for com-
plaint and excuse for distrust. But even in the West, as the conciliar
movement progressed and the demand for ecclesiastical reform in
head and members promoted the theory that a General Council is
superior to a pope, there was a growing realisation that the Great
Schism must be ended, that a General Council was the sole possible
means to that end and that the Greeks must be invited to participate
in the councils of the Latins. When the Council of Basel and
Eugenius I'V came to cross-purposes, it developed into a competition
as to who should strengthen his position by getting the Greeks to his
council. Eugenius even offered to make Constantinople the seat: it
was only the political sitnation that finally decided the Greeks to
come to Italy, to Ferrara and Florence, in 1438. So in the end the
Greek solution was adopted. Union was, indeed, achieved but,
though elsewhere it had more durable results, among the Greeks
themselves it was only short-lived.
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CHAPTER 11

MARTIN V AND THE GREEKS
(1414-31)

rent by division. Politically there were wars between

Christian princes. England and a France split by internal
factions were still 1n the throes of the Hundred Years War—Agin-
court was fought in 1415: St Joan of Arc was burnt at Rouen in
1431. Poland was at loggerheads with the Teutonic Knights.
Sigismund of Hungary, after securing his position with some diffi-
culty, was involved first with the Venetians and later in internal
strife with the Bohemians of his own country. Italy was the scene
of almost continuous upheaval. The Papal States were invaded time
and again by Condottieri in the pay of rival factions. Rome,
occupied by a succession of conquerors, was in ruins.

The ecclesiastical situation was no better. The papal court had
hardly returned from Avignon to Rome (1377) than there began the
Great Schism of the West. Thereafter for neatly forty years there were
two—or even three—°popes’, each striving by arms and alliances,
by bribes and the vast expenditure of money, by the creation of
partisan cardinals and the excommunication of opponents, to secure
for himself the greatest support among the nations. For their part
kings and princes rallied to one or other of the claimants to the
papal throne, not so much because of any conviction on the merits
of the dispute, as because they would not support the choice of their
political rivals. In such a state of ecclesiastical chaos Church discip-
line was lost and heresies grew apace. The root-cause of the situation
lay in the abasement of the papacy, and in the worldliness, simony,
and lack of spiritual ideals of a papal Curia and cardinals too often
willing tools of a political power. The malady in the head had
spread also to the members. There was urgent need of reform, reform

THE early years of the fifteenth century saw a Christendom
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in head and members, but while many were ready to reform others
few were willing to start the reform with themselves.

Sucha state of affairs could not go on indefinitely. Asa preliminary
condition to any reform, unity in the Church was essential—one
pope acknowledged by all—and in the first decade of the fifteenth
century voices were raised in France, Germany and Italy demanding
that a way be found to put an end to the disastrous dissensions. They
began to argue that the Church is more than any pope, that the pope
is only a functionary of the Church and dependent on it, that those
who elect can if need be depose. The fact that of the two rivals one
was certainly pope was lost sight of. Men were set on getting rid of
both to make a fresh start, and they ended by adding to Gregory XII
and Benedict XIII a third, Alexander V, a Greek born in Crete
and educated at Oxford and Paris, who certainly was no more than
an anti-pope. That was the work of the Council of Pisa (1409),
summoned by a group of cardinals independently of both Gregory
and Benedict and in contradiction to age-long ecclesiastical tradition,
Church law, and Catholic faith in the universal jurisdiction of the
pope. Confusion was worse confounded. The conviction that a
council was superior to a pope took a firmer hold and was formally
enunciated as a principle by the Council of Constance (1414-18),
which to give it effect enacted that henceforth councils should be
convened at regular short intervals.” Hopes for reform ran high. The
nations, weary of the distressing spectacle of three rival “popes’,
abandoned the cause of their candidates and lent support to the
Council’s demand that all three abdicate or be deposed. On
11 November 1417 Martin V was elected at Constance and hailed
as Pope by almost the whole of the Latin Church. The Great
Schism was ended at last.

The period of the Great Schism was not, one would say, a propis
tious time for negotiations for union between East and West, when
the picture of a Latin Church that could not achieve unity within
itself could hardly have aroused any enthusiasm in even the best.
intentioned Greek to partake in the confusion, even had he been
able (which the Latins themselves were not) to discern where the

I . .
The decree Frequens established that the next council should meet after five years,
the following one seven years later, and then every ten years.
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central authority of the Church lay. Yet curiously enough the idea
of ending the breach between the two Churches was never lost sight
of and indeed became even more dominant. The end of the four
teenth century saw the beginning of the enthusiasm for the study of
Greek—Manuel Chrysoloras arrived in Florence at the invitation of
the city early in 1397 to teach Greek—and this led to a deep know-
ledge and love of the Greek classical tradition, which overflowed
and embraced the places and people who most preserved its literature
and to some degree still embodied its culture. Then too the plight of
the Eastern Church was much in men’s minds. The Sultan Bajezid
had inflicted a disastrous defeat on Hungarian and French troops at
Nicopolis (1396). Boniface IX in 1398 had tried to rouse the Latin
princes to a crusade to relieve beleaguered Constantinople, which
was barely able to avert disaster even with the heroic aid of a handful
of French troops under Boucicaut." The Emperor Manuel IT visited
Venice, Padua, Pavia, Paris and London (1399-1403) ineffectually
seeking military help. Even if in Paris he showed himself hosule to
any religious union (he answered a brief dissertation on the Pro-
cession of the Holy Spirit with a refutation in 157 chapters), his
presence and purpose kept the idea alive. Union of the Churches,
it was argued, would achieve a double object—it would end religious
discord and it would combine the whole of the Christian world
against the Turk. Even concentration on the divisions that rent the
Western Church, far from closing men’s minds to thoughts of the
East, rather brought the desire and desirability of union more to the
fore, and a union on a grander scale that should embrace the whole of
Christendom. The prospect of the ‘reducuon’ of the Greeks
became a motive for putting a speedy end to the divisions at home

' A Greek ambassador, Antony Notaras, was in London in 1397-8. King Richard
wrote to Manuel early in 1398 excusing himself for not being able to send men then,
but promising some for the next year. On 13 September 1399 £2000 was paid to
Manuel via a Genoese merchant and charged on the customs at Southampton, and in
1401 a further £ 2000 from the royal Treasury “in recompense of such sum due during
the time of the late King Richard’ (T. Bekynton, Official Correspondence of Thomas
Bekynton, ed. G. Williams (London, 1872), 1, doc. cciir, p. 285; p. LX, 0. 1),

* The usual Latin word employed in papal documents and elsewhere in respect of
the Greeks was reductio, which indicates clearly enough what the Latin Church meant
by union—the ‘bringing back’ of the Greeks to the bosom of the Church that they
had left by schism.
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and a further jusufication for insising on a General Council,
because only through a council was there any hope of ever reaching
an agreement that the Greeks would be likely to accept. This was
the theme of 2 Venetian embassy to Gregory XII in 1408: Gerson
and the University of Paris insisted on this to Charles VI in 1409
and to John XXIII in 1411: it was this hope that influenced Aragon
to abandon its obedience to Benedict XIII in 1416, Manuel II was
invited (1408) to send representatives to the Council of Pisa.
Alexander V, in the few months that he survived his election, sent
legates to Constantinople.’

On the Greek side the political situation was enough to make men
always conscious of the rest of the Christian world. Even though
Constantinople survived the attacks of Bajezid at the turn of the
century, danger was never far absent and each new threat revived the
yearning for western aid. But apart from the peril from the Turk,
there were other influences too at work tending to a better under-
standing between the Churches. In the course of the fourteenth
century there had been translated into impeccable Greek some works
of a few Latin Fathers—Augustine, Ambrose, Fulgentius, and of
St Thomas Aquinas the Summa theologica and the Summa contra
Gentiles, which won the profound admiration of John Cantacuzenus,
the Emperor, and went some little way to prove that the Latin Church
was not totally ignorant and barbarous. The religious orders, par.
ticularly the Dominicans and the Friars Minor, had monasteries in
the environs of Constantinople and were in constant touch with the
Greek ecclesiastical world which was not a litde edified by their
missionary zeal. Latin princesses married to Greek princes usually
had their own chaplains and little entourage of the western faith; the
colonies of Venetians, Genoese and Pisans established with their
churches in Constantinople and across the Golden Horn; the Brigade
of Caralans; the Italian humanists, like Guarino, A urispa and Filelfo,
who went to Constantinople to study Greek and who kept up relations
with their friends of the Byzantine world—all had their influence in

' M. Viller, ‘La question de 'union des Eglises entre Grees et Latins depuis le
Concile de Lyon jusqu’a celui de Florence (1274~1438)", in Revue I"histoire ecclésiastique,
XVII (1921) and xviI (1922); and issued separately (Louvain, 1922), p. 77—though
on what ground he makes this assertion, I do not know.
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making the Western Church better known, even if the privileges
accorded to the foreigner did not always make him better loved.

As a result many Greeks felt the attraction of the Catholic Church,
and not a few joined it." Prochorus Cydones died in the Orthodox
faith, but his brother Demetrius entered the Latin Church, as did
others like Manuel Chrysoloras, Manuel Calecas and the three
brothers Maximus, Theodore and Andrew Chrysoberges, the last
four of whom all became Dominicans. Mark Eugenicus, with his
brother John and Joseph Bryennius, however, only became more
determined in their opposition; but, on the other hand, there were
men like Bessarion and Isidore whose traditional hostility to the
West was greatly diminished and who sincerely desired union
between the two Churches for its own sake, as well as for what 1t
might do to alleviate the distress of their fatherland.

The Council of Constance opened on § November 1414, and
with it began the long series of embassies and negouations between
the Byzantine and the papal courts that culminated in the Council
of Florence. Sigismund, king of Hungary and Holy Roman Em-
peror (he was not crowned, however, tll 1433), was the prime mover
of the gathering in Constance. He informed the Byzantine Em-
peror, Manuel II, of the projected Council, where speramus contra
infideles paganos et praecipue Turcos remedia vobisque et predicte civitats
Constantinopolitane de magnificis studiis providere,* and invited him to
send ambassadors to it.

Manuel did not refuse the offer. Ulnch von Richental records
among ‘ Those who came at their own cost (i.e. not in the train of
some other personage) to Constance as free cavaliers and knights:
First from Greece, Nicholas of the Morea, knight; Andriuoco of the
Morea, his son, knight, both with 16. Emanuel of Crisolena,
knight, with 8. All three messengers and counsellors of the Emperor
of Constantinople’.3 ‘Emanuel of Crisolena’ doubtless stands for

' There were also conversions the other way. Miklosich and Miiller, Acta et
diplomata graeca medii aevi; vol. 11, Acta patriarchatus Constantinopolitani 1315-1402 (Vindo-
bonae, 1862), record nine between the years 1392 and 1402. They seem to be of people
otherwise unknown. They were required to abjure their Latin “errors” of the Procession
of the Holy Spirit also from the Son, and the addition of the Filiogue.

* H. Finke, Acta concilii Constanciensis (Munster, 1896-1928), 1, p. 401.

3 Translated from the German text by R. Loenertz, O.P., ‘Les dominicains
byzantins Théodore et André Chrysobergés et les négociations pour I'union des Eglises
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Manuel Chrysoloras, the permanent agent of the Byzantine
Emperor in the West, who amrived in Constance in the company
of John XXIII on 28 October 1414.” Thierry Virye, whose De con-
solatione ad Ecclesiam is as much a doctrinal treatise as a history and
so is not to be relied upon for exact chronological sequence, never-
theless distinctly implies that there was a Greek embassy present at
Constance from the beginning.> A letter of an unknown Czech
written on 9 March 1415 speaks of the arrival on 3 March 1415 of
a knight sent by the Greek Emperor to work for the union “of the
Greeks and the Christians’.3 It 1s possible that this “knight” was a
coutier from Manuel 11 carrying instructions and perhaps credentials
to Chrysoloras. If so, they were not valid for long, because Chryso-
loras died within a short time and was buried on 15 March 1415.
His death was a great loss to the cause of union of the Churches.

That cause was a live one at Constance, but there was so much for
the Council to do and progress was so slow thaton 16 February 1416
the Bishop of Lodi set forth a memorandum suggesting that some
of the agenda should be deferred to a future council, and in the
meantime the ground should be prepared by previous study. Among
the items to be put off was the ‘reduction’ of the Greeks, though
instructions should be drawn up immediately for ambassadors to be
sent in the future to the court of Constantinople and means should be
taken to get together old treatises dealing with the Greek question
and to prepare new ones, for the use of the future council.* That
something was done in this last regard is shown by the title of a
manuscript of the University of Uppsala: Contra errores orientalium
et Graecorumt written, it is said, in Constantinople in 1305 and copied
at Constance in 1416.5

Meantime, however, a new Greek embassy was on its way, sent
grecque et latine de 1415~1430°, in Arch. O.P. 1x (1939), p- 14, who has collated the
various editions. Nicholas and Andrivoco must be Nicholas Eudaimonoioannes who
came to Constance in February 1416 and his son Andronicus.

' G. Cammelli, Manuele Crisolora (Firenze, 1941), p. 163. H.-L., p. 215, says that
he arrived with Cardinal Zabarella on 18 October.

* H. von der Hardt, Magnum oecumenicum Constanciense concilium (Helmstadt, 1669),
L1, c. 161.

3 Qlllotstcltd by R. Loenentz, loc. cit. p. 14.

4 H. Finke, op. cit. 1v, p. 712.
5 Cf. R. Loenentz, loc. dit. p. 22, n. 63.
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by Manuel II from the Peloponnesus, to offer his services as mediator
between Sigismund and Venice in their quarrel over Dalmatia. The
chief personages in it were Nicholas Eudaimonoioannes® and John
Bladynterus,® with, if we accept the testimony of Richental, An-
dronicus Eudaimonoioannes, Nicholas’ son.3 The Greek embassy
received a reply from the Signoria of Venice on 8 February 1416* and
then proceeded to Constance to find Sigismund. Syropoulus speaks
of Eudaimonoioannes’s mission to Rome, where he assisted at the
election of Martin V:5 Rome clearly stands for the papal Curia then
at Constance. The envoys reached the Council shortly before
25 March® and remained tll it was over. Their presence is attested
by various evidences—in a sermon preached on 24 January 1417
(Graedi. . .nuntios transmiserunt?); in a despatch of Philip of Malla
(27 November 1417) to his sovereign Alfonso of Aragon (‘There
are the Greeks, of whom the general opinion is that they will
return’?); and P. P. Vergerio writing from Constance on 17 October
or 6 November 1417 reported: ‘The Emperor of the Greeks also,
who has been separated from us by a too long but, please God, not
perpetual schism, has had a permanent and notable embassy here,
with some hope of reconciliation’; he adds: ‘What is even more
marvellous, from as far off as Ethiopia some have come 1n a private
capacity, drawn to the report of so great a Council.” Syropoulus
says that Eudaimonoioannes ‘as was fitting, co-operated personally
and laboured for the unity and concord of the Laun Church and
the subjection of all Latin nations under one Pope’. That Pope was
Martin V, elected on 11 November 1417.

' Syr. 1, $, p. 4.

* Ibid. 11, 8, p. 6.

3 In the complicated question of the MS. and cditions of Richental’s Chronik des
Konzils von Konstanz, where the Greek envoys are called in one place Nicolaus von der
Morea and Andriuoco von der Morea sein Son, and elsewhere Hertzog von Tropii
and Hertzog Philipp von Tropaw and Michael von Tropaw sein Son, I follow the
conclusions of R. Loenertz, loc. cit. pp. 14, 25-8.

4 Jorga, 1, p. 243. 5 Syr. 11, s, P. 4.
6 Martene and Durand, Thesaurus novus anecdotorum, etc. 11 (Lutetiae, 1717), c. 1661.
7 H. Finke, op. cit. 11, p. 484. 8 Ibid. v, p. 154.

9 L. Smith, Epistolarfo di Pier Paolo Vergerio (Roma, 1934), p. 377. On I January
1418 Martin V gave a safe-conduct to “ Peter, Bartholomew and Antony, Ethiopians,
who having passed several months in these parts. . .ate returning home’ (L. Smith,

ibid. n. 1).
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Being present at the election and coronation of Pope Mantin, he was accorded
a favourable reception by him. He took the occasion of the cotonation to speak
openly on the question of union of the Western Church and our Eastern Church,
referting to the zeal of the Emperor for union—on these points he spoke at
length—and he found an ally in this in the Latin Andrew of Rhodes, who also
happened to be present ac the coronation and who made a long speech to the
Pope on union.’ )

It would seem that at some time in the course of the negotiations
the Greek envoys presented thirtysix articles about uruon, the pro-
posals of the Emperor and the Patriarch of Constantinople. Andrew
Chrysoberges translated them into Latin. Unfortunately they have
not been preserved, but one can judge of their general tenor by the
fact that in consequence of them (so Andrew Chrysoberges implied
~ 1n his words about them at the Council of Basel, which are our only
source of knowledge about them?) the Pope appointed Giovanm
Dominici, Cardinal of S. Sisto, as Legate to Greece. That was before
1 February 1418, because on that date Peter de Pulka, writing to the
University of Vienna, records the words of a sermon of the same day,
where the preacher had inveighed against the delay both in sending
missionaries for the conversion of the Samogitians and in dealing
with ‘the hoped for reduction of the Greeks, to whom, so he asserted,
one of the cardinals, believed to be of Ragusa (viz. Dominici), was
about to undertake an embassy’.3 The Cardinal was commissioned
also to arrange affairs in Bohemia, where however he died on 10 June
1419, before reaching Greece.

Another result of Eudaimonoioannes’s conversation with the
Pope was permission for the marriages of five of the princes of the
Palaeologus family with Latin princesses, and the granting of the
indulgence of the Crusades to such as contributed to the defence of
the Hexamilion—the long wall of fortification across the Isthmus of
Corinth—newly restored by Manuel 1.4 The papal letter about the

' Syr. 11, $-6, p. 4. * Cecconi, doc. X1; Mansi, 29, 476.

3 Quoted by R. Loenertz, loc. cit. p. 33.

% Syropoulus (11, 6, p. ) understood that this indulgence was granted to those who
went in person to help defend the Hexamilion: it is much more likely and more in
harmony with previous papal concessions to the Byzantine emperors that it was for
those who contributed an alms for its defence. However, Syropoulus says that the papal
document was to be found in the imperial archives—a monument to the futility of
western promises of help.
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marriages, dated 6 Aprl 1418, gives also the reason why the per-
misston was granted—to contribute to better relations and union
between the Churches: 1t also lays down the condition that the
princesses should be allowed the free practice of their Latin faith.”
As a result, marriages were arranged between John Palacologus, the
future John VIII, and Sophia Monteferrata and between Theodore
Palaeologus, Despot of the Morea, and Cleopa Malatesta; and Nicho-
las Eudaimonotoannes returned from Greece to escort the brides
in a Venetian vessel, with permisston of the Signoria, to their future
homes.? Sophia was married with great solemnity to her royal
spouse 1n the church of St Sophia in Constantinople on 19 January
1421.3 Her married life was not happy, because (so says Sphrantzes),
as “she was not endowed with much beauty’, her husband took an
aversion to her from the beginning. She fled back secretly to Italy
in August 1426.4 Cleopa Malatesta does not seem to have been very
much more fortunate. Theodore had written to the Pope on 29 May
1419, promusing that she, her chaplain and attendants should have
complete freedom to retain the rites and practices of their religion, as
well as even their Ttalian customs.® But at some tme before the death
of Martin V (1431) one of her suite, Battista Malatesta de Monte-
feltro, wrote to the Pope appealing for his support for Cleopa ‘who
for the integrity of the Catholic faith has endured so many and grave
ills.. .being harried by a domestic warfare and internal strife’.®
Prompted, perhaps, by this appeal the Pope, some time after the
death of Manuel II (21 July 1425), sent letters by Luca da Offida
exhorting Theodore to support his wife in the practice of her faith
and to follow his father in zeal for union, and to Cleopa urging her

under pain of excommunication to be steadfast.” Cleopa, however,

* G. Hofmann, E.P. doc. 2; Cecconi, doc. I

* Jorga, 1, pp. 306, 307.

3 G. Phrantzes, Chronicon, ed. 1. B. Papadopoulos (Teubner edit. Lipsiae, 1935),
p- 115. Sphranwzes (his work is published under the name ‘Phrantzes”) gives the
date as 19 January 1419. But the Venetian permits to Eudaimonoioannes and the
captain of the vessel are dated respectively 16 July 1420 and 30 August 1420. Cf. F.
Doélger, *Die Krénung Johanns VIII. zum Mitkaiser’, in B.Z. xxxv1 (1936), p. 318.

4 Phr. p. 125; Ducas, Michaelis Dycae nepotis bistoria byzantina, ed. 1. Bekker (Bonn,
1834), pp. 98-9; C. Diehl, Figures byzantines, 11 (Paris, 1913), pp. 2734

5 Lambros, 1v, p. 102.

8 Jorga, 11, p. 197; Cf. Laonicus Chalcocandylas, Historiaram demonstrationes, ed.
E. Datké (Budapest, 1922-7), 1, p. 193. 7 E.P. docs. 20, 21.
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probably yielded to the pressure and accepted the eastern rite before
she died,” still young, in 1433.%

Meanwhile another oriental embassy had renewed the Council’s
interest in union of the Churches. Fillastres in his Gesta Concilii
Constanciensis records: *On the following Friday (18 February 1418)
there entered Constance, Dominus Gregorius, Archbishop of

2 a Ruthenian, of the faith of the Greeks, coming to bring
about the union of the Greeks and the Latins under the obedience of
the Roman Church.” Richental gives a more picturesque account:

On 21 January (clsewhere he gives the date as 19 February) there rode in an
Actchbishop from Greece, of Kiev, called Georius, and he had also the Greek
faith, and came to the Council in respect of himself and of all his bishops and
of the Patriarch of Constantinople and of many Greek lands and bishops, and
went, . . with 18 horses; and all his priests had long black beards and long black
hair, and celebrated their Mass in the house; and how they celebrated Mass,
and their vestments, and how they blessed the Sacrament and the bread is
illustrated elsewhere. . ..It was thought that a complete union would be brought
about. But the Council did not wish to allow that they should remain so all
their Lives.’

The new arrival was Gregory Camblak archbishop of Kiev.
The Lithuanian hierarchy had renounced its allegiance to Photius,
archbishop of Kiev and All Russia, and Gregory was elected in
his place. Constantinople refused to acknowledge his election and,
though requested to do so, failed to nominate anyone else, so on
15 November 1415 Gregory’s election was confirmed by the Synod
of Lithuanian bishops and he was consecrated. As a consequence,
he was excommunicated first by the Patriarch Euthymius of Con-
stantinople® and then by his successor Joseph IL.7

' Cf. D. A. Zakythinos, Le despotat grec de Morée: vol. 1, Histoire politigue (Paris,
1932), pp. 189—90. * Phr. p. 159.

3 There 1s an empty space also in the original.

* H. Finke, op. cit. 11, p. 164.

5 Translated from thc German quoted by R. Loenentz, loc. cit. p. 35.

6 Cf. R. Loenertz, loc. cit. pp. 37-8; A. M. Ammann, Storia della Chiesa Russa
e dei paesi limitrofi (Torino, 1948), pp. 106 f.; A.. Ziegler, Die Union des Konzils von
Florenz in der russischen Kirche (Wiizburg, 1939) Pp- 44-5.

T A. M. Ammann, . dt. p. 107 A. N, Diamantopoulos, "Amdmeipan 1pds
Eveoav 76y "ExxkAnci1dv katé Tov 1€ ed@vex (Acchens, 1924), p. 4, . 32 in this work the
author confuses the two Greek embassies of 1416 and 1422, allotting everything to
1416, for which he makes Theodore Chrysoberges and N. Eudaimonoioannes the
eavoys of the Byzantine Emperor.
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On 25 February he was presented to the Pope in consistory, in the
presence also of the Emperor Sigismund, when Master Maurice of
the University of Praguc spoke in his name. After congratulating
the Pope on the union achieved for the Church in his person and
describing the joy it had caused in “those parts of Russia where we
live’, the discourse went on to describe Gregory’s cfforts for union of
the various rites in his country and the zeal for that also of his
sovereigns. Gregory had come, with permission of his princes, to
enjoy the peace newly established and to beg the Pope to be solicitous
that ‘union be brought about between that oriental Church and the
holy Roman Church’. Union was the desire of the Emperor of
Constantinople and of the Patriarch and of the people of those parts,
as appeared from the words addressed to the Pope about it by the
legates of the Emperor in fulfilment of their mandate. The Princes of
Poland and Lithuania were equally zealous.

They too had taken every care that the peoples subject to their sway who were
separated from the bosom of the holy Roman Church should be brought back
to the unity of the Church as promoters of the Christian faith do desire; but on
this condition, that it be done in the right, honourable and accustomed way,
namely by the summoning of a council, so that from both sides there be brought
together those who are skilled and practised in law, to decide on the matters of
faith and regulate the differences between that nation and the holy Roman

Church.

The Pope, having thanked him for his courtesies, said that he would
deliberate on his words and would later fix a day for further discourse.
Letters from Ladislas and Vitold were read: Gregory kissed the
Popc’s foot, hand and check, and dcparted'—dcparted indeed from
history, for there is no record of any other conference with the Pope,
or of any other information about him. He died probably in 1420.
Gregory’s importance lies in his reminder to the Latins that the
only way to peace between the Churches that would be acceptable
to the orientals was a common council. Richental’s suggestion that
his mission failed because the Fathers of Constance insisted on
adoption of the Latin rite (*But the Council did not wish to allow
that they should remain so all their lives”) seems most unlikely,
though perhaps that was the only idea of union of Churches that

' H. Finke, op. cit. 11, pp. 164—7.
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could appeal to the mass of those thronging Constance, who knew
of nothing but the Latin rite. Martin V' had bcen gracious to the
Greck envoys. For their work for union he had rewarded Theodore
Chrysoberges with first a canonry (26 January 1418)" and soon
after (10 April 1418) with the Sce of Olene,* and Andrew by
facilitating his obtaining his Master’s degrec (12 February 1418),
since his course of studies had been interrupted by his labours at
Constance,> He was on the point of granting permission for the
marriage of Manuel’s sons with princesses of the Latin faith. All
these indications and his subsequent rclations with Constantinople
give no sign that he expected the Grecks to abandon their rite, and
within about twenty years the Council of Florence would decree,
that both rites were of equal standing. In any case, on 8 May 1418,
in view of Ladislas” work for the conversion of the infidel and “also
of the Greeks and the whole oriental sect that they unite and join
themselves to the universal Catholic Church’ he acceded to Ladislas’
request for the renewal of certain privileges granted by his prede-
cessors, and on 13 May of the same year he constituted him Vicar.
General in temporals throughout the Polish possessions. Letters were
sent also to Vitold of Lithuania making him similar concessions.*

One of the reasons why Eudaimonoioannes had found the Pope
so accommodating about the question of the marriages—apart from
Martin’s own personal interest in reuniting the Churches—was in all
probability the account he gave of the readiness of the Greeks to heal
the breach. Back in Constantinople he spoke enthustastically to the
Emperor, the Patriarch and everyone he came in contact with of the
great desire of the Pope and his enfourage for union.> At the Roman
Curia he scems to have spoken of the Grecks in very much the same
way. Certainly he created the general impression that the Emperor,
the Patriarch and the Greeks were ready to submit themselves to

' R. Loenertz, loc. cit. p. 61.

* C. Eubel, Hierarchia catholica medii aevi, 1 (Monaseerii, 1913), p. 375. Cf. G. Mercati,
‘Notizie di Procoro € Demetrio Cidone, etc.” S.T. no. 56 (Citta del Vaticano, 1931),
Pp. 480-2.

3 M.-H. Laurent, O.P., ‘L’activité¢ d’André Chrysobergés O.P. sous le pontificat
de Martin V (1418-31)°, in E.O. xxx1v (1935), p. 423.

4 Raynaldus, ad ansum 1418, xVIII-XX.

5 Syr. 1,7, p. s.
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Rome, on Rome’s conditions. A letter addressed to the University
of Cologne of date 25 March 1416 reports: ‘ Lately there have come
ambassadors from Constantinople. .. promising. . .that the Grecks
themselves will conform to the Roman Church 1n their ntes and
articles of faith.”> Another letter of about the same time to the
Cathedral Chapter of Prague notes that: ‘Yesterday there came to
Constance a solemn embassy of the Emperor of the Greeks and of
the whole clergy of those parts, with full authority or mandate, and
they wish to come to our obedience and to conform themselves to
our faith in everything.’* The same belief is suggested by the despatch
of Philip of Malla to Alfonso of Aragon (17 November 1417):
“Here the opinion prevails that the Greeks will be brought back.”
The impression of the readiness of the Greeks to be “reduced’ to the
Western Church explains the promptness with which, even before
the Council of Constance was ended, Martin V appointed a legate
to Constantinople and his willingness to hold a council in that city,
till he was disillusioned and rendered more cautious by John VIII’s
repudiation of that version of the Greek interest in ecclesiastical
union.

The Greek envoys returned to Constantinople some time after the
end of the Council, bearers of ‘two letters to both Emperors and
another to the Patriarch, extolling the beauty of union and leading
and inciting them to it”. There had been little communication between
Constantinople and the papal court, continues Syropoulus, since
the time of Pope Urban and the Patriarch Nilus, except for a letter
and message carried by Manuel Chrysoloras towards the end of the
reign of the Patriarch Matthew, who had sent a reply.

Thereupon the Emperor and the Patriarch wrote in answer, thanking the
Pope for the zeal he showed for union. They intimated that this would not be
possible except by means of an Oecumenical Council and the careful examina-
tion of the points of difference, without restraint, force or ill-feeling. Then, if by
quotations and evidences from the holy Doctors of the Church it should be
proved and all those in the synod should clearly agree on it and it should be

accepted in complete freedom by all without hesitation, so union would follow.
They wrote that the synod should not take place anywhere except in Constan-

I Marténe-Durand, Thesaurus novus anecdotorum, erc. vol. 11, ¢. 1661,
* Quoted by R. Loenentz, loc. cit. p. 25.
3 H. Finke, op. cit. 1v, p. 154.
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tinople for many noteworthy reasons, and that it was for the Emperor to convene
the synod in accordance with his ancient custom and prerogative, but no one
clse.!

The answers from Constantinople were entrusted to John Bladyn.
terus, the companion of Eudaimonoioannes on the previous legation,
who, as Syropoulus informs us, was from the Morea and knew Latin
and who later became a monk under the name of Joseph. The Pope
in turn replied repeating his former proposals, and other letters from
Constantinople came back in answer.”

By this time Martin V, having left Constance on 16 May and
travelled via Geneva, Turin, Mantua, Ferrara and Forli, had reached
Florence on 26 February 1419, where he stayed till 9 September 1420
when he left for Rome. In Florence he was visited by Theodore
Chrysoberges, bishop of Olene, and Nicholas Eudaimonocioannes.3
[t is recorded that Eudaimonoioannes arrived in Venice from Methone
in April 1419, and also that the city of Venice replied to him and to
‘Hemanuel Filatropino” (Manuel Philanthropinus) on 17 January
1420, both of them legates from Constantinople, the one to the
Pope, the other to Sigismund of Hungary.* It seems more likely
that the second date 1s that of his mission with the Bishop of Olene
to the Pope, for Syropoulus continues: ‘And he [the Pope] wrote

' Syr. 11, 7-8, pp- 5-6. * Syr. 11, 8, p. 6.

3 Eudaimonoioannes died on 1 November 1423: cf. R. Sabbadini (ed.), Carteggio
d&i Giovanni Aurispa (Roma, 1931), p. 8.

4 Jorga, 1, pp. 290, 300. Philanthropinus, after visiting Sigismund in Hungary,
proceeded to Poland where he was in August 1420, then to Lithuania where at the
court of Vitold he met Photius, metropolitan of Kiev. A letter of Jagello to Manuel 11
of the summer of 1420 doubtless refers to this mussion of Philanthropinus, which was
primanly to reconcile Sigismund with Venice, so that they might not be distracted
from their opposition to the Turk. In Jagello’s letter help against the infidel and union
of the Churches ar¢ connected, doubtless no mote than an echo of the words of the
Greek envoy: Tunc enim in defensionem vestram omnibus Christi fidelibus crescet affeccio et
pro vobis facultas dimicandi subsistet, si in unius cultu fidei . . .nobiscum manebitis (O. Halecki,
‘La Byzance’, etc., in Byz. vi1 (1932), p. 55). It is, too, morally certain that Eudai.
monoioannes spoke to the Pope of the political aspect of union. At any rate, on 12 July
1420 Martin V in a Bull addressed to the whole Church granted indulgences to those
who assisted by alms or in person in the crusade he thought Sigismund about to open.
In the event Sigismund was too involved in internal difficulties to undertake any
acuon against the Turk (Raynaldus, ad annum 1420, xxV1).

Whether or not the journey in 1421 of Gilbert of Lannoy as envoy of France and
England to Constantinople via Poland to inquire about the prospects of a crusade was
In consequence of the papal initiative is not known (cf. O. Halecki, ap. cit. pp. 56-7).
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again, agreeing that the council should be held here, and that he
would send a legate to it.”*

Marun V did, in fact, nominate a legate for Greece on 27 March
1420,? and this in consequence of the embassy of Eudaimonoioannes,
for the Pope had decided to satisfy the Emperor’s insistent demand
that the council should be held in Constantinople, and Cardinal
Fonseca was intended to represent the Holy Sec at it.3 This concession
of the Pope is a clear enough indication of his estimation of the Greek
mentality on the question of union. Undoubtedly he thought that
the Grecks were ready and anxious for ‘reduction’ as the Latins
viewed that term, and that their insistence on a council was more of
a formality than anything else.* Had he imagined that they would
expect a re-examination of all the old problems, he would not have
consented to the council being held in Constantinople where the
Gereek prelates would have been preponderant in numbers, still less
to have sent so small a Latin representation as only one cardinal with
his personal suite. It implies, too, that the letters previously sent by
the Emperors and the Patriarch were not so uncompromising as
Syropoulus makes out. The cause of the mistaken notion of the
Roman Curia is not far to seek. It was the general expectation of
ecclesiastical union that pervaded the Council of Constance, and
in particular the unwarranted optimism of the Byzantine envoys.>
There may also have been some of Manuel II's astuteness at work,
in the spirit of the famous advice he 1s supposed to have given to his
son John—to keep the question of unuon always alive, but never to
arrive at any conclusion.®

¥ Syr. 11, 9, p. 7.

* C. Eubel, op. cit. 11, p. 5, n. 11. In Raynaldus (ad annum 1420, 1) the Bull
authorising Cardinal Fonseca for his mission to Spain is addressed to: Dilectissito filio
Petro. . .in Constantinopolitano imperio. . .legato, yet it is dated iv. id. aprilis pontificatus
nostti anno I1. The date is wrong: it should read ‘anno III".

3 The proof of these statements is to be found in the report of Antonio da Massa:
Raynaldus, ad annum 1422, vi-x1v; Mansi, 28, 1063-8, especially 1066B.

4 Cf. Raynaldus, ad annum 1420, XXvIL.

5 Cf. Report of Antonio da Massa and John VIII’s reply—below pp. 34 ff.

6 “My son, really and truly we know the infidel thoroughly well, that they hesitate
a great deal for fear that we should agree and umite with the western Christians. For it
seems to them that, if this should happen, a great evil will befall them on our account

at the hands of the said Westerners. So foster and demand the business of the synod
and especially when you need to intimidate the infidel, but never attempt to put it into
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There was, however, no question of the immediate execution of
the Cardinal’s legation. For one thing, Constantinople was not
ready for it and, with its territories largely overrun by the Turk, could
not easily bring together its hierarchy, still less communicate in a
hurry with the Patriarchates of Alexandria, Antioch and Jerusalem.
Besides, the Byzantne empire was nearly bankrupt and all the
financing of the council was to be done by the Pope, who for his part
was at the moment not much better off, for he was involved in great
expense in trying to recover Rome from the forces of Naples and to
regain other parts of the Papal States including the rebellious Bologna.
So, with the consent of Eudaimonoioannes® lest doubt should be
cast on the sincerity of the nomination of the legate for the Greeks,
Cardinal Fonseca was sent to Spain to try to settle the question of
Benedict XI1I who stll refused to renounce his claims to the papacy.

Meanwhile the Pope sought means to raise funds for the mission
of the Cardinal to Greece and for the expenses of the council to be
held there. On 21 August 1420 he addressed from Florence to the
Acrchbishop of Cologne and all the ecclesiastical dignitaries of that
Province (excepting only cardinals, the Knights Hospitallers of
St John and the Teutonic Knights and their property) a Bull
requiring them to provide 6ooo gold forins, the half by 2 February
1421, the other half by 29 June of the same year. The sole purpose of
the levy was the business of union. The Greek Emperor and the
Patriarch ‘had requested from the A postolic See that a legate be sent
to those parts for negotiations of that kind, through whose means so
holy and desirable a business might be discussed with the same and
brought to a conclusion’; so great indeed was the hope and indication
of their ‘reduction’ that the Pope had determined to take action and
so had nominated Cardinal Fonseca as Legate: but because of wars
he had not the resources to carry the project through, and so he
appealed to others for aid.* On the same day demands for a like sum
were made also to the archbishops of Mainz and Trier, and for
execution, because, as I view our people, they are not fitted for finding a method and
a way of union, agreement and peace, and love and concord, except in terms of their

return (I mean of the Westerners), as we were in the beginning. But that is absolutely
impossible. I almost fear that the schism would grow worse, and then we shall be

left naked before the infidel” (Phr. pp. 177—8)
* Raynaldus, af anmum 1422, x. * E.P. doc. 11; Cecconi, doc. 11
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4000 gold florins to the Bishop of Liége.” From the clergy of the
territories of the Duke of Burgundy also he required certain Tenths
in view of the great expenses that a council would involve.?

The mission, therefore, of Theodore, bishop of Olene, and of
Nicholas Eudaimonoioannes was so far successful that the Pope had
not only agreed to the Greek request that Constantinople should be
the scene of the future council of union and that a papal legate should
be sent to it, but had also taken immediate steps to provide the
financial means to render that possible. Nicholas Eudaimonoioannes
(and presumably also Theodore) returned to report to his principal,
taking with him the future brides of John and Theodore Palaco-
logus.? He carried a letter from the Pope which Syropoulus describes
in these words:

He then wrote again agreeing that the council should be held here and that
he would send a legate to it. Then the Emperor and the Patriarch wrote again
to the Pope on the same matters. In these letters, as in the earlier ones, this among
other things was contained, that, even though it pertained to the Emperor to

summon the synod, yet as the royal revenue from many sources had fallen and
the Roman Chusch and the Latins held imperial islands. ..

here there 1s a lacuna 1n the Greek text, some section being lost, and
what follows is concerned with the embassy of Antonio da Massa,
which occurred later.4 John Bladynterus was probably the bearer of
this answer from the Byzantine Emperor; at any rate steps for his
entertainment were taken by the authoritics of Florence on 10 January
14215 and three days later he was provided by them with a letter of
recommendation to the Pope.®

At this point, however, the Turk stepped 1in. Cardinal Fonseca
was about to set out on his mission (he was already expected in
Constantnople?), when Theodore Chrysoberges wrote to the Pope
that the threat of a Turkish attack on the Byzantine capital rendered
any holding of a council there impossible.® The attack on Constan-

' E.P. docs. 12-14. * Raynaldus, ad annum 1421, xV1.

3 Jorga, 1, pp. 306, 307. 4 Syr. 1, 9, p. 7.

> Jorga, 11, p. 198.

6 G. Millet, Docusmenti sulle relazions delle citta Toscane coll’ Otiente cristianae coi Turchi
(Firenze, 1879), doc. CIil, p. 15§1.

7 Cf. R. Loenettz, loc. ¢it. p. 47, n. 39.

# Raynaldus, ad anmum 1422, x1; Mansi, 28, ro66D. The Cardinal died shortly
afterwards on 21 August 1422.
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tinople was due to a mistake in Greek diplomacy. Mahomet I, with
whom Manuel had on the whole had friendly relations (he even
allowed him on one occasion to pass through Constantinople), died
in the spring of 1421. Manuel was for supporting his son, Murad,
as successor to power, to which in any case Byzantium was pledged
by treaty. But John Palacologus and Demetrius Cantacuzenus
thought that Murad’s uncle and rival, Mustafa, would be more
favourable to their city, so with Manuel’s reluctant consent they aided
his passage from the Peloponnesus towards Adrianople, ignoring
the protest sent by Murad. Mustafa, however, though at first success-
ful, was defeated and killed by his nephew, who had crossed from
Asia in Genoese ships. A belated embassy from Constantinople to
try to patch up the affair resulted only in the imprisonment of the
Greek envoys, and Murad proceeded to besiege the Byzantine capital
on 8 June 1422. A general attack on 22 August failed to carry the
city and on 6 September Murad surprisingly raised the siege, prob-
ably to attend to a threat from a rival that was maturing in Asia.”

The disturbing news of the political situation in the East did not,
however, deter Martin V from trying all ways to carry his project to
completion. As in the existing circumstances the Papal Legate
himself could not be sent, the Pope on 15 June 1422 commissioned
Antonio da Massa, Provincial of the Friars Minor and lacer bishop
of Massa, to go to Constantinople as Apostolic Nuncio to arrange
the details of the coming council.? Fortunately we have the Nuncio’s
own report of what took place, written on 14 November 1422 in
Constantinople and read on 8 November 1423 at the Council of
Siena.3

Antonio, so the report records, reached Constantinople on 10 Sep-
tember and, accompanied by the Veneuan Baillic and a large
number of other notables both Latun and Greek, had an audience
with Manuel II on 16 September to present his credentials. He was
to have explained his mission in another audience, but before that
could be arranged the Emperor had a stroke and lost the power of
speech. Delays inevitably followed but, after some little insistence,

' Phr. pp. 116-20. Cambridge Medieval History, v (Cambridge, 1923), pp. 688 1.
* E.P. doc. 15.
3 Raynaldus, ad asnum 1422, vi-x1v; Mansi, 28, 1063-8.
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the Nuncio was received privately by the co-Basileus John VIII on
15 October and five days later by the Patriarch and his Curia. To
these two he expounded his mission under nine heads.

The first two of these dealt with the Pope’s zcal for union and the
benefits that would fow from it. The third demanded the fulfilment
of the promise made by the Greek envoys, Theodore, bishop of
Olene® and Nicholas Eudaimonoioannes, since these had

proposed and said openly, distinctly and clearly, with no obscurity whatsoever,
to our most holy lord the Pope that it was the will of the most venerable Patri
arch of Constantinople and of the most serene Byzantine Emperors to procure and
arrange without fraud or guile the most holy union of the Greeks with the Latin
Chutch under that faith which the holy Roman Church holds and under
obedience to the same Roman Church, as our lord the Pope proposes in his
Bulls of credence to you, most venerable Patriarch, and to you, most serene
Emperors.. . .So our lord rightly, as a shepherd requires, invites you to keep
your just promise in the holy apostolic faith ete.

The fourth point recorded the nomination of Cardinal Fonscca
as Cardinal Legate to Constantinople because of the above promises.
His mission, however, had been frustrated by the Turkish attack
(fifth point). So the Pope had appointed an Apostolic Nuncio
(sixth point)
to arrange beforehand a gathering of the Greek prelates which should represent
the whole of their Church, to avoid the misfortune that occurred on a previous
occasion, when the representatives of the Emperor of Constantinople in the
Council of Lyons united themselves with the Roman Church and publicly
chanted the Credo in unum Deum as that same Church recites tt, whereas Greece,
as 1s clear, did not wish to abide by that union, declaring, so it is said, that all
that was done without general agreement.

Antonio, thercfore, asked for precise information for the Pope—
namely, ‘when the council should be held, where, composed of what
Greek prelates, and with what exact end in view’.

The seventh point is based on the certainty of the promise. Therefore I ask
if you, most venerable Patriarch and most screne Emperors, purpose to labour
sincerely that the union be made under that faith which the sacrosanct Roman
Church holds and preserves, and under obedience to that same Church, even

¥ Raynaldus and Manst write ‘Slomensis"—a mistake for ‘Olenensis’, for later there
is reference to Theodore, who was bishop of Olene. Cf. G. Mercau, ‘Nouzie’, etc.

pp- 475, 480.
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though some of the Greeks met in the council, because they arc not under your
rule, should not wish to agtee—this precise assurance was given in Florence by
Bishop Theodore and Nicholas Eudaimonoioannes in the names of the most
venerable Patriarch and the most serene Emperor Manuel 11 to our most holy
lord the Pope and to the Legate.

The certainty of help for Constantinople from the King of Aragon
in the event of union was the gist of the eighth point, and the ninth
consisted of the promise of Martin V,

that if the aforesaid union should be brought about in the ways mentioned
above by the most venerable Patriarch and the imperial majesty, our most holy
lord the Pope will straightaway and without any postponement or delay send
a legate with prelates and doctors of theology selected for this special purpose,
as soon as. . .1 shall know the date of this most holy council, the place, adequate
and suitable, of this same gathering of Greek prelates, the purpose for which you
intend to be with us in council, and the manner.

Antonio da Massa was not by nature a very forthright or harsh
person,” and so the straightforward and direct tone of these nine
points must be attributed to the Pope. They certainly demanded a
straight answer, and the Emperor and the Patriarch took time in
formulating their reply. The same report recounts Antonio’s further
relations with them. On 24 October he spoke privately with the
Patriarch about his mission (Syropoulus says that he had at least
three such conversations with the Patriarch?). On the 26th he politely
requested an answer from the Emperor, John VIII. On the 30th he
was received by the Emperor and the Patriarch to discuss the method
of the council. On 1 November a messenger from the Emperor
offered apologics for the delay in answering, as the monarch was
much occupied with questions of war. Finally on 14 November
(the day he wrote his report) he reccived the awaited reply from the
Emperor and the Patriarch.

The letter that John VIII entrusted to Antonio, the Apostolic
Nuncio, to carry to the Pope must have come as a shock and dis.
appointment to Martin V. It answered, indced, all the definite
questions proposed by Antonio, but generally in a negative sense.

To the first part of his message, which in brief was that Nicholas Eudair
monoioannes, Knight, and the reverend Bishop of Olene, Theodore, said in

' Cf. Wadding, Annales Minorum, x (31d ed. Quaracchi, 1952), ad annym 1424, Vi1,

* Syr. u, 10, P. 7.
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our name that we wished for union unconditionally according to the Roman
Church—there was really no need to reply. But, since we did reply in detail to
the envoy himself, from whom Your Holiness will learn everything, we declare
expressly also by our letter that not only did we not give any such commission
to them, but that we never in any way had that in mind to say. What we wrote
in our letters, that and nothing else were our ambassadors empowered to amplify
and elucidate in their words, namely that there should be held a General
Council in accordance with the arrangements and custom of the seven holy
General Councils, and that whatsoever the Holy Spirit might grant towards
peace should be confirmed and held.

The letter then answered the questions about the place, manner and
time of the proposed council. Constantinople should be the site.
All the patriarchs and bishops of Greek provinces should assist, but
at papal expense because of the poverty of the empire. The time
could be only when stable political conditions were restored, unless
meantime the Pope would provide for the defence of Constantinople
and compel his subjects to take part in it. In that case, as soon as a
legate with the necessary powers arrived,

then, the sacred council, mecting according to the seven holy General Councils
and the truth having been sought without conflict, let whatever shall be revealed
by the inspiration of the Holy Spirit in this sacred council be agreeable to both
sides and let every corner of the world concur. So there would be a union of
the Churches, general, unbreakable and strong.”

The reaction in Rome is described by Raynaldus:

It had been the idea of Martin to hold a council in Constantinople as long
as the Greeks, in the lifetime of the Emperor Manuel, declared that they would
accept the faith of the Roman Church. But since they now wanted to discuss
doctrine in an Oecumenical Council in which the schismatics would have the
preponderance as it would be celebrated in Constantinople, many were afraid
that the Catholic position would be endangered, and the Pope sent no legate
or prelates there. The business, therefore, of putting an end to the Greek schism
was drawn out for many years.?

While, however, the negotiations of Antonio da Massa were still

in progress in Constantinople, the Pope had already taken steps to
' Cecconi, doc. 1v; Raynaldus, od awnum 1422, xv; Mansi, 28, 1068-70.
Cf. Syr. 1, 10, p. 7, who, however, is mistaken in saying that Antonio arrived while

the siege of Constantinople was still taking place.
* Raynaldus, ad annum 1422, XV1.
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meet some of the wishes expressed in John’s reply. In a letter dated
8 September he communicated to Manuel II his deep grief at the
danger threatening Constantinople, and especially for the fact that
its enemies had been helped by a *mercenary flect’. To render prompt
help, he had ordered the Knights Hospitallers of St John to use
their base, the island of Rhodes, against the Turk and had appealed
to the Venetians to employ their fleet, and to the Genoese and the
Duke of Milan to withdraw any Genoese ships in the pay of the
Turk. But the best way of getting aid for his country would be for
Manuel to bring back the Eastern Church to union with the West,
when western Christians would consider that they were fighting also
for themselves.” About a month later (9 November) the Pope
renewed the excommunication and other penalties decreed by some
of his predecessors against such as helped or had commerce with the
infidel “so that no one should in any way presume to go in person
to the support of these infidels in opposition to and against Christians
and especially against the city of Constantinople, or in any other way
to lend aid or favour to the detriment of Christians’.?

With a safe-conduct dated 6 November Giacomo Porct was sent
to Constantinople by the Pope “to confirm Manuel in his constancy
and to bring the plans for the abolition of the schism to a happy
issue’; and he may have been the bearer of a letter in which the Pope
requested the kind offices of the Emperor to persuade Theodore,
despot of the Morea, to abide by the treaty lately made with Stephen,
archbishop of Patras (who died on 10 May 14243), though the
comparatively restrained tone of the only reference to union con-
tained in the letter (... Christians, all of whom with the assistance
of God we hope in our day to sece joined by your hand in sincere
union and the true religion’) rather suggests that this despatch was
penned after the reception of the answer from John VIIL# It is not,
however, to be thought that the Pope’s sincere desire to assist the
Greeks to defend their territory had cooled off, for in March 1423
Antonio da Massa was in Venice on his behalf, trying to arrange
an expedition to succour them. The Venetians estimated that ten
vessels would suffice, of which they were ready to furnish three, if

' E.P. doc. 17; Cecconi, doc. III. * Raynaldus, ad ansum 1422, .
3 Eubel, op. ait. 1, p. 394. 4 Raynaldus, od anmum 1422, 11
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the princes would provide the rest.” Presumably the princes did not,
for there is no evidence of any Latin expedition to the East at this
time.

By now five years had almost elapsed since the close of the Council
of Constance and, according to the decree Freguens, another council
was due. It opened in April 1423 at Pavia and the solemn Mass of
the first session was celebrated by Andrew of Poznan. But there were
very few prelates present and the Pope himself remained in Rome.
In the June following, because of an outbreak of the plague in Pavia,
the Council was transferred to Siena, to which place the Pope
promised to go. But the general attitude of the Council was not such
as to encourage him to carry out his proposal. The deputation from
Aragon challenged the validity of his election 1n favour of the successor
of Benedict XIII: the other members were at constant loggerheads
with each other and, if there was any one point on which there was
some general agreement, it was that the Council was superior to the
Pope. However, inthe first session in Siena the report of Antonio da
Massa on his mission to Constantinople and the reply of John VIII
were read, whereupon the Council decided that there was no im/
mediate prospect of progress in the matter of union with the Greeks
and that attention should therefore be concentrated on the reform of
the Church at home.* Towards the end of February (19 February
1424) Basel was chosen as the seat of the next council, and on
26 March there was secretly published a Bull of 26 February
dissolving the Council.3

Meanwhile the political outlook of Constantinople had not notably
improved and, with the prospect of the union of the Church and its
promise of Latin help now less rosy, John VIII determined to go in
person to solicit the aid of the Emperor Sigismund. He left Con-
stantinople on 15 November 14234 and arrived in Venice on
1§ December. On 10 January 1424 the Council of Siena, having
heard that he was so close at hand, decided to advise the Pope to
invite him to the Council, though it is not known whether or not

* Jorga, 1, p. 332. % Cecconi, doc. v; Mansi, 28, 1062D.

3 For the history of the Council, of. H.-L. pp. 610 ff.; L. von Pastor, History of the
Popes, Eng. trans. ed. by F. Antrobus, 1 (6th ed. London, 1938), pp. 238 ff.

4 Phr. p. 121, 5 R. Sabbadini, ap. cit. p. 8, n. 1.
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this was in fact done.” The Venetian Signoria gave its reply to him
on 17 January.> On 9 February he left Milan,3 was at Lodi on
17 March* and wrote from Milan on 3 May to claim some objects
that he had pledged in Venice for 885 forins.5 In August 1424 he
was in Totis in Hungary with Sigismund,® where, according to
what he said later in an address to a meeting of Greek prelates and
officials in Constantinople, the Latin Emperor, exhorting him to
union of the Churches, declared that if he united them he would
cure the Latin Church of many ills, and that he himself would
make him his successor to the Latin crown.” He arrived back in
late October 1424 in Constantinople® without having achieved any
immediate success 1n his enterprise.

Some two years later Byzantine envoys were again at the papal
court. Unfortunately a lacuna in the account of Syropoulus, who
is our only source for this mission, leaves us in ignorance of the
occasion and of the names of the ambassadors. His narrative opens
with the end of a discourse of some Latin personage, possibly the
Pope himself: ‘to bear the labour as best you can, especially as the
Roman Church is the mother and the Eastern the daughter, and the
daughter should come to the mother.” It is clearly both an argument
and an appeal that the Greeks should be willing to hold the council,
so long projected and so often deferred, in Italy. The cardinals
(continues Syropoulus) who had been deputed to treat with the
Greek envoys urged the same thing and seemed to be animated by
a sincere desire for union. They suggested that three representatives
should be appointed on either side who with prayer should seek the
will of God, and their conclusions should be accepted by all. The
Greeks replied that to such a proposal they had no authority to

H.-L. p. 633. * Jorga, 1, p. 352.
3 R. Sabbadini, op. cit. p. 8. 4 Jorga, 1, p. 361.
5 Lambros, 111, p. 353.
8 1. Zhishman, Die Unionsverbandlungen zwischen der orientalischen und romischen Kirche
seit dem Anfange des XV Jabrbunderts bis zum Concil von Ferrara (Wien, 1858), p. 14.
Zhishman puts all this journey in 1425, due to a misreading of the date in Phrantzes
(p. 121 =1 c. 40) and to his not noticing that there is a lacuna in the narrative of
Syropoulus after £§HAfe-x-ortov (11, 12, p. 8), which jumps from the account of the
Emdperor s voyage to some discussion of the Byzantine envoys of 1426 with a group of
cardinals.

7 Syr. 11, 34, p 35. # Phr. p. 122.
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reply: they had come to arrange when the council should be held
in Constantinople, but this was a completely new proposition which
they would have to refer to the Emperor and the Patriarch. They
warned the cardinals, however, of the magnitude of the expense
involved—exaggerating deliberately so as to deter the Latins—300
crosssbowmen and three galleys for the defence of Constantinople
and at least five or six vessels for the transport of the Greeks, as well
as a grant in money to the Patriarch for himself and all his suite—
75,000 florins—to say nothing of the expenses of the Emperor and
his suite, which they left to the generosity of the Pope. The cardinals
consulted with the Pope and took back his reply. In spite of the
enormous expenses of the papal administration, if the Greeks say
50,000 florins, they shall have 75,000; if 75,000, they shall have
100,000—it now rests with the Byzantine Emperor to choose.

When the envoys took their leave of the Pontiff, Martin exhorted
them warmly as Christians, by the love and mercy of God, to prevail
on the Emperor and the Patriarch to hold the Council in Italy.
‘For [ am an old man and I fear that death approaches. If you will
see that the Council is held in my days, union will be achieved well;
but when I am gone, it will not be well done.’

The envoys returned to Constantinople accompanied by Andrew
Chrysoberges sent to represent the Pope. Andrew was given a safe-
conduct dated 10 June 1426* (which indicates that the Greek
embassy to Martin V was earlier in the same year), and certain
privileges and nights in respect of his offices within his own Order.3
Adrrived in Constantinople he tried to set in motion the preliminary
arrangements for a council, claiming that that was what he had been
commissioned to do. At first John VIII was very favourable to the
idea of the council being convened in Italy, which encouraged
Andrew the more. Then the Patriarch visited the Emperor, at that
time in the monastery of Stoudios; whereupon both were inclined
to delay, and the Emperor’s previous enthusiasm for bringing to-
gether those who were to go to the synod noticeably diminished and
he spoke to Andrew showing his change of attitude. The papal
envoy then asked for an answer to the message he had brought from

* Syr 11, 12-13, pp. 8-10. * E.P. doc. 23.
3 M.-H. Laurent, op. cit. pp. 426~32; E.P. doc. 24.
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the Pope, but the Emperor refused to disclose his mind to him,
preferring to make his reply through a messenger of his own choosing.
Andrew was distressed, claiming that as a Greek he had the interests
of Greece at heart, that to know the Emperor’s answer would help
him to fulfil his commission, and that in any case he understood the
Pope’s mind on this matter as no one else. The Emperor, however,
was adamant; he had no need to make known his reply to Andrew,
who had fulfilled his mission in reporting the Pope’s message. And
so Andrew was dismissed.” He was back in Rome before 9 May
1427 when he was empowered to promote to Master of Theology
James Blacden, an English Dominican.?

Martin V, besides his efforts for union with the Greeks, tried in
various other ways to relieve the sufferings resulting from the constant
Turkish raids and invasions. On 8 June 1425 he issued an ex-
communication (renewing the prohibitions of Nicholas IV and
other popes) against all who trafficked in Christian slaves, buying
cheaply Zichi, Rossi, Alani, Mingrelli et Anogasii. . .juxta Graecorum
titum baptizati chiefly in the area of the Crimea, and selling them
dearly to the Turk, to the imminent danger of their being forced to
renounce their faith.3 In that year the Turk devastated Mcthone
(a Venetian colony in the Morea), Cyprus and Rhodes, and 1n the
next Euboea. The Pope, unable to persuade the European princes
to peace in order to unite them against the infidel and render effective
help to Cyprus, did what he could by remitting to the royal ex-
chequer there the revenues of two years dueto the A postolic Camera;?
and, when Philip of Brabant, because of the papal prohibition,
requested permission to make a pilgrimage to the Holy Land, the
Sovereign Pontff replied (1 September 1426) that, as the infidel
gained by such pilgrimages by extorting from the pilgrims money
in taxes and in other ways, he should forego his pious desire and
instead proceed to Rhodes to assist in 1ts defence, for both it and
Cyprus were in imminent danger.5 The blow fell on Cyprus
(1 August 1426), whose king with 20,000 Christian subjects was
taken captive, the fleet from Rhodes arriving too late (12 August)

' Sy 11, 14-15, pp. 10-12. * M.-H. Laurent, op. ¢. p. 432.
3 Raynaldus, o anaum 1425, XX. 4 Jbid. ad annum 1426, XXI1IL.
5 Thid.
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to help. This news affected Martin V very deeply, and he sent a
legate to Milan, Venice and Genoa imploring those Christian cities
to compose their own quarrels and act for the Christian name in
defence of that ravaged island.” As a result of the incessant wars and
raids on territories ranging from Hungary to Cyprus, not to mention
the attacks of corsairs based on Notth Africa on the shipping and the
coastline of the northern Mediterranean, the number of Christian
prisoners 1n Turkish hands was enormous. Martin V tried to help
even these, proclaiming an indulgence for such as would contribute
for their ransom, and he sent the money so collected by his own
messengers to various Turkish potentates, to one of whom, Prosper-
lasserat of Babylonia, he also wrote (23 August 1429) exhorting him
to be humane and merciful to his Christian subjects.>

The Byzantine Emperor waited a long time before he sent his
answer to the proposal made to him by Martin V in 1426. In the
autumn of 1429 he took the occasion of the passing through Con-
stantinople of an envoy from Sigismund returning from a mission
to the Tutk to reassure the Hungarian King that his zeal for union
of the Churches was still lively,3 but he sent no ambassador to the
Pope till the year after. Syropoulus’ narrative gives the impression
that no sooner was Andrew Chrysoberges gone than Mark Jagaris,
the Great Stratopedarch, and Macarius Macros, hegoumenos of the
monastery of the Pantocrator, were despatched with the Emperor’s
teply to the Pope.* But in this he 15 mistaken, for they did not leave
the Byzantine capital ull some time in 1430, about four years after
the departure of Andrew Chrysoberges. Raynaldus under the year
1430 records from a Venetian annalist that ‘this year an envoy of
John, Emperor of Constantinople, arrived in Venice and informed
the Pope that the Emperor would collaborate in an Oecumenical
Council for the establishment of union of the Oriental Church with
the Roman’.5 On 19 July 1430 the Venetians replied to Greek
envoys returning from the Pope,® and Sphrantzes notes that in
August 1430 the envoys named by Syropoulus reached the Pelo-
ponnesus on thewr way back from Pope Martin, when by order of

! Raynaldus, xxv. * Ibid. od annum 1429, XXI.
3 Jorga, 11, p. 253. 4 Syr. 11, 15, p. 12,
5 Ad annum 1430, VILL 6 Jorga, 1, p. 523.
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the Emperor they made Thomas Palaeologus a Despot.” It seems
likely, then, that the Constantinopolitan ambassadors were des-
patched on their mission to the Pope carly in 1430.*

We are fortunate in having a copy of the agreement that they made
with the Pope in the name of their sovereign. It is of great importance,
for it was the basis of all the future negotiations which culminated in
the Council of Florence. Pope Eugenius IV in his Bull of 12 No»
vember 1431 appealed to it as another reason justifying the dissolution
of the Council of Basel:? Andrew Chrysoberges (by then already
archbishop of Rhodes, 4 May 1431) referred to it in his speech to
the Fathers of Basel on 22 August 1432:* John VIII's ambassadors
to Basel in 1434 brought a copy of it with them and produced it
before the Council.5 The text as we have it is very defective and
is perhaps no more than a rough draft. It reads as follows.®

In the name of the Holy Trinity.

In this way it has been agreed by the most blessed Pope Martin V.

That is: the Emperor himself and the Patriarch of Constantinople and the
other three Patriarchs and the prelates (principes sacerdotum) and all personages
( prestantes) should gather in some city, at the choice of the Emperor of the Greeks,
on the seaboard between Calabria and Ancona.

Similarly, that they should come from the kingdoms and dominions which
are subject to the Greek Church and, with God’s help, there should be a synod
with the Latin Church, from every city, peaceful, apostolic, canonical, without
violence or strife, free.

Also: that someone be sent to Constanunople with sufficient means so
that the Patriarchs, prelates and personages, for cach from all, may come to
Constantnople.

Item: that two light galleys and 300 crosssbowmen be sent for the protection
of the city and that the caprains of the galleys and of the cross-bowmen shall be
those whom the Emperor shall command and shall confirm in their loyalty to
himself by oath. And no matter what the means he shall have for the payment
of the galleys and the crosssbowmen, that he should have also more money, so
that, should there happen to occur war because of the infidel, he may hire some

* P. 158: on the same page Sphrantzes also records the death of Macarius from the
plague on 7 January 1431.

* The town of Ancona decreed on 20 April 1430 to entertain gratis ambassadors of
Constantinople on their way to the Pope: V. Makuscev, Monumenta bistorica Slavorum
meridionalium, tom. 1, vol. 1 (Warsaw, 1874), pp. 162-3.

3 E.P. doc. 29. 4 Cecconi, doc. XI.

5 Haller, 1, p. 339. 6 E.P. doc. 26; Cecconi, doc. V1.
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of the citizens and also others, that that house may not be endangered. But the
cross-bowmen should all be either Cretans, or from Taranto, or Catalans, or
others similar.

Item: that four merchant ships be sent for the transport of all who will come
to the synod, namely the Emperor and the Patriarch and all to the number of

700; of these four ships one shall be from Constantinople, but at the expense
of the Church.

Item: that sufficient means be sent for the preparation of these 700 and their
joutney to the place decided on; afterwards that they be furnished with funds
as long as they shall be in Italy and for their return to Constantinople from the
holy Church of the Latins.

If, however, from some obstacle or unexpected chance union should not
follow (may this not be, nor do we easily credit it), still even then that we should
be taken back to Constantinople at the expense of the Latin Church.

Item: when we depart from here, that there come with us someone of note
with moncy with which we can bring together our people at Constantinople.

This agreement must have given great satisfaction to Martin V,
for it included everything he had been striving for over so long a time.
As Andrew of Rhodes said later in his speech at Basel, only one
point remained still to be determined-—the exact city on the Italian
seaboard where the council should be held.*

When the Greek ambassadors, Mark Iagaris and the monk
Macarius Macros, returned to Constantinople, they carried with
them a letter from the Pope,* presumably the agreement outlined
above. It was, however, such a departure from the line followed
hitherto by the court of Constantinople in the negotiations for union
that the Emperor felt the need of advice before he formulated his
reply. Probably, too, he wished to assure himself of the backing of
the politictans and especially of the Church before he finally ratified
the proposal to hold the much-discussed council in Italy and not, as
all the Greeks had been led to expect, in their own capital. With
that purpose in view he convened in his mother’s palace a meeting
of the Patniarch, two metropolitans, two of the officials of the Great
Church, two monks, the imperial counsellors and the three am.
bassadors nominated to carry his answer to Rome—Mark Iagaris,
Macarius Kourounas, hegoumenos of the monastery of Mangana,
and his own secretary Demetrius Angelus Cleidas. Syropoulus

' Ceccond, doc. x1. * Syr. u, 15, p. 12.
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never learnt in detail what was said 1n that conference, but he had
the worst forebodings. He reports the Patriarch as giving vent after
it to gloomy comments—to go to Italy at the expense of the Latins
would be to make themselves slaves, ‘and the slave has to do the will
of his master’: what, too, if the Latins, once the Greeks were in
their power, should refuse the means of sustenance or not provide
for the return journey?’ The theme, that the Latins held back the
means of sustenance in Italy and threatened to withold the means of
return, recurs time and again in the rest of Syropoulus’ Memoirs to
explain and excuse the eventual acceptance of union by the Greeks.
One suspects that it is introduced here more to attune the minds of
his readers to his thesis than to record words which the Patriarch
actually spoke on this occasion.

Before, however, the agreement drawn up by the Pope and the
Byzantine envoys could be put in effect, Martin V died on 20 Feb-
ruary 1431. His reign had brought unity and a temporary peace to
the Church, but it had not solved its greatest problem. He had -
managed to regain Rome and to make it once more inhabitable,
though by means of a nepotism whose consequences would be
seriously felt by his successor. He had created few cardinals, all
deserving of the dignity and some of them of exceptional sanctity
and merit. He had held the Conciliar Movement at bay by sum.
moning Councils at the appropriate times. But he had done nothing
to diminish the power of that Movement and the threat to the papacy
that was inherent in it. Good men everywhere clamoured for reform
in head and members—they were really interested in reform in the
head. Martin made hardly a gesture to meet their demand. In con-
sequence the whole of the reign of his successor will be a fight between
Pope and Council, in which the independence of the papacy will
be the stake. Into that struggle the Greeks will inevitably be drawn.
They will not take an active part, but the right to treat with them
will become a question of exclusive competence and the support of
their presence one of prestige. As a result the union with the Greeks,
which Marun V had pursued with such sincerity and pertinacity
and which, as he died, he thought all but achieved, will hang in the
balance for another seven years.

' Ibid. 11, 16-18, pp. 12-15.
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CHAPTER III

THE COUNCIL OF
BASEL AND THE GREEKS

(1431~7)

ABRIELE CONDULMARO, cardinal of Siena, elected
G pope with the name of Eugenius IV on 3 March 1431,

inherited 2 double bequest from his predecessor Martin V—
the Council of Basel, announced already at the Council of Siena,
and the question of the Greeks. One of his first acts as Pope was to
confirm Giuliano Cesarini, cardinal of S. Angelo, in the two
functions assigned to him by the late Pontiff, as Legate for the sup-
pression of the Hussites and Legate to preside over the new Council.
Cesarini was already in Nuremberg when the Bull of confirmation
reached him, and he judged it of more importance to prosecute the
crusade against the Hussites than to proceed straight to Basel,
especially as by the beginning of March only one abbot and no bishop
had as yet reached that city to take part in the Council. However, on
3 July 1431 he designated John of Ragusa and John Palomar as his
deputies to preside over the Council with full powers in his absence,
while he himself accompanied the army of the crusade. The two
delegates reached Basel on 19 July and proceeded straightaway to
make the necessary arrangements with the magistrates of the city, to
inaugurate the Council and to try to restore peace between the Dukes
of Austria and Burgundy, whose incessant conflicts were disturbing
the neighbourhood and making access to the city dangerous.

The crusade ended in a complete defeat when Cesarini barely
escaped being taken prisoner. With nothing now to hold him in
Germany, he repaired to Basel (9 September 1431). As very few
representatives of princes and universities had as yet arrived, and even
fewer bishops, letters were despatched bidding, under pain of ex-
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communication, those who were entitled to be present to come in
person or by proxy, and at about the same time (17 September)
Jean Beaupére, canon of Besangon, was sent to Eugenius to procure
the Pope’s wholehearted support of the Council, by stressing its
absolute necessity in the interests of faith, peace and the unity of
Christendom, and to urge him to assist at it personally. He was,
also, to invite the Pope to write to Constantinople encouraging the
Emperor to be represented at Basel in the interests of union, and to
the Princes of Poland and Lithuania for the same end.” While
Beaupére took his leisurely way to Rome (he arrived only on 2 Nov.
ember), the Council determined to invite the Czechs (the Hussites)
to the Council and itself to write to the Greeks and to the Princes of
Poland and Lithuania to promote the union of the Ruthenians.
Beaupére, far from reassuring the Pope on the future of the Council,
filled him rather with misgivings by expatiating on the fewness of the
numbers present, the sad state of Basel as itself infected with the
Hussite heresy, and the danger to those who would make the journey
arising from the wars of the Dukes of Austria and Burgundy. The
results of his mission were soon apparent.

On 12 November 1431 Eugenius directed a letter to Cesarini in
which he recounted all the adverse circumstances recorded by Beau-
pére and these, he said, together with considerations of the approach
of winter, of his own very poor health,* and of the fact that an em.
bassy from Constantinople, come to expedite the agreement reached
between Martin V and John VTII, assured him that Bologna would
be most acceptable to the Greeks for a council of union—two
councils meeting simultaneously were impossible—had moved him
to authorise Cesarini to use his discretion to dissolve the Council
of Basel, if it was still in being;'and to announce another council in
a yearand a half’s ume and a further one after ten years.3 Ten cardinals
also signed the letter and the Bull, Quondam alto, that accompanied it.4

Before, however, this Bull was produced at Basel Eugenius

* Haller, 11, p. $50. Another embassy from Basel to Eugenius of the end of December
was instructed to ask the Pope to send envoys to John VIII for the same purpose:
cf. ibid. p. s60.

* In August 1431 Eugenius had had what seems to have been a stroke, which left

him with a paralysed right arm and eye for a long time. Cf. Valois, 1, pp. 110-11
3 Mansi, 29, §61. 4 M.C.1,67; E.P.doc. 21.
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himself, moved by the news of the invitation sent by the Council to
the Hussites which seemed to him to undermine all ecclesiastical
authority in so far as the Hussite heresy had alteady been condemned
at Constance and in several papal pronouncements, promulgated on
18 December a Bull Quoniam alto,* almost identical with that of
12 November, except that it included the invitation to the Hussites
as another ground justifying the dissolution. On the same day the
Pope wrote to Cesarini bidding him promulgate the Bull in the best
way he could and then to quit Basel.

Eugenius had, however, miscalculated the temper of the times.
The reasons he alleged for the dissolution were in the main correct.
There were very few prelates at Basel: there was disorder in the
neighbourhood: the invitation to the Czechs without reference to
the Pope was precipitate and dangerous: the relations with the Greeks
werce most promising and this last consideration weighed heavily with
him. Add that his own state of health and the fighting going on
round Rome lessened his interest in what was happening on the other
side of the Alps. But he did not realise the tragic situation in Ger~
many where the low standard of the clergy cried out for quick reform
if it was to be prevented from becoming the cause of new heresies,
and that the only hope of winning the Hussites, as Cesarini saw
very clearly, now that the crusade had failed so dismally, was by
petsuasion. The members of the Council would not hear of dis-
solution, and to insist on it would produce schism. These and a
number of other considerations, together with an answer to the
grounds alleged by the Pope in favour of dissolution, were developed
at length in a strong letter written by Cardinal Cesarini to the Pope,
urging Eugenius to withold, or at least to defer, his authorisation of
the Bull and to allow the Council to continue.?

The quarrel between the Pope and the Council dragged on for
mote than two years. Sigismund of Hungary, Charles of France,
Philip of Burgundy and Eugenius’ inveterate enemy the Duke of
Milan, and various other princes lent their support to the Council,
and this, together with the threat of dissolution itself, led to an in.

I M.C.11,72; E.P. doc. 31; Cecconi, doc. viI1.
* M.C. 11, 9s5. This letter was written on 13 January 1431 before the Bull of
18 December reached Basel.
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creasc in the number of its members, which by ¢ April 1432 amounted
to eighty-three, including nine bishops and sixteen abbots.® The
Council hardened in its opposition to the Pope. It continued with
considerable success its negotiations with the Bohemians, and in its
deliberations progressed from a simple refusal to be dissolved to an
assertion that, since it received its power directly from Christ (as
was declared at Constance) and ‘was superior even to a pope, 1t could
not be transferred or adjourned even by the Pope (1§ February,
sccond session). It even summoned the Pope to be present in person
or by proxy, otherwise the Council would itself take what measures
it thought fit for the good of the Church (29 April, third session).
On 22 August two papal envoys, Andrew, archbishop of Rhodes,
and John, bishop of Taranto, appeared before the Council and
offered large concessions—that the Council should itself choose
some Italian city where it could continue its activity even before the
expiration of the year and a half stipulated in the Bull Quonsam alto,
and could go on with its work for the pacification of the Bohemians
and the reform of the German clergy. But the Council would not
yield. By September 1432 it could count on fifteen out of the twenty-
one cardinals as openly or sccretly in support,> and at the end of the
year it demanded that the Pope withdraw his Bull of dissolution
within sixty days

More concessions on the part of Eugenius at the beginning of 1433
were equally unavailing, for the Council resented the supposition
implied in the Bulls that it should act dependently on papal authority
(which ran counter to its principle that a pope was subject to a
counci] in matters of faith, the eradication of heresy and the reform
of the Church) and objected that, since the dissolution had not been
withdrawn, it would be held as a valid council only from the date of
its acceptance of those Bulls. On 13 July the Fathers again gave
Eugenius sixty days in which to withdraw the Bull of dissolution,
otherwise he would be held suspended from all papal power both
in spiritualibus et in temporalibus, and further it limited drastically his
powers with regard to the election of prelates and the granting of
benefices. Sigismund, who had been crowned by the Pope on
23 May, urged the Council to moderation, and the Convocation

' Haller, 11, pp. 86-7. * Cf. Valois, 1, pp. 193-S

~
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of Canterbury unanimously acknowledged the Pope’s power of
dissolving and transferring a council.”

Negotiations between Eugenius, Cesarint and Sigismund and the
slow but steady desertion of Eugenius’ supporters resulted in the
Bull Dudum sacrum of 1 August, in which the Pope expressed him-
self as volumus et contentamur that the Council should continue as if
no translation of it had been decreed, which translation was thereby
withdrawn, and declared himself ready to give it full sup port.* But the
Fathers of Basel were not content with volumus et contentamur which
savoured of dependence on the Pope’s beneplacitum, even though the
rest of the Bull was couched in the terms suggested by Cesarini.
They wanted decernimus and finally, on 15 December, after a series of
prolongations of the sixty-day period granted for submission to the
Council’s demands, as the fruit of many negotiations in which even
the faithful Venice urged the Pope to compliance, they got what
they wanted in the new Bull Dudum sacrum,3 and on § February in
the sixteenth session they declared themselves satisfied.*

* The opinion of the English Church is shown by the proceedings of the Convoca-
tion of Canterbury of 7 November-21 December 1433. After long debates the clergy
(1-3 December) reached the conclusion that Eugenius’ dissolution of the Council
was valid; that, if the Council proceeded to elect a new pope, obedience must still be
rendered to Eugenius; and that, if the Council by agreement of the Pope and the Fathers
were lawfully to continue, reinforcements mighe be sent to the already diminished
English delegation; but that the English representatives were, if possible, to avoid the
oath of incorporation. The delegation was to use all its efforts in support of a system
of voting by nations rather than by deputations, and was to oppose any compromise
with the Bohemians in the main points in dispute (E. F. Jacob, The Register of Henry
Chichele, Archbishop of Canterbury 1414-1443, 11 (Oxford, 1945), pp. 242ff.; Mansi,
314, I42-3).

2 M.C. 11, 470. 3 Mansi, 29, 78.

4 On the method of voting in the Council, of. H.-L. pp. 757-8; M. Creighton,
A History of the Papacy during the Reformation, 11 (London, 1882), p. 72; Raynaldus,
ad anpum 1436, virl. All the members of the Council, no matter what their rank,
whether prelates, abbots, doctors, monks or anything else (by 1433 there were some
3000 foreigners in Bascl of whom about o0 were mcorporatcd into the Council
(Valois, 1, p. 311), including (s February 1434) 106 “mitres’ (Haller, 111, p. 82)) were
divided into four Deputations, with in each an equal number of cach of the four
Nations—French, German, Italian, Spanish (the English were not a separate Nadon
at Basel and so had nothing like the influence they had wielded at Constance)—and
all the members had an equal vote. Measures were first discussed in the Deputations
and then, if accepted, confirmed in a general session. The agreement of three Deputa.
tions was sufficient for a measure to be considered approved by the Council.

Cecconi (p. 151) quoting Agostino Patrizio and John Palomar, and Valois basing
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So much had to be said of the general history of the Council of
Basel to provide the background against which were carried on the
negotiations with the Eastern Church for a council of union. When
Martin V died a Greek embassy was already on its way to Rome,
but it turned back from Gallipoli on hearing the news of the Pope’s
death. Syropoulus gives one to believe that hardly had it reached
Constantinople than it set off again for Rome, with the monk
Joasaph, Great Protosyncellus and superior of the monastery of the
Prodromus, substituted for the monk Macarius Kourounas who
refused to take further partin it," and yet arrived back in the Byzantine
capital with letters from the Pope only after the departure of the
envoys of Basel in January 1434.

What, however, happened in fact was that

the Emperor of Constantinople had designated a numerous embassy for the
Supteme Ponuff, but heating that this ¢ity and the whole of the Cutia was in
the throes of an intestine war, he did not consider it safe to send those ambassa-
dors, but thought it better to despatch some other individual to find out whether
the present Pontff nourished the same sentiments for the establishment of union
as his predecessor. That man on arrival leatnt of the Pontiff’s most ardent desire
for the most holy work of union and soon depatted to disclose the Pope’s whole
mind on the matter.3

That tallies with what Eugenius wrote to Cesarini on 12 November
1431, referring to the Emperor’s envoy (in the singular),* who
assured him that the Emperor and the Patriarch would send other

himself on Aeneas Sylvius, conclude (in the words of Valois, 1, p. 313) that ‘Many a
time, among the Fathers who legislated for the whole world, there were to be seen
cooks and grooms. . .or again clerks, vagabond Religious, servants. ..who in the
evening doffed their long [clerical] habits to serve at table or perform other domestic
duties for their masters’. Cf. also the views of Ambrogio Traversari (L. Mehus (ed.),
Ambrosit Traversari. . . latinae epistolae (Firenze, 1759), tom. 11, no. 176).

To pay the expenses of this enormous crowd the Council was guilty of all the abuses
it lamented in the Roman Curia, even to the demanding of oneAifth of the revenues
of all vacant benefices, which was a much greater exaction than papal Annates;
cf. Valois, 1, p. 318.

' Syr. 11, 19, p. 15. The embassy consisted, therefore, now of Mark lagaris, Joasaph
and Demetrius Angelus Cleidas, the Emperor’s secretary.

® Ibid. 1, 21, p. 17.

3 Lerter of Andrew Chrysoberges, O.P. to Ragusa from Rome, 15 October 1431:
M.C.1, 119,

4 M.C. 11, 71: the same phrase is found also in the Bull Quoniam alto of 12 November
1431 (M.C. 11, 68), but that of 18 December 1431 reads (ungrammatically) suum. ..
oratores (M.C. 11 73; E.P. doc. 31), an error corrected in Cecconi, doc. viir. The
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envoys fully empowered to decide on the choice of a city for the
council, ‘just as they were sending to our predecessor before the news
of his death’.? The single messenger from Constantinople was the
Emperor’s secretary, for Andrew of Rhodes in his speech at Basel
of 22 August 1432 mentioned that Eugenius ‘had sent back the
Emperor’s secretary so satisfied that the Emperor had decided to
despatch a numerous embassy to arrange about a place suitable for
the assembly of the council. This presumably would have been done,
if an unexpected event of some sort had not intervened.”

What deterred the Emperor in the first place from sending the
more solemn mission was the fighting in and about Rome from A pril
to September 1431, when the Colonna family tried to retain pos-
session of various papal properties and a large part of the money
collected by Martin V for the council with the Greeks and the pro-
secution of a crusade against the Turks. What occasioned the later
delay 1s indicated so vaguely in Andrew’s discourse that it looks as
if he did not know what it was himself, but one conclusion can
safely be drawn from his words, that the mission had not reached
Rome by August 1432. It was not, however, long before it did
come. In November the Pope appealed to the maritime cities to
facilitate the journey of any Greeks seeking Rome3 and in May 1433
Greek envoys discussed with the Pope and the Emperor Sigismund,
come to the eternal city to be crowned, the project of the council.
The secretary had agreed to Rome, Ancona or Bologna as sites for
the council and from these Bologna had been selected:* the later
deputation insisted on Ancona. No final decision was reached in
the discussions of Eugenius and Sigismund with the Greeks, so in
July 1433 Ciristoforo Garatoni was sent by the Pope to Constantis
nople, where in conversations with the Emperor and the Patriarch it
was agreed that the council with the Greeks should be held in
Constantinople, where a papal legate supported by a group of

Camera Apostolica paid 25 gold florins to Demetrius, orafori imperatoris Constantino.
politani propriis expensis on 9 September 1431 (A. Gottlob, “Aus den Rechnungs-
biichern Eugens IV. zur Geschichte des Florentinums’, p. $6, in Historisches
Jabrbuch, x1v (Miinchen, 1893), pp. 39-66).

' M.C.11,71,68. The Latin word is transmittebant—*were in the process of sending’.

* Cecconi, doc. x1. 3 E.P. doc. 30; Ceccond, doc. xi11.

4 M.C. 11, 71; E.P. doc. 30; Ceccond, doc. vii.
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prelates and theologians would represent the Latin Church in dis-
cussions with the Greek prelates and doctors, and in that way the
question of union be settled. The Emperor of Trebizond concurred
in the arrangement and, as the Patriarch of the Armenians would be
in Constantinople at that time, the project promised well."

The arrangement negotiated by Garatoni was so complete a
reversal of the papal policy of the last decade in regard to the place
of the council with the Greeks, that it must have reflected the in-
structions given to him by Eugenius who sent him. What was the
reason for the change? The Pope himself gave a good one 1n the letter
he wrote to Basel—the expense involved in bringing 700 Grecks to
Europe for an event the issue of which was uncertain. But the real
reason was probably the Pope’s growing isolation. It is true that he
had to some extent bound Sigismund to his side by his crowning of
him on 31 May 1433 and by the fact that he was supporting him to
the extent of so0o0 florins a month. But the other princes were
rallying to Basel and the Duke of Milan, bitterly hostile both to him
and to Sigismund, at about this time was posing as the agent of the
Council to foment an internal strife in Italy that within a short time
would rob Eugenius of nearly all the papal possessions and force his
fAightfrom Rome. Add that the cardinals were deserting him and that
a panic was developing even among the curial officials. Basel would
not hear of any translation of itself to Ttaly. Ttaly in any case was in no
state to receive the Greeks. The papal exchequer was being exhausted
by paying for the war of defence. These were grounds enough for a
change of policy, but another reason that probably counted was the
prestige that would accrue to whichever party, Pope or Council,
managed to accomplish the  reduction’ of the Greeks. Eugeniusat that
time could notachieve this in Italy: he might be able to do so in Con-
stantinople: at least a council in Constantinople would not be in Basel
and would not add to the triumph and insolence of his opponents.?

' E.P. doc. 42; Cecconi, doc. xxxI.

* ‘Il est certain que si le concile elit réussi A ramencr les Grecs dans le giron de
I"Eglise catholique, son prestige sen fiit singuliérement accru; il aurait plus 5t encore
déposé Eugene IV, et, certainement, le pape aurait d{i s’avouer vaincu.” M. Mugnicr,
L'expédition du Concile de Bdle & Constantinaple pour Pynion de I'Eglise grecque ¢ I'Eglise
latine (1437-8) (Paris, 1892): Extract from Bulletin du Comité des Travaux historiques
et scientifigues (1892), p. 3.
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The same ideas ran, no doubt, also in the minds of the Fathers of
Basel. Earlier they had petitioned Eugenius through Beaupére to
write to the Greek Emperor inviting him to attend the Council (it
was to Basel he was to come, not elsewhere) and to send a ‘viaticum’
to him for that purpose, and later (December of the same year)
through their next embassy they had requested him to send a notable
embassy to the Byzantine court. Now, however, they decided to take
the matter in hand themselves. On 2 January 1433 they determined
again to invite the Greeks to come to Basel and to send their
invitation this time by their own messengers. These were Antonio,
bishop of Suda, and Alberto de Crispis who reached Constantinople
in the summer of 1433 and were favourably received by the Emperor
and the Patriarch, who both wrote letters dated 15 October,’ warmly
welcoming the prospect of union (oblivious apparently of any state
of tension between the Pope and the Council; at least they make no
slightest reference to it?), to announce the names of three Greek
ambassadors to the Council, Demetrius Palaeologus Metochites,
Isidore superior of the monastery of St Demetrius, and John Dishy-
patus. Their voyage was ill-starred from the beginning. Furnished
with full powers on 11 November,? they set off but had to repair
back to Constantinople because of a violent storm. On 2 December
Antonio of Suda departed again with a letter of John VIII dated
28 November? and arrived in Basel on 2 May 14345, while Alberto
and the three Greeks set out only in January 1434. Their adventures

T Mansi, 29, 617, 97; Ceccor, doc. Xiv.,

* According to Syropoulus (II 21, p. 17) the envoys from Basel spent their time
in Constantinople vaunting the superiority of the Council, consisting of 700 bishops
and supported by the most powetful princes, chief of whom was Sigismund, over the
Pope, and therefore able to give the Greeks greater assistance. There is probably some
truth in this assertion, for something of the kind was contained in the last article of
their instructions from the Council (Haller, 1, p. 353). There they had, too, contact
with the Armenian bishops John and Isaias, who sent a letter dated 30 September 1433
to Basel {Cecconi, doc. Ciir}—read in plenary session on 30 July 1434—promising
to write to their Patriarch and holding out hope that, as far as the difficult situation of
the dispersed Armenians allowed, their Church would co-operate in the movement
for union.

3 Theiner and Miklosich, Monumenta spectantia ad unionem ecclesiarum graecae et latinae
(Vindobonae, 1872), p. 44. According to this Greek text Demetrius Palaeologus is
called Metochites: in Latin documents he is usually wrongly named Methotides,
e.g. M.C. 11, 756.

4 Cecconi, doc. XVI. 5 Haller, 1, p. 334
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are recounted in a letter of de Crispis to Basel dated from Ulm on
25 June 1434." They met with a severe storm in the Black Sea on
18 January and then continuing their voyage overland by Wallachia
(Rumania) and Hungary, were robbed of everything by bandits:
at Buda they managed to raise money to take them to Ulm where the
Greeks had been commissioned by their sovereign to seek an inter-
view with the Emperor Sigismund. They entered Basel on 12 July.?

The Greek legates were received and lodged at Basel with almost
extravagant honour, and on their being presented to the Council
Cesarini made a long discourse on the blessings of unity and the
relative unimportance of the differences between the two Churches.
For the Greeks Isidore replied in much the same sense a few days
later. Then a commission of the Council, of all its nine cardinals and
some forty others headed by Cesarini, began negotiations with the
Byzantine envoys which resulted in a tentative agreement on the lines
of the convention reached between Martin V and John VIII three
years earlier, which the Greeks had brought with them and pro-
duced before the Council. If the Council were held in Constanti-
nople the Greeks would pay their own expenses and try to assist the
Latin members: if in the West, all expenses should fall on Basel.
The Greek envoys, limited by their instructions, could not accept
Basel as the seat of the council (though they promised to use their
best endeavours in Constantinople in its favour), but only Calabria,
Ancona or other maritime town, Bologna, Milan or some other
city of Italy, or, outside of Italy, Buda in Hungary, Vienna in Austria
or, at the most, Savoy. To one of those cities they promised that the
Emperor, the Patriarch of Constantinople and the other oriental
Patriarchs and bishops would come. Basel was to provide 8oco
ducats for the coming to Constantinople of the Greek prelates, ships
for the journey to and from the council sufficient for the transport of
700 persons to be at Constantinople, with the envoys of the Council
and 15,000 ducats for expenses, within the ten months beginning
from November 1434. Other ships, archers and money were to be
sent for the defence of the Byzantine imperial city. The envoys who
accompanied the ships for the voyage were to announce to the
Emperor the name of the port of arrival in Europe and that of the

' Cecconi, doc. XXVI. * Haller, 11, p. 148.
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city from those named above chosen for the council. All these
conditions should be agreed to by the Pope by Bull and the sove-
reign Ponuff should be present in person or by representative.’ This
convention was solemnly approved in the nineteenth session on
7 September 1434 by the Council of Basel in the decree Sicut pia
mater,® and the three Grecks promised on oath to do their best to
implement it.3 While Simon Fréron was despatched by the Council
to the Pope to obtain his adhercnce, the two lay members of the
Greek mission again visited Sigismund, who had promised them
redress for their losses from the bandits and who in a leiter to
John VIII of late September? and in one to Basel from Ratisbon of
1 October declared his complete satisfaction with the arrangements
made.’

Fréron found the Pope in Florence where he had been received by
the city with great jubilation on 23 June 1434, despite the fact that
he came as an exile from his own city of Rome. For the best part of
a year before that date various enemies, the chief among them being
the Duke of Milan claiming to act in the name of the Council, had
beenharryingthe Papal States, t1ll finally Romeitsclf, reduced to misery
and desperation by the incessant warfare, had revolted. Eugenius
escaped in disguise by a boat down the Tiber and reached Florence
via Ostia, Leghorn and Pisa.® His nephew the Cardinal Treasurer
was not so fortunate and was held a prisoner till the revolt was ended
in October. This was the nadir of Eugenius’ fortunes. From now on
his position began steadily to improve as the cardinals one by one
abandoned the Council to take his side and the papal cities were
recovered through the campaigns of the Condottiero Sforza and
Giovanni Vitelleschi, bishop of Recanati.

Eugenius waited for the arrival from Basel of two other envoys,
the Cardinals. Nicold Albergati and Giovanni Cervantes, beforc
returning a definitive answer to the mission of Fréron, as he explained
in a short, pacific communication to the Council of 20 October.”

' M.C. 11, 753-6. * Ibid. 742,

3 Haller, 1, p. 339, 111, pp. 616~17. 4+ Cecconi, doc. XXXI1I.

5 Ibid. doc. XxxIV.

& An account of Eugenius’ reception at Pisa and of his journey to Florence is

given by A. Traversari, Odoeporicoti {ed. by A. Dini-Traversari, Ambrogio Traversari ¢ i
swoi tempi: Odoeporicon), pp. 132f, 7 E.P. doc. 43; Cecconi, doc. xXxVI.
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His more detailed reply which reached Basel in December by the
hand of Fréron is dated 1§ November 1434." In it he repeats what he
had already written in his letter of 31 August of the history of the
negotiations he had so far had with the Greeks, as a result of which
Garatoni had returned to the Byzantine capital in July 1434 to con.
clude the arrangements, tentatively agreed to during his first mission,
for the holding of the GrecosLatin conferences in Constantinople.
The Pope chided the Fathers mildly for negotiating with the Greeks
without his knowledge, when he had already done so much in that
regard himself, and mentioned that in his view some of the points
of the Basel convention would be difficult, if not impossible, to
implemeént. In any case, it would be a ridiculous situation if the
Council arranged matters in one way and Garatoni in another.
Nevertheless, if the Fathers insisted on following their own way, the
Pope would acquiesce. On the following day Cardinal Orsini,
Eugenius’ most faithful supporter, wrote to Basel a letter of encourage-
ment, praying that the affair of the Greeks would reach a happy
issue.?

What the Pope feared came to pass. Garatoni did, in fact, reach
a firm conclusion with the Greek Emperor and the Patriarch to hold
the discussions in Constantinople. In a letter of 12 November 1434
John VIII acquainted Basel of the fact, though not in any hostile
spirit, because he had been told by Garatoni that the Pope and the
Council were of one will in the matter;3 he announced, too, that he
was sending George and Manuel Dishypatus to represent him with
the Pope. Eugenius received the news in a letter from Garatoni
written in Venice on 21 December* informing him that the two

' E.P. doc. 45; Cecconi, doc. xr11; M.C. 11, 763. * Cecconi, doc. XLIIL

3 Ibid. doc. xr1. There is no nced to accuse Garatoni of duplicity. When he left
Italy in July relations betwcen Eugenius and Basel were peaceful, and the Fathers,
though they had opened negotiations with Constantinople without reference to the
Pope, had not yet made any convention with the Greeks, and by 12 November
Constantinople was still apparently in complete ignorance of the agreement 1n Basel
of 7 Scptember—at least the Emperor’s letter written to the Council itself gives no
indication of any such knowledge. On the other hand the Pope’s letter informing the
Council of Garatoni’s mission was communicated to the Deputations on § September
(M.C. 11, 761).

4 Cecconi, doc. xL1v. The letter is dated Venice 21 December 1434. But Ragusasays
that Garatoni and the Greeks arrived in Venice only towards the end of January 1435
(Haller, 1, p. 342). They arrived in Florence on 21 January 1435 (M.C. 11, 786).
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Greeks with some sixteen others had arrived there with a copy of the
convention signed and sealed by the Emperor and the Patriarch, to
receive the Pope’s confirmation. Garatoni had returned at the Em-
peror’s particular behest without fulfilling another patt of the com.
mission confided to him by the Pope. For Eugenius, like the Fathers
of Basel, was anxious that the much-desired union of the Churches
should include all orientals of whatever place or nte. With this 1n
view, he had appointed Garatoni on 13 July 1434 A postolic Nuncio
to the Orient and in particular to the Armemians whose Patriarch
and bishops he was to visit in person, providing him with letters to
the Armenian Patriarch Constantine VI and to Isaias, Armenian
bishop of Jerusalem.” Tsaias replied to the Pope on 1 November in
a letter full of joy at the prospect of ecclesiastical unity; he had sent
on to his Patriarch the Pope’s letter translated into Armenian, and
hoped that Garatoni, with whom he had had contact on his previous
visit and who now would put before the Pope various considerations
on the part of Isaias, would be able on his next visit 1o Con-
stantinople to fulfil the rest of his mission by visiting the Armenian
Patriarch.?

The success of Garatoni’s mission to Constantinople created an
embarrassing situation which the Pope handled with great prudence.
He resisted the urgent demands of the Greeks (who had written
from Venice to their colleagues accredited to the Council bidding
them to break off negotiations with the Fathers in view of the much
more gratifylng arrangements entered into with the Pope) that he
forthwith confirm the agreement arrived at in Constantinople. "In-
stead he sent to Basel Garatoni and the two Greeks (who would be
the best informed of the opinions of Constantinople and the best
advocates of the convention) with letters dated 22 February 1435
directed to the Council and the papal presidents, that to the presis
dents containing also a copy of the clauses of the agreement.
A ccording to this, the papal legate and his suite of theologians should
set out for Constantinople within a year of the signing of the pact
and meantime the Byzantune Emperor should have gathered together

T E.P. doc. 36; Cecconi, doc. xxvIL * Cecconi, doc. XL.
3 E.P. docs. 48, 47; Cecconi, docs. xuvin, xLvir, M.C. 11, 789, 792. The letter
to the presidents was signed also by seven cardinals.
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at his own expense the prelates of his territories and the other Patrir
archs, and, the discussions beginning within a month of the legate’s
arrival, what was agreed to in free discussion on the basis of the Holy
Scriptures and the Fathers and Doctors should be faithfully promul-
gated and held by both Churches. Though Eugenius recommended
this agreement as the more likely to succeed, he assured the Council
that he would concur in their convention if they insisted on 1t.
When the first intimations reached Basel of the successful negotia,
tions of Garatoni in Constantinople,’ the members of the Council
were astounded that the Pope had presumed to act in an affair which
they already had in hand, and accusations of duplicity against the
three Greek envoys at Basel were heard. These, summoned to explain
the situation, could only reaffirm that they had acted according to
their Instructions., In point of fact, letters addressed to them by the
brothers Dishypatus from Italy failed to reach their destination and
their first communicatton came only on 10 or 12 February.? Gara-
toni with his companions arrived at Basel according to Ragusa in
mid-March, but it was only on § April that he gave his account of
his relations with the Byzantine Emperor and the Patriarch.3 Of
the Greeks Manuel Dishypatus spoke in Latin confirming Garatont’s
words and stressing the many reasons that made Constantunople
more acceptable to the Greeks than any other place as the seat of the
council. The matter was then referred to the Deputations, which
debated for several days and crosssexamined Garatoni. There was a
division of opinion among the Fathers—some stood fast for their
own convention, others were for accepting the Pope’s arrangement,
while sull others would have allowed the Pope’s arrangement pro-
vided that it was made clear that the discussions in Constantnople

* This paragraph (like much of what has gone before) is drawn mainly from Ragusa’s
account of the history of the negotiations with the Greeks (Haller, 1, pp. 350f).
Ragusa is an excellent, if somewhat biased, witness for the events in Basel of this time.
He is not so trustworthy in what he reports of the mission in Constantinople of Alberto
de Crispis and Antonio of Suda, of which he was notan eye-witness. E.g. he affirms
that de Crispis and the three Grecks left Constantinople only in May 1436 (p. 334)
yet de Crispis himself gives the datc as 18 January. So one may doubt if his assertion
that Garatont was in Constantinople and calumniating the Council at the same time
asthose two legates from Basel is well founded—the Emperor, the Patriarch, the Bishop
Isaias do not even hint at it, and Syropoulus affirms the contrary (11, 22, p. 18).

* Mansi, 30, 890; Haller, 1, p. 343. 3 M.C. 11, 786.
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could not 1n any way be called an Oecumenical Council and so
any conclusions arrived at there would not be automatically binding,
but would need the approval of the Council afterwards. The reason
1n the minds of the Fathers for this last condition was clear enough.
They were convinced that they were the sole authority in the Church
and they meantto remain such. A general council at Constantinople
would mean the end of that at Basel (which they would not consider),
for two general councils at once was an impossibility. That a partial
or local council—such would be the nature of the one envisaged in
the Pope’s articles—should decide matters of faith was intrinsically
unsound and a dangerous precedent. It was determined to give the
Greeks the choice between the first way and the third. On 27 April
1435" all the Greek envoys opted for the first way—the way of Basel
—as it always had been and still was an essential condition that the
union should be effected in a General Council, otherwise it stood
no chance of succeeding, and they showed letters to the effect that,
if the Council and the Pope were divided 1n the courses they pro-
posed, the Emperor and the Patriarch of Constantinople elected the
way offered by the Council. Manuel Dishypatus left Basel to return
to Constantinople via Hungary with a letter of the Council dated
30 Apnl 1435. Isidore departed soon after for Venice and in mid-
June the other Greek emissaries followed. Three envoys were ap-
pointed by the Council to go to Constantinople—John of Ragusa,
Heinrich Menger and Simon Fréron (to whom on 23 June the
Council gave privileges with regard to the absolution of sins reserved
to the Pope and a plenary indulgence once in life and once at the
hour of death)—and to go to the Pope two others, Matthieu Meynage
and John Bachenstein, who with Garatoni were to explain at
length the decision of the Council communicated to Eugenius in
a letter of § May.

Though the Pope made no difficulty about accepting the decision
of the Council in regard to the Greek question, the delegation of
Meynage and Bachenstein marked the beginning of another period
of tension between him and the Fathers, for the two envoys were
commissioned to demand his consent to other, and less acceptable,

' M.C. 1, 787; Haller, 111, p. 371. Ragusa reponts the date as 15 May (Haller, 1,
p- 358), which must be a mistake.
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measures that it had taken. Meynage on 14 July informed him that
the Council ‘asked, exhorted and required’ him to support its plan
with all his power and that it proposed to proclaim an indulgence,
like that associated with the crusades, for such as contributed to the
expenses of the Greek affair, and asked him to withdraw all other
similar indulgences.” Bachenstein in a long speech, purporting to
prove the superiority of a General Council over the whole Church,
pope included, and therefore Eugenius’ duty to submit in everything
to the decisions of Basel, acquainted him with the decree of the
twenty-first session of 9 June prohibiting for the future all taxes on
the confirmation of elections to any sort of ecclesiastical office, and
did not disguise his threats of what the Council would do if the Pope
did not impose the observance of the decree on his Curia.?

This decree about the Annates was bound to raisc a storm. Its
execution would have reduced the Pope and the Curia to utter
financial dependence on the Council—and probably was intended
to do so, as well as to reform abuses.3 When it was passed at Basel,

' Ceccont, doc. L. * Mansi, 29, 454.

3 *The Council found it more interesting to war with the Pope than to labour
through the obstacles which lay in the way of a reformation of abuses by those who
benefited by them. Each rank of the hierarchy was willing to reform its neighbours,
but had a great deal to urge in its own defence. In this collision of interests there was
a general agreement that it was good to begin with a reform in the Papacy, as the Pope
was not at Basel to speak for himself. Moreover, the Council had grown inveterate in
its hostility to the Pope. The personal enemies of Eugenius IV flocked to Basel, and
were not to be satisfied with anything short of his entire humiliation. In this they were
aided by the pride of authority which among the less responsible members of the assembly
grew in strength every day, and made them desirous to assert in every way the superiority
of the Council over the Pope’ (M. Creighton, gp. cit. pp. 116-17).

In any case Eugenius was by ne means averse to reform, and char in the head as well
as in the members, otherwise he would not (before his election as Pope) have had
associated with Cesarini for the work of the Council Ragusa, that noted, and indced
notorious, advocate of reform at Siena and afterwards in Rome. In the first months of
his pontificate he promulgated severe edicts against concubinage and abuses in the
chancery with regard to the giving of benefices; on 18 May 1434 he attacked simony;
and in the course of his reign he reformed many religious houses.

As regards the abuses in the conferring of benefices, the object of so much indigna.
tion of the Fathers of Basel and of many others since, in a paper which shows that the
machinery for filling benefices was designed to exclude unworthy candidates to the
benefit of the Church, Professor Barraclough notes by way of introduction: “ Through
the boundless intervention of the Papacy, they (i.e. modern historians) have concluded
the rights of local churchmen were threatened with destruction: the legitimate powers
of the bishops were diminished: the ecclesiastical hierarchy was thrown into confusion.

. . Among the causes which, in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, made a thorough-
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two of the papal presidents, Giovanni of Taranto and Pietro da
Padova (and the English delegates), protested and did not sign it:
of the presidents only Cecsarini accepted 1t. It was the consequence
of the Council’s conviction of being the sole authority in the Church,
and part and parcel of its arrogating to itself all the functions hitherto
performed by pope and papal Curia. They had gradually set up for
themselves all the offices found in the Curia;' they sent numerous
embassies (and a ‘legate « latere’*), and with some success, to arrange
peace between princes; they interfered in local disputes, receiving
appeals from anyone discontented with an adverse judgement in the
papal courts, and sometimes supporting bad causcs mercely because
the Roman Curia had decided otherwise, as in the affair of the
bishopric of Utrecht;? they even gave dispensations for impediments
of marriage—all this in the sacred name of the Council: and now 1n
the name of the Council they were going to grant indulgences. The
truth 1s that an organisation as big and as mulufariously active as the
Church of those days was and had to be, could not carry on without
material means—money—and the Fathers of Bascl found that they
needed it as much as any pope and that they had to use pretty much

going reform ofthe Church, in capite as well as i membris, an urgent necessity, and which
without any doubt paved the way for the outbreak of the Lutheran Schism, none has
been regarded as more powerful, and none more fateful, than the intervention of the
Papacy and of the Roman Curia in the collation of benefices throughout the mediaeval
world.” Yet his conclusion at the end of his own study is: *What causes led to the
decline, what were the chief sources of disorder in the fourteenth and fifteenth century
Church—these are questions which cannot be discussed here, though it may be sug-
gested that the time has come when historians will do well to transfer their attention from
conditions at the centre, in the Papal Cuna and in the official burcaucracy, to con-
ditions in the provincial churches. Onefactis certain. The system of provisions operated
with all the safeguards and impartiality of a system of law, and this very fact is sufficient
reason to maintain that the evils attributed to provisions have been exaggerated.
Legitimate rights were not overridden, legitimate exceptions were not excluded: instead
of a liquid, undefined practice of administrative intervention by the popes, there was
a rigid, balanced, selfoperative system of juridical procedure, in which no room was
left for arbitrariness and caprice, and every safeguard was provided against corruption
and abuse’ (G. Barraclough, ‘The Executors of Papal Provisions in the Canonical
Theory of the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Centuries’, in Acta Congressus Turidici inter.
nationalis. Romae 12—17 November 1934, 111 (Roma, 1936), pp. 113, 152-3).

“It is certain now that much of the contemporary criticism, which historians in the
nineteenth century were accustomed to take at its face value, was unjustified and ex-
aggerated’ (E. F. Jacob, Essays in the Conciliar Epoch, 2nd ed. (Manchester, 1953), p. 23).

1 M.C. 11, 828; Valois, 1, pp. 311-18. * M.C. 1, 652; Haller, u1, p. 88.

3 H.-L. p. 791.
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the same ways as the popeto getit. On 8 August 143 § they ordered
all papal collectorsto send all moneys collected to Basel and to renderan
account of them: on the same day, the very day when they appointed
a commission to judge the conduct of the papal presidents who had
protested against the prohibition of the Annates, they ordered, in
spitc of their own decree of the twenty-first session, that all those who
owed A nnates or similar taxes should pay them o full to the Council.”

The representatives of the Council, Ragusa, Menger and Fréron,
left Basel on 24 June for Venice, where they found the plague raging
and so they awaited ships in Pola where they met Garatoni also en
route for Constantinople. They departed from there probably on
8 August with the returning Greek envoys and rcached Constanu-
nople on 4 September. Their many letters from therec and Ragusa’s
report later delivered to the Council, supplemented by the account
of Syropoulus, furnish a full record of their activities in the Byzantine
capital.> Nine days after their arrival they unfolded their mission to
the Emperor and on the next day to the Patriarch, dividing between
themselves the explanation they had been commissioned to make,
Ragusa stressing that the situation demanded that the division betwcen

the Churches should be settled in a General Council, Menger
explaining why the agreement with the Pope did not meet that

 Mansi, 29, 439; 30, 923.

* Instructions from the Council to its ambassadors, July 1435 (Haller, 1, pp. 364£.);
letter from ambassadors to Council dated Pola 6 August 1435 (Cecconi, doc. LI;
Mansi, 30, 922); speeches of same at the first meeting with the Emperor, Scptcmbcr
1435 (Cecconi, doc. Lv); various docs. and replies given by same to Greeks, October—
November 1435 (Cecconi, docs. LvI-LIX, LXII-LxV; Mansi, 30, 922, 963); letters
from Emperor and Patriarch to Eugenius, November 1435 (Ceccond, docs. LxVI.
LxvID); to Council, November 1435 (Cecconi, docs. Lxvill, LxIX; Mansi, 29, 627,
628); to same, February 1436 (Cecconi, doc. Lxx1v); to same, March 1436 (ibid.
doc. Lxxx); to Menger, November 1435 (Cecconi, docs. LxX, LxXI; Mansi, 29, 649,
650); leer of Menger to Cesarini dated Venice 4 January 1436 (Cecconi, doc.
LxXv; Mansi, 29, 650); letters of Ragusa and Fréron to Council, February-May
1436 (Cecconi, docs. LXXVII-LXXIX, LXXXI; Mansi, 29, 651, 656, 659; Haller,
1, p. 372); letters of Ragusa to Council, dated 16 September 1436 (Haller, 1,
p- 374); dated 17 November 1436 (Cecconi, doc. xcur; Mansi, 29, 661); dated
13 February 1437 (Maller, 1, p. 377); dated 24 July 1437 (Haller, 1, p. 381); dated
4 August 1437 (Haller, 1, p. 382); letter of Emperor to Council, dated 11 February
1437 (Haller, v, p. 182); Ragusa’s report to Council presented on 29 January 1438
(Cecconi, doc. cLxxvIll; Mansi, 314, 248f). Syr. 11, 23, p. 20~111, 6, p. §I.
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requirement, and Fréron advocating Bascl as the most suitable place.
Actther first mecting with a committee appointed by the Emperorand
the Patriarch, they presented four proposals: that the convention agreed
toat Basel should now beratified by Emperor and Patriarch; thata new
date should be fixed for the fulfilment of the agreement as the time
determined on in Bascl had, owing to a variety of circumstances for
which neither side was responsible, already expired; that Bascl should
be agreed to as the place of the combined council; and that on the
Gereck side a start should be made in putting their part into execution.

But no sooner did discussion begin than an unforeseen obstacle
arose. The Grecks objected strongly to the phrasc recens illud Bobe.
morym antiqguumque Graecorum dissidium prorsus extinguere in the short
preamble to the decree Sicut pia mater of the Council, on the grounds
that it set them on a par with the Hussites who were heretics, and
no amount of explanation and perstasion of the Latin envoys that
the preamble was not really of the substance of the decree, that no
insult was intended and that the Greek cnvoys at Basel had raised
no objection when the decrec was discussed and sanctioned on
7 September 1434, could assuage them. They insisted that it be altered,
otherwise they would proceed no further in the business. They raised
another difficulty, too, in that, whercas the decree guaranteed all
expenses for their journey to the chosen place, it made no mention
of securing their return also if no union was realised. That omission,
they insisted, had to be remedied. Besides that, they would not hear
of Basel itself as the scat of the future council, but insisted on one
of the places named in the decree.

The Council’s representatives were in a difficult position for, as
they said, they could not on their own authority change anything in
the decree, passed and scaled by the Council. In the third session of
their meetings with the Greck committee they proposed that they
should write a new preamble to the decree which they would submit
to the Grecks for approval before sending it to Basel for ratification,
and would also suggest to the Council that the guarantee of the safe
return of the Greeks from Europe should either be introduced into the
decree or at least into the safeconduct that the Council was to
provide. As regards the preamble the Greeks decided to draw one
up for themsclves and to declare it only if the new one offered by the
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dclegates were unsatisfactory, but this precaution was unnecessary,
as the amended version met all their requirements.! To assuage the
wounded feclings of the Greeks the new preamble was read to a
large gathering of the foreign residents in and about Constantinople,
brought together for that purpose.?

Further meetings were held to discuss the other provisions of the
decree. The envoys satsfied the Greeks that the Pope agreed to the
arrangements (and according to Syropoulus harried Garatont with
jeers and execrations into testifying to that publicly):3 the time was
fixed as a year from the end of the following May: the decision about
the place of the council was left in abeyance. Finally it was agreed
that one of the representatives of the Council should return to Basel
to seck ratification for all the promises made by the envoys. On
2§ November the three cnvoys drew up a solemn promise to present
the Emperor and the Patriarch as quickly as possible with a docu-
ment scaled with the Council’s scal guaranteeing all the points they
had promised: in another document they declared that the offending
preamble was not meant to reflect on the honour of the Greek Church:

' Syr. 11, 33, p. 34. * Ibid. 11, 38, p. 42.

3 Ibid. 1, 367, pp. 37-9. According to the long account of Ragusa made to the
Council on 29 January 1438 the boot was on the other foot. Ragusa declared that it
was Garatoni who made the Emperor and the Patriarch so insistent on the presence of
the Pope and the choice of a place convenient for him and them, and who sowed
doubts as to the power of the Council to fulfil its obligations. Isidore and Manuel
Dishypatus agreed with him and even Demetrius Palacologus and John Dishypatus
were hesitant. Garatoni was invited to a general meeting, but, as he began to attack
the wording of the decree, it was Ragusa and his associates who broke off proceedings
by asserting that they were sent to deal with the Greeks not with Garatoni.

An account of a more impartial witness 1s to be read in a letter of George Scholatius
written to a pupil of his a short time before Menger's departure, December 1435:
‘Christopher has come to witness that the Pope concurs in the action of the Synod of
Basel of necessity, since we have handled things badly and have abandoned the way
of union which the Pope had at heart and which he proposed last year through Chris
topher, namely that the synod should be held in Constantinople, since, desiting union
at all costs and with all his strength, he wanted it to be effected by the easy, and to us
the safer, and to himself perhaps the most advantageous way. But as we have rejected
this and have chosen the other way of the Synod, that is, that it be effected in the midst
of the Latins and in whatever place that Synod shall choose and even, possibly, on the
far side of the Pillars of Hercules, so as not to seem to be opposed to the whole business,
he concurs meantime in the way he does not approve of. Meanwhile Christopher,
having fulfilled his mission and, while having noted the difficulty about the place,
having all the same artested to the agreement of the Pope, will leave with the ships’

(Schol. 1v (Paris, 1935), pp. 414-15).
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in still other documents of the same date they promised safe-conducts
containing a clause about the return journey even in case of failure
of the forthcoming council to produce unity. On the Greek side the
Emperor delivered on 30 November a chrysobull dated 26 November
promising a faithful implementation by the Greeks of the agreement,
provided the Council accepted the amendments proposed. The
Patriarch made a like pledge. On the same day they both wrote
short letters to Basel in which they urged that the city to be chosen
for the council should be on the seaboard for the sake of the Greeks,
especially the aged and infirm Patriarch, and stressed the essential
need that the Pope ‘because he is head of the Roman and Western
Church’ should be present. They had expressed the same two firm
desires in letters to Eugenius of 11 and 22 November, when they had
also thanked him for the announcement made by Garateni that he
acquiesced in the decision of Basel, and they commissioned Menger
to use every endeavour with the Council to procure Ancona as the
chosen city, both to save exhausting travel for the Greeks and to
facilitate matters for the Pope, whose personal presence was most
desirable—it was the Patriarch who was the more insistent on the
presence of Eugenius. With all these documents Menger left Con-
stantinople on 1 or 2 December and arrived in Venice ‘by the grace
of God alive but not well’ on 2 January 1436."

While Ragusa and his companions were occupied in Constanti-
noplein these negotiations with the Greeks, the good relations between
the Pope and the Council had greatly deteriorated. Instead of
replying directly to the messengers, Meynage and Bachenstein, sent
to him by the Council, Eugenius preferred to make his answer by
his own envoys, which fact was regarded as an insult by the Basel
envoys. For this purpose he appointed Ambrogio Traversari,
General of the Camaldolese, and Antonio di S. Vito who ad-
dressed the Council on 26 August, Traversari defending the supre-
macy of the Holy See over the Council and S. Vito urging the
necessity for the Pope of the Annates. Cesarini replied to refute both
and promised that the Council would deliberate on the advisability
of granting to the Pope some compensation for the loss of revenue.

T Letter from Venice 4 January 1436, Cecconi, doc. LXXV.
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The Papal Legates had gone to Basel without firm instructions.
The instructions were to follow them, but the messengers were held
up by the hostile Duke of Milan, and the delaying tactics of the
Legates whilc they waited only irritated the more the already excited
feelings of the Council. Traversari meanwhile had many talks with
Cesarini whom he was trying to make less hostile to the Pope—and
with some success—and for whom as papal president he begged the
Pope to send the 1000 ducats promised some time before. On
7 October, the instructions having arrived, the envoys put Eugenius’
answer to the message sent through Meynage and Bachenstein before
the Council. The Pope accepted the decree Sicut pia mater of
7 September, but it would be unwise, he said, to publish an indul
gence before it was quite certain that the Greeks would come. If they
did come, then by an indulgence or in some other way the Pope
would co-operate with the Council to defray the expenses and would
certainly send cardinals and prelates and other learned men as his
representatives or even be present in person if the city chosen for the
purpose made that possible. It was not an answer to appease the
Council which would be content with nothing less than the total
submission of the Pope to its demands.

Interesting light is thrown on the spirit of the Council at this time
by some of Traversari’s letters. Writing to Eugenius on 25 September
he asserted that many of the people there, and they the most note-
worthy, were favourable to the Pope,' and (in a letter to Orsini) that
Cesarini’s influence was waning while that of the Archbishops of
Acrles and Lyons was growing. These two, with an eye on the tiara
for themselves,* were intent on effecting the return of the papacy to
France. The Council itsclf was a mob: out of more than 500
members there were barely twenty bishops—the rest were of the lower
clergy or laymen, and ‘the voice of a cook, so to say, has as much
value as that of a bishop or archbishop’, and there ‘whatsoever this
raging mob decrees is ascribed to the Holy Spirit’.3

It was this Council that on 20 January 1436 despatched the

' Trav. no. I5. > Ibid. no. 43.

3 Leuer to Sigismund, ibid. no. 176. That the French were aiming at a return of
the papacy to Avignon was the impression brought back to Constantinople by the
Greek envoys John Dishypatus and Manuel Boullotes in 1437: of. Ragusa’s Report
to the Council, Ceccon, doc, CLXXVIIL, p. DXV.

M
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Avrchbishop of Arles and the Bishop of Liibeck to Florence to give

an ultimatum to the Pope. In a vain attempt at reconciliation Eu-
genius sent Cardinal Albergati and Cardinal Cervantes to Basel to
try to arrange a compromise on the question of the Annates, to fix
a city for the council with the Greeks in accordance with the
expressed wishes of the Byzantine Emperor and the Patriarch and to
offer in the Pope’s name 50,000 florins for the expense of the Greeks
without any indulgence or, if the Fathers insisted on an indulgence,
to agree provided that it was done in Eugenius’ name, sacro approbante
concilio. In spite of generous offers from various cities, Florence
notably and Pavia, with regard to expenses, the Council would not
come to any decision about the site of the council, for it was set on
remaining in Basel, and it answered the Pope’s proposal about the
indulgence by itself proclaiming one in its own name on 14 April
1436 in the 24th general session (when only twenty bishops and
thirteen abbots were present),” at which also the promises made in
Constantinople by Ragusa and his associates to the Greeks were
confirmed. The rupture between Pope and Council was completed
when on 11 May the papal envoys received in public session as the
official answer to their mission a long and bitter tirade against
Eugenius, though this was later slightly modified through the inter-
vention of some of the representatives of the princes.

With this almost savage rejection of his reasonable proposals,
Eugenius lost hope of ever finding a modus vivendi with the Council.
In any case he was now in a stronger position than before. Peace
among the warring States of Italy had restored to him many of his
more northerly possessions and he had regained Rome. The cardinals
who had deserted him when his fortunes were low were beginning to
come back. In Basel the representatives of the princes, even if they
did not defend the principle that a pope is superior to a council, yet
were aghast at the prospect of 2 new schism in the Church, which
the implacable hostility of the Fathers was rapidly making inevitable,
and they urged a greater spirit of conciliation.? Sigismund had

T H L. p- 926.

“In this country (i.e. England) a panticularly dangerous form of heresy was rife. .
Hence the bitter, even passionate, opposition of English delegates to this at Constancc,
and to the renegade Peter Payne at Basel. To English eyes unity and orthodoxy were of
greater significance than reform’ (E. F. Jacob, Essays in the Conciliar Epoch, p. 52).
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already in 143§ departed from Basel in great anger, leaving behind
him ‘asink of iniquity’. Eugenius by his support of René of Anjou
agamst Alfonso V of Aragon for the throne of Naples was in close
and friendly contact with Charles VII of France. So he decided to
turn to the princes for support.

For the information of the internuncios to be sent to the various
courts there was drawn up a long account of the Council’s hostility
to Eugenius from its opening up to 1 June 1436—the Pope’s efforts
for peace; the treatment of his presidents; the question of the A nnates;
the arrogation by the Council to itself of almost all papal functions;
the method of voting which made the meanest cleric equal to a bishop,
of whom there were in any case very few; the question of the Grecks
who were urgent that the Pope be present at the council, yet Basel
delayed fixing the place till they had arrived, etc.’ In this way
Eugenius hoped to gain the support of the princes and, by their
mstructions to their representatives at Basel, a more moderate and
accommodating attitude from the Council. The internuncios were
also to persuade the princes not to permit the execution of a decree
of the Council imposing a collection of Tenths which rumour said
was impending.

With the question of the Annates still unsettled and that of the
indulgence ‘solved’ by the arbitrary acton of the Council, the
Fathers at Basel turned their attention to the problem of the place
for the meeting with the Greeks. In this the French, now steadily
victorious in their war with England and with ever-growing in-
Auence in Europe, played a leading part. Eugenius sent the Arch-
bishop of Crete to Charles VII. A French embassy to the Pope
went first to Basel where to the astonishment of all, since the official
French representatives had always been among the most hostile to
Eugenius, 1t made proposals about a moderate compensation to the
Pope for the loss of the Annates, and proposed three French towns,
Vienne, Avignon and Lyons, for the Greeks. The proposals were
rejected (20 July), owing mainly to German influence. Thereupon
the embassy visited Eugenius and returned to Basel on 27 October

' Raynaldus, ad annum 1436, 11-xv. ‘ The exccution of this mission is to some degree
attested in only one place, and indeed there where it seems the least necessary, namely
in England’ (Haller, 1, p. 137).
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1436 where they found the discussions on the place-question in full
swing.

The city chosen would have not only to provide security and
lodgings for the Greeks, but also to make a loan of 70,000 ducats
down and 15,000 later, on the security of the proceeds of the in-
dulgence and perhaps a mortgage on some Tenths, in return for the
honour—and the commerce—brought by the council. Messengers
went from Basel to solicit replies and various cities sent envoys to
urge their suitability. Soon the chief candidates were reduced to
three—Florence, a city in Venetian territory, a city in Milanese
territory—all of which made generous promises about expenses.
Then the French, the most numerous and by now the most in-
fAuential element in the Council, urged the choice of A vignon, even
though it was not included in the treaty, but (so they said) it was
maritime and on the way to Savoy. Finally Sigismund proposed
Basel, guaranteeing at the same time that he would persuade the
Gereeks, 1n spite of their several previous refusals, to accept the choice.’
Cesarini’s urgent insistence that the convention be strictly adhered
to was ignored (his influence by now was less than that of the
Cardinal of Arles): the Fathers could not bringthemselves to envisage
a council 1n Italy where the Pope in person would be president.?
So, as Avignon was gaining greater and greater support, even
Cesarini advocated Base] as first choice, then Avignon (confident that
the Greeks would reject both), and then Udine, Parma, Florence.’
In the voting of 22 November of the Deputations the order of choice
was Basel, Avignon, Savoy. In the full session of § December the
vote of the Deputations was confirmed. Cesarini and Cervantes,
the two papal presidents (who had both voted for Florence only),
refused to announce the choice. The Cardinal of Arles, though not
a president, did so.* The French and the Germans (and according

to a variety of witnesses a mob of unauthorised voters’) were respon-

' M.C. 11, 906. * M.C. 1, o1r.

3 21 November 1436, M.C. 11, 917; Haller, 1v, p. 340.

* Haller, 1v, pp. 348-60.

5 Ibid. where there is a list of 353 voters out of the 355 who voted. Among them
were three cardinals, two patriarchs, two archbishops, sixteen bishops, one protonotary
and’ twenty-eight abbots; and of these the two cardinal legates, three bishops, the
protonotary and six abbots voted for an Italian town or at least Savoy. Two hundred
and forty-two voted with the Deputations, namely for Basel, Avignon, Savoy.
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sible for the result—the French undoubtedly reflecting the will of
their King Charles VII, in spite of the fact that the French embassy,
to keep up appearances of favouring Eugenius, voted for Florence.

After that, events moved quickly in a whirl of confusion. Sigis-
mund advised the Pope to leave the choice of place to him, but the
Pope refused, and the same Emperor’s proposal of Buda, his capital,
in January 1437 came too late to influence anybody. Avignon had
already at the beginning of November agreed to the conditions
demanded, and a treaty to provide ships had been made with Nicod
de Menthon who was solemnly presented with the Council’s banner
blessed on 19 November. But before the citizens of Avignon were
willing to put down the full sum required they wanted security in
the form of a decree declaring formally for Avignon as the seat of
the council and imposing Tenths which, at least from France and
Savoy, should be guaranteed to come to them. That needed the
permission of the King of France, who showed his real intentions by
giving it without hesitation (17 January). When his letter was read
in the Council on 11 February, the majority wanted straightaway
to put the decree of § December into execution, but yielded tem-
porarily to the objection of the papal party that the Avignonnais
should first furnish all the money stipulated. A protest by John
Dishypatus on 1§ February against such a violation of the treaty with
his Sovereign was rudely put aside as being inspired by the Pope,*
and Dishypatus refused to go with ambassadors from the Council
who, departing on 2§ February en route for Constantinople, were to
pass through Avignon to confirm the agreement.?

This embassy, headed by the Bishop of Liibeck, was the result of
a vote of 23 February (a session when the papal presidents refused
to be present, so Arles took their place) by which it was decided
owing to the pressure of the papal section on the Council that,
if the Avignonnais did not furnish the full amount of 70,000 florins
within thirty days (with another twelve days for the information to
reach Basel) after the departure of the envoys, ‘the Council can and
1s held to proceed to the election of another city for the Oecumenical
Council’.? The embassy to Avignon laboured hard to accomplish

' Cecconi, doc. cvi; M.C. 11, 934, 955.
* Cecconi, doc. cvii; M.C. 11, 937; Haller, v, p. 226. 3 M.C. 11, 936
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its task of persuading the citizens to fulfil the stipulations quickly,
but the arrival there on 2§ March of the papal envoy, the Archbishop
of Crete, en route for the court of Charles VI delayed their efforts, for
he did his best to dissuade the city from accepting the undertaking.
The fortytwo days elapsed with barely half the payment made.
Messengers sent to the Pope on the indulgence question and other
matters returned empty-handed. The Archbishop of Taranto, one
of the papal presidents, came back from Bologna where the Pope
was, the bearer of a letter signed also by six cardinals as well as by
Eugenius rejecting the choices of the Fathers for the projected council
as contrary to the decree, unacceptable to the Greek Emperor and the
Patriarch (according to the testimony of the Greek envoy, Boullotes,
in Florence and the brothers Dishypatus in Basel), and unsuitable
to Eugenius himself.”

On 11 April (that is immediately on the expiry of the time limit
for Avignon) the Archbishop of Taranto demanded, in accordance
with the decree of 23 February, voting for the new site, and Cesarini
and the other papal legate made a like request 1n the general meeting
of 12 April, threatening to do it themselves if the rest would not.
Meanwhile the rumour had reached Basel that the demands would
be satisfied in full by Avignon on 14 April* and strengthened the
resistance of the French party. Three of the heads of the Deputations
stded with the papal presidents and their Deputations split, so that
now there were seven all holding meetings, and the Council was
divided into two factions, each claiming to be the true Council, the
one becausc it was in the majorty, the other because 1t was the
“healthier’ (sanior pars) and true to the provisions of the decree Sicut
pia mater and the agreement with Constantinople. The former
adhered to the pact made with Avignon: the latter on 26 April
passed a resolution that in accordance with the vote of 23 February
it now elected Florence, Udine or some other safe town of those
mentioned 1n the decree, convenient to the Greeks and the Pope,
whichever first furnished the requisite ships and money; and decreed
that no Tenths should be collected before the Greeks arrived; and

' M.C. 1, 952.
* They were, in a sense, but part of the payment was not in gold but in securities,
which was not in accordance with the treaty: of. Haller, 1, p. 156, n. 5.
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that envoys should be sent to Constantinople who should urge the
claims of Basel for the coming council.” Three cardinals and twelve
bishops by name and ‘other bishops, abbots and doctors’ are
mentioned as supporting this resolution.?

Relations by now between the parties were so tense that it was
only the armed watchfulness of the citizens of Basel that prevented
bloodshed. Various efforts to reconcile the differences failed. The
tragedy ended on 7 May when the decrees of both parties were read
stmultancously. The minority decree was shorter and ended first, so
its supporters shouted Placet and intoned the Te Deum, followed
shortly after by the majority.3

Which decree should bear the seal of the Council which Cesarini
held in his keeping? On 14 May it was decided that the question
should be settled by a commission of three, one for and one against
the Pope and a neutral, but the neutral (the Bishop of Burgos)
disappointed the papal supporters by giving his vote to the others.
Six days later three of the more netable members of the papal party,
the bishops of Digne and of Oporto and Nicholas of Cusa, left
Basel quietly with the Greek envoys to carry the minority decree,
authorised by the notaries and signed only by the presidents, to
Eugenius in Bologna. On 13-14 June the Archbishop of Taranto
(quite uselessly) had the bottom of the strong box which held the
scal blown open and sealed the minority document. The fact was
discovered immediately and the decree was found as it was being
smuggled out of the city. Taranto brazenly admitted his guilt, but
escaped the vengeance of the Council by flight (19 July). His secre-
tary, however, was taken and after being violently treated was
imprisoned.

So ended the second act of the drama, with the Council divided
against itself and with 1ts most redoubtable supporter, Cesarini, on
the verge of abandoning 1t. Eugenius had honestly tried to act with
it, in spite of his worst forebodings. He had accepted the Council’s
solution for the Greeks: he had yielded as far as his conscience would
let him as regards the indulgence: had the Fathers provided some
reasonable compensation for the loss of the Annates, he would

' M.C. 1, g60f.; Cecconi, doc. cxviil
* Ceccont, doc. CXIX. 3 M.C. 11, 965
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probably have submitted even there. But he could not and would not
accept the principle “that the pontifical dignity should be subordi-
nated to the Council’, and the Council would be content with
nothing less. It was convinced that it was the supreme authority in
the Church and could legitimately do all that a pope had ever done.
And it was determined to reduce the papacy to such a condition that
it could not resist. That, and the personal hostility of men like
Cardinal d’Aleman, archbishop of Atles, account for its attitude
to Eugenius and for the fact that it spent most of its time in doing
the routine work of a Roman Cuna instead of systematically labout.
ing for the reform of the Church at large. Its determination not to
be transferred to Italy, in spite of—because of-—papal and Greek
insistence, stemmed from 1ts fear that there circumstances would
favour a resurgence of papal prestige and power and would diminish
conciliar supremacy. Its shnll hostility and its blind intransigence
were its undoing, for the one alienated the nobler spirits of its own
fold and alarmed the secular powers, the other robbed the Council
of a redoubtable ally against papal claims.

It has alrcady been mentioned that John Dishypatus was in Basel
in February 1437. To explain his presence there it will be necessary
to return to the story of the Council’s envoys in Constantinople.’
After the departure of Menger at the end of November 1435, little
could be done till the approval of the Council was received for the
proposals he carried, though meantime the Emperor sent word to
the other castern Patriarchs and bishops to prepare themselves for
the coming council. The messengers for this were financed by Ragusa,
but only after some hesitation, especially as they included in their
expenses presents for the prelates they would call on, this being, they
said, the castern custom, though it badly offended Ragusa’s sensc of
propriety. Ragusa saw much of the Patriarch, a Bulgaran like
himself, and was lost in admiration for his simple piety, his sound
sense and his knowledge of mankind—a veneration shared too by
Fréron—and both the envoys were convinced that there was no
greater supporter of the idea of union than this venerable Greck Patri
arch, though there was a general enthusiasm for it among others too.

T For the documents, cf. above p. 63, n. 2.
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No direct news from Basel was received, only rumours by =ht by
ships putting into the port that spoke of the dissolution of the Council
or its reduction to ‘only four or six mitres’, and Ragusa pleaded in
his letters for the speedy despatch of the ratifications sought by
Menger and for information. Fréron died of the plague on 21 July
1436: others of the embassy had died on the voyage out and later.
The documents from Basel arrived on 6 September—the first letters
Ragusa reccived from the Council since his departure—and were
shown straight to the Emperor and the Patriarch, but no letters were
addressed directly to the Byzantines, which distressed them. With
the documents came also accounts of the dissension between the
Pope and the Council, and the Emperor, though he had given orders
that all those who would be going to the future council should be
in Constantinople by March or April next,’ decided to send two
envoys, onc to the Council and one to the Pope, empowered, if they
found that the Fathers would not implement the agreement they
had made, to conclude arrangements with the Pope, if he would
undertake to do so. Once more the Emperor asked Ragusa to pro-
vide the necessary expenses, and it was only the arrival of Garatoni
on about 12 November, who again cast doubts on the bona fides of
the Council and offered to finance a mission to the Pope, that ended
Ragusa’s hesitation and made him supply the s00 Venectian forins
requested for cach of the envoys. These were John Dishypatus and
Manuel Tarchaniotes Boullotes, and their commission is dated
20 November 1436.

It was not till 24 January 1437 that news of the controversy in the
Council over the choice of place and the decision about Avignon
rcached Ragusa in a budget of letters brought by a messenger, who
delivered also copics of the safe-conducts and of the decree as ap-
proved on 24 April. Whereupon the Basel envoy tried to win Greek
approval for the choice of Basel for the council, but no amount of
glosses on the phrase vel alia terra maritima to make it include Avignon

' The Emperor sent Paul Macrocheres to the Patriarchs. Andronicus lagaris went
to Trebizond and Iberia (Georgia) and brought back from Trebizond the Metropolitan
and one envoy, and from Georgia two bishops and one envoy. From Moldo,Wallachia
came the Mettopolitan, an envoy named Neagoe and the Protopapas. Isidore, now

archbishop of Kiev, accompanied by Goudeles, went to Russia to prepare an embassy
from there. Serbia returned no answer (Syr. 111, 2, p. 44).
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availed to overcome the opposition of the Emperor who asserted that
the document should be interpreted as between friends and that the
whole purpose of the naming of the cities in the decree had been to
shorten the journey for the Greeks and not to prolong it.' The
document promulgating the Council’s indulgence Ragusa dared
not publish: it contained too many phrases that would have scan-
dalised the Greeks.

Soon there was another difficulty to be overcome. On 1 March?
the messenger who had gone to the other eastern Patriarchs returned
announcing that the Patriarchs themselves were forbidden by the
Turks to move: they had, however, sent letters appointing proxies
—Antony of Heraclea and Mark Eugenicus, then still a simple monk,
for Alexandria; Joasaph of Ephesus and Gregory, the imperial
confessor, for Antioch; and Dionysius of Sardis and Isidore of Kiev,
both still only monks, for Jerusalem; the naming of whom the Patri-
arch took in bad part as he had not been consulted—but their letters
limited the proxies to agreeing only to what was conformable to the
Scriptures, the Councils and the Greek Fathers, and allowed no
change in anything. To Ragusa this precluded any possibility of
fruitful discussion and common decision, and he insisted with the
Emperor that the letters be changed, not accepting the latter’s defence
that the Patriarchs had acted from ignorance. It was only on 3 April
that the Emperor yielded and not till some time later did he send the
monk Theodosius Antiochus, again at Ragusa’s expense, with a
form of authorisation approved by Ragusa himself, which the Patri-
archs were to copy.? Meanwhile the Emperor set up a commission
to prepare for the coming discussions, appointed Mark Eugenicus
and George Scholarius to study Cabasilas especially and to collect
books, and despatched the monk Athanasius to Athos also to find
appropriate codices; he, however, returned with no books but

! The Emperor wrote also to the Council (11 February 1437) firmly rejecting Base]
for the Council: ‘The aforementioned site of Basel, therefore, as has been said, we
entirely reject” (Haller, v, pp. 183—4).

* So Ragusa in his report, but this date must be an error as he had already in a letter
of 13 February 1437 notified the Council that the Patriarchs were forbidden to move.

3 Thus 1s the statement of Syropoulus (111, 4, p. 47): Ragusa says nothing of having
had any hand in the drawing up of any formula, or of a formula being dictated to the
Patriarchs.
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with two monks, Moses superior of the Laura and Dorotheus of
Vatopedion. About this time Joasaph of Ephesus died and was
succeeded by the monk Mark Eugenicus, and Isidore was consecrated
Archbishop of Kiev and All Russia.

When no further information from the Council had reached Con-
stantinople by the end of May, the date fixed in the decree for the
arrival of the ships to transport the Greeks, Ragusa became an object
of derision. Rumours were rife. About 24 June the Genoese consul
of Damascus declared that in the harbour of Genoa he had seen ships
of the Council being got ready for Constantinople. Towards the
beginning of A ugust letters of John Dishypatus informed the Emperor
and Ragusa that Florence was definitively chosen by the harmonious
vote of Pope and Council, and all, Ragusa and especially the Greeks,
were overwhelmed with joy. But in mid-August news came that
Padua or Udine was to be the seat of the Council and that papal
ships were being got ready in Venice. On 3 September a light ship
arrived with the three papal representatives, the bishops of Corone
(Garatoni, appointed bishop on 27 February 1437), of Digne and
of Oporto, who claimed to represent both Pope and Council. Their
papers, which named Ragusa also as an envoy, were not drawn up
and sealed in the accustomed form of the Council, and Ragusa was
uneasy. But by their account of events, their letters from the presidents
of Basel and their assertion that no ships would come on the part of
the Council so that the only way to the desired union was to use the
papal ships (which arrived a few days later with the archbishop of
Tarentaise and Nicholas of Cusa), Ragusa’s doubts were allayed
and he supported them with the Emperor. Then came the rumour
that the Council’s ships were approaching.

That the papal ships arrived at Constantinople before the feet of
the Council meant that Eugenius had acted quickly. He had left
Florence on 18 A pril 1436 for Bologna which he entered on the 22nd
with eight cardinals (four others came shortly afterwards’), and it
was there that the messengers of the minority of the Council found
him, to acquaint him of their decree. Pierre, bishop of Digne,
Antonio of Oporto and Nicholas of Cusa, accompanted by John

' Muratori, t. xvi1L, pt. 1, Corpus chronicoram Bononiensium, ed. A.. Sorbelli (Bologna,
1924) p. 86.
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Dishypatus and Manuel Boullotes (who had gone to Basel some time
probably in March) were the envoys of the sanfor pars. They had left
Basel on 20 May. On 24 May, in the presence of eight cardinals
and five princely embassies, the two Greeks addressed the Pope in a
general consistory. After briefly recounting the efforts and the good
will for union of their principals, the rejection by the Fathers of
Basel of the convention and their own protests, and their acceptance
of the decree of the minority, they requested that the Sovereign Pontff
would approve and implement that decree, as so many Greeks were
already gathered in Constantinople for the journey westwards that
hesitation or delay would cause them to lose heart.! When, on being
asked, they said that they had power to defer the day of departure of
the Latin ships, at any rate for a short time, the Pope replied very
graciously, promising them a quick and favourable answer.? In
another consistory of 28 May the Greek envoys agreed to prolong the
date of the despatch of the ships from June to mid-July,3 and in sull
another of 20 May Biondo,* the papal secretary, read the minutes of
the Bull, Salvatoris et Dei nostri, that was solemnly promulgated on
the next day, 30 May, the feast of Corpus Christi, by which Eugenius
accepted the decree of the minority.5 The Pope announced his de-
cision to Sigismund and to the kings of France, England and Portugal
in lewters dated 13 June.®

The decision as to where the Council should meet was for the
moment left in abeyance, and on 4 July, in the instrument by which
the Greek envoys formally agreed to the prorogation of the date of
departure tull 15 July, they also accepted that the site of the Council
should be named only on the arrival of the Byzantine prelates in
Iraly. Meanwhile the Pope had arranged for the preparation of four
Venetan galleys at his own expense and on 6 July he appointed his
nephew Antonio Condulmaro as Captain General of them to take
to Constantinople the three ambassadors of the minority of Basel, and

' Cecconi, doc. cxx1v. * Ibid. doc. cxxv.

3 A. Mercati, ‘Due concistori ignorati relativi al Concilio di Firenze’, in L’ Oriente
eristiano e 'Unita delle Chiese, 111 (1938), pp. 33-8. The date had been extended from
the end of May to the end of June at Basel: the official document (Cecconi, doc.
cxxxvil) embodying the further prolongation was signed only on 4 July.

4 Jbid.; Frag. p. 31.

5 E.P. doc. 66; Cecconi, doc. CxxvI. ¢ E.P. doc. 69; Cecconi, doc. CxxxI.
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Mark, archbishop of Tarentaise, and Cristoforo, bishop of Corone,
Nuncios Apostolic'—the former created also Legate a latere*—with
the Greek envoys, and to bring back the Emperor, the Patriarch and
the rest of the Greek company. On the same day the safe-conducts
for the Greeks to come to Italy were delivered. On 7 July Michele
Zeno and Baldassarre Lupari were commissioned to raise the money
necessary for the venture 1n the name of the Church. On 15 July
Eugenius wrote to the Emperor recommending his own envoys and
the three of the Council with whom he associated also Ragusa.3
On the 17th of the same month Dishypatus and Boullotes declared
in the name of the Emperor and the Patriarch that they accepted the
minority as the only true Council and guaranteed that the Emperor,
the Patriarch and the other Greeks would undertake the journey
provided the expedition to fetch them set sail before § August.?
Three days later the Pope, in view of the above declaration, bound
himself (and in case of his death, the College of Cardinals) to
implement fully the decree of Basel, Sicut pia mater,5 and in another
document of the same day empowered the Archbishop of Tarentaise
to forbid under pain of excommunication the legates of the Basel
majority to impede the execution of his commission.® On 9 July
the bishops of Digne, Oporto and Corone left Bologna for Venice
where they took ship on 26 July for Crete. Arrived at Candia on
15 August, they stayed a few days arranging for che hire of archers
to be ready for the bigger ships when they should come, and then,
proceeding by various islands, they reached the outskirts of Con-
stantinople on 3 September and entered the port on the next day.
For the history of what took place in Constantinople in the course

1

15 July 1437: E.P. doc. 83; Cecconi, doc. CxLvII.
15 July 1437: E.P. doc. 84; Cecconi, doc. cxLvIIL.

3 E.P. doc. 82; Cecconi, doc. CxLIX.

4 Cecconi, docs. €L, cL1. On 12 July Eugenius made John Dishypatus one of his
familiares and scutifers, with an annual pension of 1000 Aorins (E.P. doc. 81; Cecconi,
doc. CxLv).

5 E.P. doc. 85; Ceccon, doc. CLIL.

¢ E.P. doc. 86; Cecconi, doc. cLiil. This was clearly meant to be a last resort, for
in his instructions (quoted on this point verbatim by Eugenius himself in his reply to
the envoys of Amadeus of Savoy, 10 February 1438 (E.P. doc. 137), and by John
of Torquemada in a speech before the French King in 1441 (Mansi, 314, 123)) the
Pope bade his Legates not to oppose, but to co-operate with, the Basel envoys if these
proposed to the Greeks for the council some city named in the decree.

2
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of the next three months there is plenty of evidence, for it is described
in greater or less detail by Ragusa’s account delivered to the remnants
at Basel on 29 January 1438—an account that has been largely drawn
upon already in the course of this chapter—by the report made on
1, 3 and 4 February following in the same place by the bishops of
Viseu and Lausanne the ambassadors of Basel to the Byzantine
Emperor, and by the narration of the Bishop of Digne before the
Council in Ferrara on 1 March 1438." On 1§ September Digne and
Corone were received by the Emperor and they exposed in the name
of the Council and the Pope respectively the situation, guaranteed
the complete execution of all the conditions of the agreement made
with the Council and invited the Emperor to fulfil his part of the
convention. On the next day they made a like declaration before
the Patriarch and his Curia in the church of St Sophia. Three
weeks of preparation passed during which (24 September) the
Acrchbishop of Tarentaise and Nicholas of Cusa arrived in three
heavy vessels with the archers and the Despot Constantine whom with
Sphrantzes his secretary they had taken aboard at Carystos (Euboea).?
On 3 October the Heet of Basel arrived with the two bishops of
Viseu and Lausanne and representatives of the French King and of
the Duke of Savoy. Great was Ragusa’s dismay and he feared that,
if the dissension between the Council and the Pope were openly
manifested, such would be the scandal and the disgrace of the Latin
Church in the eyes of the Greeks that all hope of union would be lost.
He hastened to the papal party to get an explanation, interviewed the
Emperor who forbade any fighting between the two Heets, though

* The report of Ragusa—Cecconi, doc. cLxxvIi1; Mansi, 314, 248: the report of
Viseu and Lausanne—Haller, v, pp. 277f; Cecconi, doc. cLxx1x: the Report of
Digne—Frag. pp. sof.; Cecconi, doc. cLxxxvii. Other documents: letter of Basel
envoys to Council dated Constantinople 24 October 1437 (Haller, v, p.263):
instruments of same in protest to Emperor (ibid. p. 262), to citizens of Chios (ibid.
p- 268): letter of member of papal party, Rodrigo, dean of Braga to a friend, dated
Constantinople 13 October 1437 (G. Hofmann, ‘Rodrigo, Dekan von Braga: Kaiser
Johann VIIL Palatologus’, in O.C.P. 1x (1943), pp. 171£.): letter of Garatoni to
Eugenius, dated Constantinople 20 October 1437 (Haller, v, p. 336, n. 2): another
letter (or another version of the same letter) of Garatoni to Eugemus, one from the
papal envoys to Eugenius and one of Garatoni to a member of the papal Curia, all
dated Constantinople 20 October 1437 (G. Mercati, Scritti d’Isidoro il cardinale
Ruteno, S.T. 46, pp. 118-122).

* Phr. p. 164.
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both had arrayed themselves for battle, and who, to preserve the
peace, had the newly arrived vessels anchor near his palace, and
prevailed on the papal Legate to make aformal call on the newcomers
for the preservation of good relations or at least of appearances.” On
4 October the Council’s ambassadors were received by the Emperor.
They offered the cities of Basel, Avignon or somewhere in Savoy,
declared themselves the only true representatives of the Council and
repudiated the pretensions of the minority envoys. The Emperor took
a few days to reply and, when on 8 October he spoke with them
again, 1t was to urge peace between the Pope and the Council.
Meanwhile the papal representatives had been countering the argu-
ments of the emissaries of the majority, but privately with the Emperor
and the Patniarch so as to limit as much as possible the scandal
caused in Greek minds by the division in the Western Church.
For another nine days conferences went on, the Emperor stressing
three points—the three conditions of time, place and the Pope, none
of which, he said, had the Fathers of Basel fulfilled—they were late
in time, they proposed cities not contained in the decree and incon-
venient for both the Greeks and the Pope in spite of his reiterated
insistence on the importance of this, and they were divided from the
Pope who would not be present—and so he was released from any
obligation he had entered into with the Council, but he was willing,
he said, to sail with the combined papal and Basel Beets to the Gulf
of Venice in the hope that either on the way or on arrival agreement
could be reached that would sausfy all parties, Pope, Basel and
himself.

This the envoys from Basel would not hear of—it was too far out

' The leter of Braga adds details which fill out the account of the ambassadors of
Basel. He says that the Emperor sent three times to bid the papal party lay down arms,
which they finally did only when the papal Legate imposed his will through Garaton.
He does not mention Ragusa’s intervention in respect of the courtesy-visit in which
he himself represented the papal envoys, and which ended by his escorting the ame
bassadors of Basel to their lodgings. He adds that these tried to bribe the Emperor and
the Patriarch with 40,000 ducats each to go to Avignon, and that they asserted that the
Duke of Savoy was pope (which is interesting in view of the fact that he actually did
become anti-pope but only on § November 1439), who, being related to nearly all the
princes of Europe, would be a powerful ally, and who was ready to marry his widow~
daughter to the widower-brother of John VIII. The Patriarch was firm for the Pope:
‘Though France, Spain and Germany should all go to Avignon, neither I nor the
Emperor will go there.”
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of their way—and when they saw that their arguments to defend the
majority were not availing, they demanded the restitution of the
8000 ducats of Council money that the Emperor had received from
Ragusa to prepare his party for the journey.' They also asserted that
a herald in the colours of the Duke of Savoy, bearing a budget of
letters and documents of the Basel faction for delivery to the Emperor
and Ragusa in Constanunople, had been tortured and murdered on
the ship bearing the Captain of the papal fleet, Antonio Condul
maro, and the Archbishop of Tarentaise, which he had boarded at
Crete, and they demanded that those responsible should be punished.
To this the Emperor replied that, having heard rumours to that
effect, he had made inquiries and been informed that, while it was
true that such 2 man had been discovered on theship, he had not been
done away with, but, as he was accused of being an enemy of Venice,
he had been sent to that city to be tried. Then for the security of their
persons the two Basel bishops retired to Pera (Ragusa says that an
attempt was made to wrest from him the 3000 ducats remaining to
him of the Council’s money), where they received from the Emperor
a letter for presentation to the Council announcing his decision,* and
where on 30 October in one of the churches they made a solemn
protest before the Bishop of Trebizond against the breaking of the
pact. They had not lost hope, however, that ultimately, if only the
Council would persevere, the Emperor and the Patriarch would
change their minds and go to Basel.

They set sail for their return on 1 November, reached Chios on
8 November, departed again only on 22 November in a Genoese
ship because their own vessels had been confiscated by the islanders
for use against a threatened attack by pirates, and finally arrived at
Basel on 19 January 1438, having meanwhile restored 23,000 ducats
to the deluded citizens of Avignon. It was a sad day for all, but
parucularly for Ragusa,3 a man of single purpose and one of the

' Garatoni in his letter to Eugenius asserted that they demanded also restitution of
the expenses made by the Council for the expedition of its ambassadors to Constant-
nople. In May 1436 the Council claimed that the Fathers had already spent from their
own pockets some 16,000 ducats on the Greeks (M.C. 11, 904).

? Cecconi, doc. cLxvi; M.C. 111, 49.

3 Syropoulus asserts, incredibly, that Ragusa advised both Emperor and Patriarch to
go neither to Basel nor to Italy. He also says that Manuel Dishypartus sent by John to
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staunchest upholders of the Council’s pretensions, who had laboured
in immense difficulties for more than two years, much of the time
alone, only to be disappointed in the end. The degree of the hard-
ships and anxieties he endured can be gauged from his words to the
men of Basel: *Young and beardless you sent me, and behold, you
receive me back an old man, grey-haired and bearded like a Greek.’

Once the ambassadors of Basel had left, the arrangements for the
departure of the papal fleet were not long delayed. At the wish of the
Emperor the sailing was deferred, for added security, to coincide
with that of the Venetian merchant fleet from the Black Sea. The
Patriarch went on board ship on 24 November; the Emperor on the
next day, the feast of St Catherine. The feet sailed on 27 November.

That the Greeks had chosen the papal feet was, of course, a
triumph for the Pope, which came to him at a time when he could
and would use it to press home his advantage against the Council.
In the earlier stages of the struggle between Eugenius and Basel the
Greek question was unimportant. Both of them set up relations with
Constantinople from a genuine desire of Christian unity. In the
beginning the Council invited the Pope to send a mission there, but
later, as the Fathers became more conscious of their own importance,
they despatched their own. Meanwhile John VIII, following up
the negotiatons with Martin V, had approached Eugenius. Gara-
toni’s journeys to Constantinople were the natural consequence, for
the Pope would not have thought it either suitable or necessary to
consult the Council before continuing what his predecessor had
begun, though it may be that his readiness to accept the eastern
capital as the scene of the unionistic meeting was not uninfluenced
by his fears of Basel. However, when he found that the Council
had made other arrangements and was determined to adhere to them,
he gave way readily, fully and genuinely.” He was not using the
Greeks and union as a means to gain an advantage over his adver-
saries. It was the Council 1tself that thrust that opportunity upon
him. Determined to remain in being as the supreme authority in

Sigismund brought back an answer counselling the Greck Emperor not 1o go to Traly
(11, 13, p. 57). The Turkish Emir gave the same advice (ibid. 111, 14, p. 58; Phr.
p- 179).
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the Church and afraid, therefore, to leave their seat of Basel for a city
nearer to papal influence, the Fathers tried in defiance of the agree-
ment to force the Greeks to come to them. That action brought the
growing division within the Council to a head and drove the more
moderate section into Eugenius’ arms. He was not slow to see his
opportunity. He approved the claim of the sanior pars to be the true
Council, not only promised but also took immediate action to
implement the convention Sicut pia mater, and by his Bull transferring
the Council to Ferrara countered the reaction of Basel. It was natural
that of the two feets the Greeks should have preferred the Pope’s.
In spite of Latin conciliar theory, they had no doubt that the only
head of the Latin Church was the Pope; their tradition of negotia-
tions with the West had been with popes; and Eugenius promised
the fulfilment of the agreement arrived at with Basel, which in fact
was no more than what had been arranged with his predecessor,
Martin V. The presence of the Greeks in Ferrara would add weight
and prestige to the Council of Eugenius, but, though a blow to the
pretensions of the remnant at Basel, it would only intensify its op-
position, and increase in the western princes the tendency towards
independence of both claimants to supreme ceclesiastical authority.
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CHAPTER IV

THE GREEKS ARRIVE AND
DISCOURSE ON PURGATORY

defended by many strong, high towers. This wall runs from three angles
[thus making a triangle] and from angle to angle the length of the wall
is six miles, so that the whole outer circuit measures 18 mules, to wit six leagues.
On two sides this wall faces the Sea [of Marmora and the Golden Horn], on
the third side 1t is of the land. At the angle furthest from the Sea [of Marmora,
and overlooking the Golden Horn] is a height on which is built the imperial
Palace [of Blachernae]. Though the circuit of the walls is thus very great and
the area spacious, the city is not throughout very densely populated. There are
within its compass many hills and valleys where corn fields and orchards are
found, and among the orchardlands there are hamlets and suburbs which are
all included within the city limits. The most populous quarter of the city is
along the lower level by the shore towards the point that juts into the Sea [of
Marmora]. The trading quarter of the city is down by the gates which open on
the strand [of the Golden Horn] and which are facing the opposite gates which
pertain to the city of Pera, for it is here that the galleys and smaller vessels come
to port to discharge their cargoes, and here by the strand it is that the people of
Pera meet those of Constantinople and transact their business and commerce.
Everywhere throughout the city there are many great palaces, churches and
monasteries, but most of them are now in ruin.® It is however plain that in
former times when Constantinople was in its pristinc state it was one of the
noblest capitals of the world. They say even now that it holds within its circuit
3000 churches, great and small. Within its area are many fountains and wells
of sweet water.. . . Along the strand by the waterside [of the Golden Hon]
outside the city wall and facing Pera there are innumerable warehouses and shops
for the sale of all sorts of goods. Hither the traders bring and store their merchan.
dise that comes in from overseas. Constantinople, as has been said, stands by

T HE city of Constantinople is enclosed within a stout and lofty wall,

' “The Emperot’s palace must have been very magnificent, but now it is in such a
state that both it and the city show well the evils which the people have suffered and still
endure.. .. Inside, the house 1s badly kept, except certain parts where the Emperor,
the Empress and attendants can live, although cramped for space” (Pero Tafur,
Travels and Adventures 1435-1439, ed. Malcolm Lewis (London, 1926), p. 14$).
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the Sea [of Marmora] and two sides of the triangle of its plan lie along the shore.
Facing Constantinople lies the city of Pera, and in between the two 1s the port
[of the Golden Horn].. ..

The city of Pera is but a small township, but very populous. It is surrounded
by a strong wall and has excellent houses, all well built. Tt is occupied by the
Genoese, and is of the lordship of Genoa, being inhabited by Greeks as well as
Genoese. The houses of the town stand on the seasshore and lie so close on the
sea that between its waters and the town wall there is barely the space of the
width of a carrack’s deck; but 1t may be a little more.. . .

The arm of the sea [which is the Golden Horn] that runs up dividing Pera
from Constantinople is nartow, being less than a mie which 1s a thitd of a
league across at the mouth. This is esteerrad the port for both cities, and it is,
I opine, the most safe and the finest harbour in the whole world. 1t is a safe
anchorage from the winds of all four quarters, and any ships that come in there
are safe too from the attack of all enemy ships, for these can in no wise come to
them, provided of coutse that Pera and Constantinople are of one mind to hold
the port. The water here is clear and deep so that the largest ships of the navy, in-
deed great carracks, can come up close to the city wall, when a gangway may be
thrown across to the shore, as though i1t were but a boat landing from a galley.
Opposite Constantinople [across the Bosphorus] lies the Turkish territory, and
quite near, for here over against the city stretches a plain fronting on the Sea
[of Marmora] which is called Skutari. Many barks constantly pass daily going
from Constantinople and Pera across to the Turkish country at Skutari. [The
Golden Horn already described] runs up in a long curve for the distance of half
a league all along dividing Pera from Constantinople.

.. .Pera however does none the less stll belong to the Emperor: it is his
coinage which alone is current there, and he has jurisdiction over the whole
township.

The Genoese call their town Pera, but the Greeks name it Galata.. ..t

Such was the city of Constantinople as 1t was seen by a traveller
in 1403. It would not have changed much in the ensuing thirty-five
years. In the early 1430°s John VIII had repaired some of its forti-
fications, cleaning out the decp moat that protected its landward
front and building a couple of towers. But the plague of 1435 that
ravaged the city had no doubt speeded up the process of decadence
and decay that had been going on for a century. Vineyards, orchards,
fields had replaced inhabited areas: oncefine buildings were deserted
and lay in ruins: the population diminished tll on the eve of the

' Clavijo, Embassy to Tamerlante 1403-1406, ed. Guy le Strange (London, 1928),
pp. 87f%
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siege of 1453 it was only some 40,000-§0,000. Scholarius lamented
that it was “in these most recent days povertystricken and for the
most part uninhabited’, “a city of ruins’.?

The state of the Byzantine empire was even worse. Isidore, to
persuade the Fathers of Basel of the importance of the union with the
Greeks, had in his specch before the Council of July 1434 dilated on
the numbers of places and peoples subject to the Church of Con-
stantinople.3 But most of them were no longer subject to the power
of Constantinople. The empire had lost all its old possessions in
Asia and the Balkans to the Turk, and the Ionian Islands and most
of the islands of the Aegean to Italian cities on which, since they
dominated the commerce of the eastern Mediterranean, the Byzantine
capital depended for its food supplies.* It retained some of the
hinterland of the city itself,5 the western areas of northern Greece and
most of the Morea.® But even these it held by paying tribute to the
Turk, and the many journeys of Sphrantzes to Murad II’s represen-
tative in Greece, to win approval for some action of his Despot or
to forestall reprisals, show how insccure was the Greek hold on the
Peloponnesus. What conquest by the Turk involved was described
by John of Ragusa in a letter to Basel—the piles of Christan heads

' A. M. Schneider, ‘Die Bevolkerung Konstantinopels im XV. Jahrhundert’,
Pp- 2357, in Nachrichten der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Gattingen: Phil..Hist. Klasse
(1949), pp- 233-44. L. Mohler, Kardinal Bessarion (Paderborn, 1923) pP. 272 assesses
the population at 30,0003 §,000: N. B. Tomadakis (in a communication made to the
Byzantine Congress at Salonica (1953)) at 70,000.

* Schol. 1, p. 287; 1v, p. 405. “The city [Constantinople] is sparsely populated.
It is divided into districts, that by the sea-shore having the largest population. The
inhabitants are not well clad, but sad and poor, showing the hardship of their lot
which 1is, however, not so bad as they deserve, for they are a vicious people, steeped in
sin’ (Pero Tafur, op. cit. p. 146).

3 Lambros, 1, pp. 1-14 (entitled as an anonymous speech at Florence); Ceccon,
doc. xx1x.

4 Cf. G. I. Brdtianu, ‘La question de 'approvisionnement de Constantinople a
'époque byzantine ct ottomane’; in Byz. v (1929/30), pp.83-107; V1 (1931),
PP- 641-56.

5 Bertrandon de la Broquiére noted that Byzantine tetritory extended only a two
days’ ride from the city wall, with few villages and those miserably poor: quoted by
A.A.S.: “Eva Tafeidt ot Opdkn oT& 14337, p. 118, in Opokik, 1 (1925),
pp 116—23

b Cf. “Yméuvnua mepi EAARVIKGY Ywpddy xal éKK?\'qclwv kard oV B adddva
(Terre bodierne Grecorum et dominia secularia et spiritualia, written 30 July 1437) in N.E.

VIl (1910), pp. 360—71.
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paraded in triumph; the thousands of slaves despatched to all
quarters of the Turkish empire, their sufferings, their degradation,
their despair; the arrogance of the conqueror and his confidence that
before long he would have overrun other large tracts of Christian
territory.!

It was largely because he had all these facts constantly thrust on
his notice that John VIII was so set on the project of union.* His
only hope of saving his capital from the fate that had befallen most
of the rest of his empire lay in the West, to persuade the Christian
princes that immediate action was needed if there was to be preserved
that last bulwark of Christianity in the East, which was at the same
time the first line of defence of the western kingdoms. There was no
one in the West whose influence could compare with that of the
Pape. If help were to be forthcoming, it would be because a pope
had roused the Christian world to an appreciation of the emergency,
for only the Pope seemed to realise the duty of succouring Christians
just because they were Christians and the terrible danger to Europe
if the Turk were allowed to triumph in the East unmolested.3 That
was the chief reason why John chose Eugenius before Basel. The
Pope was the head of the Latin Church: the princes had opposed the
Fathers in their various savage measures to degrade the papacy.
John hoped that the princes would all be represented at the Pope’s
Council and that there, with concord between the Churches
achieved, he could secure from them, with the Pope’s ardent support,
a quick and strong defence for his capital. So he set sail from Con-
stantinople on 27 November 1437.

The light ship that had carried the first comers of the papal party

to Constantinople sailed for Italy on 19 November with an advance

* 17 November 1436; Cecconi, doc. xciiL.

? Which is not the same thing as saying that this was his only motive. John, like
all other Christians of the time, sincerely believed that the schism dividing East and
West was a tragedy and that to try to heal that breach was worthy of a man’s best
endeavours. Cf. J. Gill, *John Palaeologus VIII. A Character Study’, in *Silloge
Bizantina’ in onore di Silvio Gruseppe Mercati (Roma, 1957), pp. 152-70.

3 ‘In justice also it must be admitted that no princes recognised so completely as did
a long series of popes the expediency and duty of defending Constantinople as the first
outwork of the defences of Europe against the forces of Asia, and of aiding its emperors
in their efforts to check the Turkish invasion. They were the prime ministers of Western
Europe and almost the only persons who regarded the Eastern question as statesmen’
(E. Pears, The Destruction of the Greek Empire, etc. (London, 1903), pp. 115-16).
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party of both Latins and Greeks.* On 24 November, Sunday, the
Patriarch with his clerics proceeded in procession to the quay and
went on board the captain’s galley. The Emperor joined his own
ship the next day. For two days the convoy remained in harbour
to accustom the passengers to the motion of the water and then, on
Wednesday, 27 November, in convoy with three Venetian merchant
ships and a Florentine vessel they started their journey, escorted for
the first day out by a “great company’ including the visitor Pero
Tafur.?

Syropoulus describes the voyage in great detail. There were calms
when neither oars nor sails helped them to make any notable pro-
gress. There were storms that either drove them forward at a great
pace, or forced them back to their starting point, or kept them
harbour-bound awaiting better weather. There were accidents of
various sorts, the breaking of booms, the fraying of stays, and a
collision that damaged the oarage of one vessel. The Emperor landed
at Cenchreae and traversed the Morea on horseback, visiting his
brothers on the way. The ships sailed round the Peloponnesus and
on 21 December arrived at Methone, where they were well received
by the Latin clergy. There they passed Christmas and left only on
3 January to join the Emperor at Navarino where he had arrived

' A.C.A. doc. 15. It reached Venice before 30 December 1437: of. E.P. doc.
108.

* Pero Tafur, op. cit. p. 125. The description of the rest of the voyage is from Syr.
1v, 1-10, pp. 67-80.

With the Patriarch there went the Metropolitan of Heraclea, Antony; of Ephesus,
Mark Eugenicus; of Monembasia, Dositheus; of Trebizond, Dorotheus; of Cyzicus
(Artaki), Metrophanes; of Sardis, Dionysius; of Nicaea, Bessarion; of Nicomedia,
Macarius; of Lacedaetnon, Methodius; of Tornovus (Tornovo in Bulgaria), Ignatius;
of Mitylene, Dorotheus; of Moldo/Wallachla, Damianus; of Amasia, Joasaph; of
Rhodes, Nathanael; of Dristra (Silistria), Callistus; of Melnik (in Bulgaria), Matthew;
of Ganos (Thrace), Gennadius; of Drama (Macedonia), Dositheus; of Anchialus (in
Bulgaria), Sophronius; of Stauropolis, Isaias; a Metropolitan and a bishop of Georgia;
six of the higher officials of the great church—deacons—and tmost of the minor ones;
three superiors of monasteries and four other monks representing monasteries either of
Constantinople or Mt Athos; the Protopapas Constantinus; ‘with cantors and nearly
all the clergy and some monks’ (Syr. 111, 15, p. §9). With the Patriarch or the Emperor
there went too Gregory Mammas, supenor of the monastery of Pantocrator and (later)
Protosyncellus, and the laymen George Scholarius, George Gemustus Plethon and
George Amiroutzes. Isidore, metropohitan of Kiev and All Russia, with Avrami,

bishop of Susdal, came later by land. A chronicon breve of Methone says that 29 metro-
pohtans and bishops accompanied the Patriarch (Lambros, 111, p. 362).
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on 27 December.” In Corfu, where they celebrated the feast of
St Antony (17 January), they stayed eleven days entertained by the
Latin clergy.* After a journey in a severc storm the ships came in
one aftcr the other to Curzola (off the Dalmatian coast) where the
Emperor and the Patriarch met for the first time since their departure
from Constantinople, doubtless to discuss the news that met them
there, that Sigismund of Hungary was dead and that the Pope awaited
them in Ferrara. Then with various stops of several days (the
Emperor was 1ll on an uninhabited island for two days) they pro-
ceeded via Zara and Rovigno to Parenzo on the cast side of the
Gulf of Venice and nearly opposite the city of Venice, which they
reached on 4 February. From there the Emperor sent Dishypatus
on ahead in a Venetian guard.ship which they encountered to
inform the Signoria of his arrival, and the Patriarch, not to be
outdone, despatched Syropoulus with him.

The journey had so far taken several days more than two months,
a long time even for those days, and the Popc was responsible for the
hire of the vessels from July till they docked in Venice.3 Even so it
was a hard and wearying voyage for landsmen of the age of the
Patriarch. The ships they travelled in were merchant vessels, over-
crowded because with the Greeks there were on board the crews,
some slaves and, apparently, a certain amount of merchandise.?
Though they were, indeed, the largest of their day, yet they were
small—some forty to fifty yards long by five to six broad and of shallow
draught—and must have reflected every motion of wind and wave.
The Patriarch went on shore, lodged either in a tent or a mansion as
circumstances allowed, whenever he could, but many were the nights
spent at sea. The Bishop of Digne summed up the hardships of the

* Lambros, 111, p. 362.

* The journcy of the Grecks seemed so leisurely to the Corfiotes that a joke was
current: Question. How many quails would you eat? Auswer. If someone clse pays
and gives them me, ten; but if T am the one to pay and eat, two, and from them I’d give
the heads and feet to my slave (Syr. 1v, 9, p. 78).

3 The Pope, before he learnt of the delay in leaving Constantinople, had expected
the Greeks to arrive on about 1 November 1437; cf. lewers to prelates, courts and
umiversities, e.g. that to Atchbishop Chichele of Canterbury (E.P. doc. 90). The
Signoria of Venice, after it was aware of the day of departure from Constantinople,
forecast the arrival for about Christmas; cf. letter to Cesarini (4.C.A. doc. 15).

4 Syr. 1v, 6, p. 75.
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voyage 1n his report on his mission delivered at Ferrara on 1 March
I1438:

But indeed in this navigation and throughout the whole voyage one reason
was abundantly clear why there was unwillingness to cross the Tyrrhenian sea
towards Avignon, for the Patriarch and the other aged prelates, and sometimes
the Emperor too, neither ate nor drank nor slept, except in port. So if there had
not been numerous islands with harbours under the domination of the Venetians
or of the Greeks themselves, assuredly they would not have been able to reach
the port of Venice!

While the rival embassies of the West were engaced in their
negotiations with the Byzantine court, the relations between the Pope
and the Council had undergone a change. The events of 7 May
1437 had brought things to a head. Both sides were concerned with
a principle—Is a gencral council sup.rior to a pope:—and their
answers were diametrically opposed. Up till May 1437 there had
been between them some spirit of conciliation—more on Eugenius’
side than on Basel’s: from now on that ceased. It was war d loutrance.
The Council made the first overt move. On 31 July 1t decreed a
Monitorium or Citatorium, in which it recited all its gricvances
against Eugenius, and required him to appear in person or by
procurator before the Council within sixty days.> The cfforts of
Cesarini and Cervantes, the papal presidents, to avert this ultimatum
failed. The peremptory warnings of Sigismund and the Electors of
Germany, afraid of a new schism in the Church, were equaliy
unavailing.

Eugenius’ reply was the Bull Doctoris gentium of 18 Scptember
1437. In it, after briefly recounting the history of the negotiations
with the Greeks, stressing the fatuity of the Council’s insistence on
Avignon as the city chosen for the discussions with them, and
alluding to the Monitorium and Cesarini’s and Sigismund’s
opposition to it, he announced, auctoritate apostolica et ex certa scientia
ac ex plenitudine potestatis, that the future council would be held in
Ferrara and that the Council of Basel was forthwith translated
thither, except that for a period of thirty days the Fathers might still
treat with the Bohemians but only on the question of Communion
under both kinds. This decision of the Pope was communicated

* Frag. p. 60. * M.C. 11, 1010-13.
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immediately to the city of Basel, to the princes and prelates of various
countries, universities, Religious Orders, etc., and with it the Pope
sent an Encyclical Letter.’

The choice of Ferrara for the council is surprising. Florence had
at one time been accepted for it. The city had made larger promises
than any other;? Eugenius had been in negotiation with the Medicis:3
Dishypatus had informed John VIII in a letter from Bologna of
4 July that Florence was to be the seat of the council:* the Florentines
had begun to make S. Maria Novella ready to receive the Pope, and
the cardinals and Curia had started to send to Florence some of their
baggage.5 What probably made the Pope change his mind was the
opposition of Sigismund and of the Duke of Milan. The latter
especially was the bitter enemy of Florence and he threatened to
prevent access to that city both by land and sea if the choice were
persisted in. With the aid of the King of Aragon, alienated from
Eugenius by the latter’s support of René of Anjou for the throne of
Naples, he could have effectively blocked the passage of most
European envoys destined for the Council.® Bologna for a time had
hopes of being the city of choice and for this end willingly submitted
to special taxes to raise 30,000 Horins for the expenses of the Greeks.
Great was the bitterness and disappointment of the Bolognese when
Eugenius, probably because of their unstable loyalty to himself and
the too close proximity of the hostile Milan to their city, looked
elsewhere.”

Ferrara which was ultimately chosen for the Council had many
advantages. It was a pleasant, well-fortified town to which 1n 1391
Boniface IX had given a charter establishing its Studio with the
power of granting degrees. The Studio, it is true, had been closed

' E.P. doc. 88. Cf. Valois, 11, pp. 112, 113, n. 1.

* G.Miiller, Documenti sulle relazions delle citta Toscane coll’ Oriente cristiano ¢ coi Turchi
(Firenze, 1879), pp. 158-63.

3 Cecconl, docs. CXXXIII-CXXXV.

4 Reported in letter of Ragusa to Basel, 4 August 1436, Haller, 1, p. 382: Report of
same to Basel, Cecconi, doc. cLxxvin, p. pvi; M.C. 111, 69.

5 Diarium Inghirami in Frag. p. 32.

5 M.C. 11, 977-8; Cecconi, doc. cxxx11. For the answer of Florence, cf. Miller,
op. cit. p. 167; Cecconi, doc. CXLVIL

7 Muratorl, t. xviil, pt. 1, Corpus chronicorum Bononiensium, ed. A. Sorbelli (Bologna,
1924), 1V, Pp- 89, 96—7; t. XXX111, pt. 1, Della Historia di Bologna, parte ferza del R.P.M.
Cherubine Ghirardacdi, ed. A. Sorbell (Cirtd di Castello, 1915), p. 50.
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more often than it was open in the interval, but by 1439 it had
among its teachers men of note like Guarino Guarini Veronese who
taught Latin and Greek and the famous Ugo Benzi who had
previously lectured in Paris and Padua.” The surrounding country-
side, abounding in fruit gardens, had a rich soil, well watered by the
many canals connecting with the Po, that produced good crops of
grain, while the meadows and woods nourished cattle and game, and
the fresh waters of the rivers and the salt water of the nearby Lake
Comacchio provided many varieties of fish, so that the city could
well feed the multitude that the Council would bring. It was, too,
easily accessible from Venice, the port of arrival of the Greeks. In
fact 1t was the centre of a series of waterways by which Venetian
merchandise was distributed to central Italy and to the areas towards
Bologna and Milan, so much so that it was always on its guard
against the Queen of the Seas which would dearly have loved to
have annexed 1t. For that reason it had to retain a disproportionately
large standing army—a mercenary force—which was expensive, but
on the other hand it wisely kept itself out of the incessant intrigues
and wars that for ever embroiled Milan, Florence and Venice, its
powerful neighbours, and more than once because of its neutrality
acted as the negotiator of peace between them. Allthese reasons would
have recommended it to Eugenius who wanted both security and
peace for his Council, and besides, Nicold d’Este, its prince, held
the city in a certain dependence on the Holy See to which he paid
a yearly tribute. Nicold visited Eugenius in Bologna on 13 June
1437, and to him and his sons the Pope had sold three castles in the
course of that same year.* By early September the negotiations were
complete and all was ready for the issue of the Bull Doctoris gentium.

The transference of the Council by the Pope to Ferrara naturally
did not mollify the dispositions of the Fathers of Basel. On 26 Sep-
tember they reiterated their prohibitions against the creation of new

' A. Visconti, La storia dell’Usniversita di Ferrara (1391-1950) (Bologna, 1950),
pp. 12-13.

* Muratori, ibid. p. 47. T. xxtv, pt. vui, Diario Ferravese, ed. G. Pardi (Bologna,
1928), p. 22. The Bolognese chronicle asserts that Eugenius gave the castles, but the
Ferrarese chronicle says that one at least, Lugo, was sold by the Pope for 14,000 ducats
and 100 moggia of corn: so probably all threc were sold and in that way Eugenius
was raising money for the Council.
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cardinals while the Council was still in being (Eugenius had lately
made Vitelleschi cardinal); quashed the decree of the minorty of
7 May; and took under their protection Awvignon which, it was
rumoured, the Pope intended to sell.” On 1 October, the sixty days’
grace allowed by the Monitorium now being up, Eugenius was
declared contumacious.* On 7 October, at the 1nstance of Sigis-
mund and the German Electors, a further sixty days’ grace was
allowed the Pope to submit to the injunctions of the Monitorium.3
On 12 October the Bull Doctoris gentium was annulled and a few
days later (19 October) a long letter was approved for general
publicaton rebutting all the charges of Eugenius against the Fathers
of Basel and recounting anew all their grievances against him.
Efforts at pacification were unavailing. Sigismund, who had done
so much in the past, died on 9 December. Cesarini, taking occasion
from the news that the Greeks had preferred the papal ships to those
of the Council, tried to persuade the Fathers to concentrate on
teform till the Greeks arrived and then, if they really had the union
of the Churches at heart, to accept whichever city the Greeks should
choosc for the Council. But that would have been ‘to obey the
Pope dissolving the Council” and “to go where the Pope held power
and domination’,> where, that 15, the Council being under the
presidency of the Pope would no longer be held infallible of iself,
so his words fell on deaf ears. He realised now that he had no longer.
any influence for good in Basel and left on 9 January 1438 for Venice
and Ferrara.

Mecanwhile Eugenius pursued his project. In carly December,
having learnt of the success of his Legate at Constantinople, he
ordered that all money collected under the orders of Basel for the union
with the Greeks should be sequestrated so as not to be diverted to
other uses and wrote to various princes enlisting their support for this
measure.® On 30 December by the Bull Pridem ex justis, after the
arnival at Venice of the light ship bringing the first Greeks to the
Council, he definitively declared that the Council of Basel was trans-

' M.C. 1, 1021-6. * Ihid. 1031,

3 Ihid. 1041. 4 Ihid. 1043, 1049.
5 Ibid. 112, 1126.

¢ E.P. docs. 103, 107; Valois, 11, p-113.
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ferred to Ferrara where it would be continued on 8 January 1438."
Cardinal Nicolo Albergati was appointed president ull the Pope’s
arrival.?

The first session of the Council in Ferrara was held 1n the cathedral
church of St George on 8 January 1438 under the presidency of
Cardinal Nicolo Albergati.3 There were present five archbishops;
seventeen bishops—almost all Italians; four bishops elect, nons
Ttalian; eleven abbots (including the Abbot of Culross in Scotland);
two Generals of Orders and two Dominican theologians. The
business of this session was the official opening of the Council by
the reading of the decree of the minority of Basel dated 7 May 1437,
the two Bulls of Eugenius authorising the transference of the Council
to Ferrara, Albergati’s appointment as Legate of the Pope for the
work of the Council and the safe-conducts. This done, the Cardinal
formally declared in the Pope’s name that the Council of Basel was
now transferred to Ferrara to continue its work ‘for all those objects
for which the Synod of Basel had been convened, also as the
Oecumenical Council in which union of the Western and the
Eastern Churches should be treated of and, with the Lord’s help,
brought to a conclusion’.

A sccond session was held the following day to prepare documents
to annul all the prohibitions and penalties that the Council of Basel
in the long course of its sessions had decreed against its opponents.
These were read and approved in a plenary session on 1o January.
The remnant at Basel or any other similar gathering was declared
not to be a General Council; sanctions were enacted against those
who under any pretext tried to molest the members of the Council of
Ferrara. By these three sessions the Council of Ferrara was firmly
established canonically and its members protected. There was then
a lull in proceedings till the arrival of the Pope.

Eugenius left Bologna, to the disgust of its citizens, on 23 January
for the castle of Galliera which he had had constructed not long
before “as a bridle on Bologna’, and on the following day journeyed

' E.P. doc. 108; Cecconi, doc. CLXX.

* E.P. doc. 114.

3 The details of these sessions till the arrival of the Greeks in Ferrara are taken from
Frag. pp. 1ffl. Cf. also G. Hofmann, “Die Konazilsarbeit in Ferrara I, in O.C.P. 111
(1937), pp. 110—40.
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to Ferrara by water, slipping away secretly, so the Bolognese chroni-
cler suggests.! He arrived at the monastery of S. Antonio outside of
Ferrara in a snowstorm on the same day, 24 January,* and three days
later, with the clergy of Ferrara in solemn procession and with the
representative of James II, king of Castile and Ledn, holding the
bridle of his horse on the right and the Marquis of Ferrara on the left,
he proceeded to the cathedral church, and thence, after an allocution
by the Bishop of Fotli, Aloysius de Perano, O.F.M., he retired to
the palace assigned to him.3

The 24th day of January was memorable also for another reason.
It was the day when the remnant at Basel held their thirty-first session,
in which, along with two decrees concerning reform, they declared
the Pope suspended and deprived of all power both spiritual and
temporal, which the Fathers arrogated to themselves for as long as the
suspension should last. At the same time all princes, cardinals and
bishops were forbidden to obey him: instead, those who had the
right and duty of participating in a council should proceed forthwith
to Basel.4

With the arrival of Eugenius at Ferrara the Council came to new
life. On 8 February a session was held in the chapel of the Pope’s
residence. After the Solemn Mass sung by Giovanni, archbishop
of Taranto, the Pope addressed the assembled Fathers, recapitulating
briefly the events that had forced him to act as he had done and
asserting that it always had been and still was his desire to achieve
concord 1n the Church and to reform abuses whether in head or
members: he asked their aid to devise measures to restrain the excesses
of the Baseler and exhorted them to cotrect anything unseemly in
their own bchaviour. Thereupon Cardinal Orsini and Thomas,
archbishop of Ravenna, as the scniors of the cardinals and the
bishops, thanked His Holiness and promised him their support.
There followed an account, read by one of the advocates, of the steps
taken by the remnant at Basel to hinder the Council in Ferrara,
beginning with their non-acceptance of the minority decrec of 7 May
and the rival embassy to Constantinople, and then enumerating
their censures both on the Pope himself and on those who obeyed

¥ Muratori, t. XXXIII, pt. I, pp. 46, $0. * Ibid. v, XX1v, pt. vII, p. 22
3 Gesta in Frag. p. 27. ¢ M.C. 111, 25.
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his summons to collaborate in the Synod at Ferrara contained in the
three decrees of their thirtyfirst session (24 January 1438), and the
Sovereign Pontiff was requested to act so as to procure peace in the
Church, to vindicate his own innocence of the charges brought against
him and to protect the members of the Council gathered in Ferrara.

Other sessions followed quickly. With Cardinal Orsini as
president, the fifth session on 1o February established the order of
precedence of the members, ordered the appointment of two more
notarics in addition to the two already in office, advised the drawing
up of an official list of members and recommended that letters should
be sent to urge the attendance at the Council of those who were
entitled to take part. It was probably in this session, too, that the
method of voting was determined. The members were divided into
three estates—cardinals, archbishops and bishops; abbots and
Religious; doctors, dignitaries of churches, graduates, etc.: the votes
of two-thirds of the members of any estate were requisite for the
assent of that estate to any measure, and the assent of all the estates
was necessary for any conciliar decision.” On 11 February there was
a discussion on the measures to be taken to meet the antagonism of
Basel, which resulted in 2 memorandum reminding the members
at Bascl of the penalties they would incur if they persisted in their
opposition: princes and others were forbidden to support them any
longer: the burghers of the city were bidden expel them: the Pope
was asked to send embassies to acquaint all countries with the true
state of affairs and to renew his measures to ensure that all money
collected for the affair of the Greeks was really used for that object.
This memorandum was read and approved in the following session
of 14 February.

The fruits of all these deliberations were seen in the plenary session
of the following day, 1§ February. After the singing of the Litanics
and the Veni Creator Cardinal Angelotto Fusco, Cardinal of St
Mark’s, celebrated the solemn High Mass in the presence of the
Sovereign Ponuff? and of seventywo ‘mitres’ (among whom was

' A.L. pp. 256-7.
* Because of the Pope’s gout the Ferrarese constructed 2 wooden bridge rising gently
from the door of the cathedral to the loggia in front of the ducal palace (A. Frizz,
Memorie per la storia di Ferrara, i1 (2nd ed. Ferrara, 1850), p. 476).
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the Bishop of Brechin, Scotland). Then was read the Bull Exposcit

debitum, recalling briefly the reasons for the summoning of the Council
at Ferrara, and bidding the Fathers of Basel under pain of ex-
communication leave that city within thirty days and the burghers
of Basel under pain of interdict expel them after the lapse of that
period; but promising, too, immunity from penalty to any Fathers
who repaired to Ferrara.

There was one more session before the main party of the Greeks
reached Ferrara. On 1 March the papal delegates who had so
successfully conducted the negotiations in Constantinople made
their report on their mission by the mouth of the Bishop of Digne,
and reccived the thanks and the congratulations of the Sovereign
Pontiff for their labours."

Though the Emperor had sent Dishypatus on to Venice to
announce his arrival, he himself reached the city first, because his
ship, being quicker, passed the other unperceived, and anchored
near St Nicholas de Lido at abour eight o’clock on the morning of
8 February, the rest of the convoy arriving some two hours later.?
Dishypatus and Syropoulus proceeded straightaway to visit the Doge,
Francesco Foscari, who received them very graciously, leading them
by the hand to seat them near himself, and inquiring about the
journey and the health of the Emperor. As the convoy had arrived
somewhat unexpectedly he asked that the Emperor and the Patriarch
should remain that night on board their ships, so that next day they
might be escorted with all due honours to their appointed lodgings.3
Dishypatus and Syropoulus inspected those lodgings before they
returned to their principals. Because he had heard from them of the
Emperor’s indisposition, the Doge paid him a visit later in thar same
day, on his way falling in with the Patriarch who had left his ship

' Frag. pp. 23, s0-60. The information furnished by this report was freely used in
wiiting the previous chapter.

* The history of the test of the events narrated 1n this chapter is taken mainly from
Syt. 1v, 11-32, pp. 80-111 and A.G. pp. 1-11. References to other sources will be
noted as they occur.

3 The Signotia had alteady on 3 December 1437 voted a maximum of 1000 ducats
(later increased to a possible 3000) for the entertainment of the Greeks and had prepared
for the reception of the Emperor the palace of the Marquis of Ferrara and the old
palace of Louis of Verma, and for the Pattiarch the monastery attached to the church
of S. Giorgio Maggiore: A.C.A. docs. 11, 17; Jorga, 111, p. 22.
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to take up his lodgings at St George’s, where there was offered to
the Greek clerics, who had already started their Lent," a dinner of
meat, birds and fish.

The next morning, shortly before midday, there was staged the
official visit to the Emperor. Staged is the right word, because the
glory of Venice was paraded before the Greeks 1 pageant, and 1t
left them speechless and at a loss to describe the magnificence of the
spectacle and beauty of the city. The Doge led the way on the
Bucentaur, a broad state-barge that was either towed by two other
vessels or propelled by oars protruding from the port-holes of a
lower deck. Its upper deck formed a large salon where the Doge and
his suite sat on thrones, the whole being richly decorated with
bright.coloured paints and tapestries. A dozen other gaily-decorated
barges accompanied the Bucentaur, on one of which was displayed
a tableay representing Venetian power. The rowers on the lower
deck were clad in gleaming livery, their head-dress carrying the
emblems of Venice and of the Emperor; the sides of the vessel were
decorated with imperial flags; and on the upper deck were grouped
four men clad in cloth-of-gold with another bearing a sceptre and
seeming to dominate a throng of other figures who represented
foreign lands, while on a raised dais stood a warrior in shining armour
flanked by two boys arrayed as angels. The prow was adorned with
two golden lions, the lions of St Mark, with between them the
Byzantine eagle. While the Doge did official honours to the Emperor
this vessel circled round the imperial ship to the sound of trumpets
and musical instruments of all kinds and, while all the bells of
Venice pealed, vessels of every variety darted hither and thither, so
that the water was hardly visible for their great number.> The only
drawback to the scene was that the weather was misty and showery.

The Doge with his suite boarded the imperial vessel and presented
his son to the Emperor. Some time was spent in conversation, the

' In 1438 the Greek mitigated fasting of the week of “Tyrophago’ began on
17 February and their Lent proper on 24 February. So why Syropoulus asserts that
they were not eating meat on the Saturday of the Prodigal (8 February) is something
of a mystery.

* This apparent exaggeration conveys a true impression; it is used independently by
the A.G. p. 1; by Syr. 1v, 13, p. 84 and, to describe the scene at the *marriage of the
Doge with the sea’ on Ascension Day, by Pero Tafur, op. cit. p. 158.
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Doge sitting on the Emperor’s left and the Despot Demetrius,
John VIII's brother, on his right." The Doge invited the Emperor
to land by the Bucentaur but John VIII, thinking that hardly con-
sonant with his dignity, preferred to disembark directly from his own
ship, which in consequence was towed to the quay. Meantime, so
that the Patriarch should not be without the honours due to him,
two vessels decorated with patriarchal emblems and plants cunningly
disposed so as to appear to be growing from the decks took up
position in front of the monastery of St George and remained there
all the day.

There is no wonder that the Greeks, as towards sunset, after being
rowed up and down the canals of Venice for much of the day, they
set foot on Venetian soil to the sound of music of all kinds and the
acclamations of the crowd in gala mood and dress, should have felt
that 1t was “a glorious and marvellous Venice, verily marvellous,
matvellous in the extreme and rich and vaned and golden and
highly finished and variegated and worthy of limitless praise, that
wise and indeed most wise Venice’.? For the City of the Lagoons
was at this time about at the zenith of its magnificence and power.
Ruled by a small oligarchy, it was directed to one purpose, to protect
and extend its commerce. It owned islands and harbours in various
parts of the eastern Mediterranean and enjoyed trading rights in ports
from the Crimea to the Red Sea. The riches of food supplies of all
kinds, of silks and spices came from the East to its port to be distri-
buted to the West. Its financial security was accepted everywhere.
And the city had been adorned with magnificent palaces and
churches to rival and reflect its commercial pre-eminence. The
Palace of the Doge, the palaces of the great familics, built in marble
and painted and gilded on the outside; the shops filled with brocades
and silks and works in gold and silver; the markets for fruits, fish
and game of all sorts; the thronging crowds of free Venetian citizens,
of foreigners of all hues, of slaves; the bridges spanning the canals,
like the famous Rialto that was raised to let the Greeks pass by; the
noble church of St Mark with its cupolas reflecting the architecture

T So A.G. pp. 2, 4t Syr. says that the positions were reversed, 1v, 13, p. 83. The left
would seem to have been the place of honour—the Emperor was seated on the Pope’s
left at his reception, A.G. p. 7. > AG. p. 4.
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of the East, with its marbles, mosaics and mural paintings, with its
treasury filled with ‘pearls, precious stones, relics, diamonds,
bejewelled candlesticks, the retable called La Pala entirely covered
with pearls and precious stones’," its reliquaries, not a few of which
came from the sack of Constantinople in 1204—all this, set off by
the waters of the canals dotted by speeding gondolas and sumptuous
barges, with in the background the masts of the merchant-vessels
that were the strength of the city, moved visitors like the Greeks to
an intense admiration of such a spectacle of power and beauty.

As soon as the Greek convoy reached Venice Garatoni hastened
to Ferrara to report to the Pope, leaving behind him to look after
the Greeks Michele Zeno,®> the Venetian merchant who with
Baldassarre Lupari had been commissioned by Eugenius in July to
act as his agents in business matters connected with the Greeks.
Venice itself was willing to entertain them for some ten or twelve
days, provided the expenses involved did not exceed 3000 ducats,’
but it allowed also free entry of the provisions that the Emperor and
the Patriarch had brought with them.4 The Doge visited the Emperor
and the Patriarch in their lodgings and made presents to them; and
Zeno in the Pope’s name gave the Emperor 600 florins and the
Patriarch 400 florins for the expenses of their suites.

As soon as the news reached Ferrara that the Greeks had at last
actually arrived Eugenius despatched messengers to bid them wel-
come. Nicold d’Este, the Marquis of Ferrara, with a considerable
suite reached Venice on 12 February to offer the hospitality of his
city. On the next day Nicold Albergati, cardinal of S. Croce,
accompanied by the Patriarch of Grado, the archbishops of Treviso
and Candia, the bishops of T'aranto and Vicenza and other prelates,
was met by the Doge as he entered Venice by water and escorted to
the monastery of St George to pay a courtesy call on the Patriarch,

' Cf. Pero Tafur, op. at. p. 159.

* This 1s a deduction from Syr.’s spelling of the name—Michel ton Tzio—(1v, 14,
p- 84), and the fact that in the registers of the Camera apostolica reimbursements to him
are recorded for payments made by him to the Greeks: cf. Jorga, 11, pp. s-8.

3 A.C.A. docs. 11, 17.

4 Jorga, 111, p. 32, namely: ‘Receptacles for wine, 1.c. large and small casks, up to
about 40; salt meat of various kinds, caviar, in all 400 tubs and about 10 barrels;
also carpets, 4 small bundles; also botargo, 2 boxes; raisins, 1 sack; and other of their
things for their own use.’
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Joseph II.Y On the fourteenth he made his official visits to both

Emperor and Patriarch to welcome them in the name of the Pope:
he spoke of Eugenius’ good will towards them and of his great destre
for union, and urged them to proceed to Ferrara. The Emperor and
the Patriarch did not immediately comply. They demanded a few
days for deliberation, pleading the fatigue of the journey only just
completed; and they had, too, recetved letters from Basel to persuade
them to repair thither.* That they did genuinely hesitate for a moment
as to which course to pursue is shown by a letter from the Venetian
Senate to its representative at the Holy See. The Patriarch, so Dan-
dolo was told with instruct